

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

## Strategies for Strengthening Leader-Follower Relationships for Improving Organizational Performance

Onyinyechi Grace Odiaka Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Onyinyechi G. Odiaka

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Thomas Schaefer, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Laura Thompson, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### Abstract

Strategies for Strengthening Leader–Follower Relationships for Improving

Organizational Performance

by

Onyinyechi G. Odiaka

MS, Walden University, 2013

MEd, National Open University of Nigeria, 2013

HND, Institute of Management and Technology, Enugu, Nigeria, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2022

#### Abstract

Poor-quality leader-follower relationships reduce organizational performance.

Organizational leaders are concerned about poor performance as it can negatively impact sustainability. Grounded in the leader-member exchange theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to improve organizational performance. Data were collected from semistructured, face-to-face interviews with 14 leaders from an oil-servicing organization and a review of company documents and the organizations' websites. Through thematic analysis, five themes emerged: Leadership styles, motivation, mentoring and coaching, communication methods, and follower engagement. A key recommendation is for business leaders to influence followers to improve organizational performance by understanding the followers' strengths, weaknesses, and behavioral patterns. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase the number of employees hired from the region, build a stronger community, and allow the individuals a greater means to give back to and support their local community to sustain the economy. A sustainable economy contributes to a positive social change by adding value, dignity, and development to individuals, communities, organizations, and cultures.

# Strategies for Strengthening Leader–Follower Relationships for Improving Organizational Performance

by

Onyinyechi G. Odiaka

MS, Walden University, 2013

MEd, National Open University of Nigeria, 2013

HND, Institute of Management and Technology, Enugu, Nigeria, 2003

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2022

#### Dedication

I dedicate this project to God Almighty my source of inspiration, wisdom, knowledge, and understanding on whose wings only have I soared.

I also dedicate this work and give special thanks to my husband Augustine and my son Ifeanyi for being my best cheerleaders and supporters throughout the entire doctorate program.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my Chair Dr. Tom Schaefer, for the continuous support of my study and research, for his tolerance, motivation, attention, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me throughout the time of research and writing of this dissertation. I could not have envisioned having a better advisor and mentor for my study. I also wish to thank my second committee member Dr. Laura Thompson and the URR member Dr. Patsy Kasen for their honest support. Your willingness to provide feedback made the completion of this research a pleasant experience. Thanks for agreeing to work with me.

Nobody has been more important to me in the quest of this project than the members of my family. I would like to thank my parents, whose love and guidance are with me in whatever I engage in. They are my greatest role models. Most importantly, I wish to thank my loving and supportive husband, Engr. Augustine Odiaka and my amazing son, Ifeanyichukwu for providing unending inspiration to cheer me.

#### Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Study	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement.	2
Nature of Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations.	7
Assumptions.	7
Limitations	8
Delimitations	8
Significance of the Study	8
A Review of Professional and Academic Literature	10
Leader–Member Exchange Theory	11
Alternative Theories to LMX	13
Rationale for Framework	16
Leader–Follower Relationship	17
Leader–Follower Relationship Quality and Follower Outcome	25

The Leadership Strategies to Sustain High-quality I	Leader–Follower Relationship
	54
Organizational Performance	57
The Influence of Leader–Follower Relationship on	Organization Performance 59
Transition	65
Section 2: The Project	68
Purpose Statement	68
Role of the Researcher	69
Participants	70
Research Method and Design	71
Research Method	71
Research Design	73
Population and Sampling	74
Population	74
Sampling	75
Data Saturation.	76
Ethical Research	77
Data Collection Instruments	78
Data Collection Technique	80
Data Organization Technique	81
Data Analysis	82
Reliability and Validity	83

Transition	86
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	87
Presentation of the Findings.	87
Keywords and Phrases	88
Theme 1: Leadership Styles	92
Theme 2: Motivation	95
Theme 3: Mentoring and Coaching	98
Theme 4: Communication Method	100
Theme 5: Follower Engagement	101
Applications to Professional Practice	105
Implications for Social Change	109
Recommendations for Action	110
Recommendations for Further Research	112
Reflections	114
Conclusion	115
References	118
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	171
Appendix B: Interview Questions	173
Appendix C: Demographic Survey	174

### List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics for Participants	88
Table 2. Summary of Theme Percentages	90
Table 3. Keyword Frequency	90

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

One of the factors that influences organizational performance is the leader—follower relationship (Men & Stacks, 2013; Shaikh et al., 2019). A high-quality leader—follower relationship may produce follower behaviors that enhance organizational performance, but low-quality leader—follower relationships may lower organizational performance (Breevaart et al., 2015). Organizational leaders need to develop the appropriate skills to planned strategies on how to inspire followers to enhance organizational performance (Christensen et al., 2017). The skills and competency of the leaders enable the followers to be more productive (Men & Stacks, 2013). Leaders who are understanding, dependable, honest, and concerned about the welfare of the followers tend to have a high-quality leader—follower relationships (Engelbrecht et al., 2017a).

#### **Background of the Study**

For an organization to be effective, the leader and followers must have a strong and positive relationship that allows the dyad relationship to influence the performance of the leader and follower (Morrison & Cooper-Thomas, 2015). Effective use of the workforce provides the leaders and followers room for a positive outcome (Rothmann et al., 2002). Effective and performing leaders who understand the strategies that help leaders to have a positive relationship with their employees end up having employees who contribute to organizational effectiveness through sharing of information and ideas (Niemeyer & Cavazotte, 2016). Employees experiencing leader–follower relationships act on the leader's influence and organization to meet the exact goals and objectives of the organization (Burns, 1978). However, the relationship between the set of people that

make up the workforce of an organization influences the strategies the leaders use to influence and strengthen the support they get from the followers, especially in a practical organizational environment (Parry, 1998). In this study, I examined the characteristics of the leader–follower relationship by looking into the strategies for strengthening leader–follower relationships, which can improve organizational performance.

#### **Problem Statement**

Poor-quality leader—follower relationships reduce organizational performance (Quade et al., 2020, p. 1159). About 79% of U.S. leaders reported that discontent followers can weaken productivity, whereas 86% agreed that followers with meaningful relationships increase performance (HBR Analytical Services, 2020, p. 1). The general business problem was that a poor-quality leader—follower relationships have a negative influence on organizational performance. The specific business problem was that some leaders in oil-servicing organizations lack strategies to strengthen a leader—follower relationship to improve organizational performance.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen leader–follower relationships and improve organizational performance. The targeted population comprised 14 organizational leaders from an oil-servicing company located in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. The selected leaders successfully implemented and developed strategies that strengthened leader–follower relationships to improve organizational performance. The implication for positive social change is that organizational leaders with high-quality leader–follower

relationships tend to have stronger organizational performance, which may allow the organization to increase the number of employees hired from the region, building a stronger community, and allowing the individuals a greater means to give back to and support their local community.

#### **Nature of Study**

There are three research methodologies: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method (Saunders et al., 2019). The qualitative research method was used for this study. Qualitative research is an approach used to describe aspects of reality, focusing on the dynamics of social relations, whereas the quantitative method focuses on examining the characteristics of the relationships of variables (Queirós et al., 2017). A mixed research method is an approach that requires using both qualitative and quantitative methods in the same study (Saunders et al., 2019). The reason I used the qualitative method was that I sought to explore the experiences and views of respondents as related to the problem of the study. The quantitative approach was not suitable because my study was not measuring the relationship between variables. The mixed method could not be used for this study because the study was not multistage research, and I was not examining numbers but leader opinions and thoughts to conclude my research.

The research designs for a qualitative study include case study, phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). I used the single case study design for this study. A case study design is used to analyze events and decisions by collecting data from various sources (Yin, 2018). The phenomenological study describes the fundamental nature of a lived personal experience; ethnography is used to interpret

the pattern of a group of people, cultures, habits, and communal differences; and the narrative study is an account of individual experiences through persona life stories (Yin, 2018). Phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative were not used for this study because phenomenology concentrates on individual experiences, ethnography emphasizes the shared experiences within a certain culture, and narrative focuses on the story of individual life (Renjith et al., 2021). I chose the case study design because my study dealt with the decisions of the participants within the context of the leader–follower relationship on organizational performance. This design helped to analyze a real-world problem and identify leadership behaviors (Joubert & Feldman, 2017; Renjith et al., 2021; Yin, 2018).

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to develop and strengthen leader–follower relationships for improving organizational performance?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What strategies do you use to develop and strengthen leader—follower relationships to improve organizational performance?
- 2. What were the major challenges you encountered while implementing the strategies to strengthen leader–follower relationships within your organization?
- 3. How did you address the key challenges to implementing the strategies to develop and strengthen leader–follower relationships in your organization?
- 4. What strategies do you as a leader use to assist your followers to develop and improve follower attitudes to work that will strengthen or lower the quality of

leader-follower relationships?

- 5. What strategies do you use to communicate good or bad news to your followers?
- 6. What strategies do you use to encourage and enable followers to increase productivity for improved organizational performance?
- 7. What strategies do you use to identify a follower with a personal problem that reduces individual productivity?
- 8. What strategies do you use to improve your direct reports' performance?
- 9. What additional information would you want to share concerning the strategies that you use to develop and strengthen leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The leader–member exchange (LMX) theory was the conceptual framework for this study. The LMX theory is an important theory that deals with the leader–follower relationship (Northouse, 2021). The LMX theory was developed from the works of Dansereau et al. (1975) for understanding and improving two-way relationships between leaders and their followers. The highlight of the LMX theory is on the leader establishing dependable, passionate, and respected relationships with some of their followers and not with other followers (Bauer & Erdogan, 2016). The LMX theory is concerned about the dyadic relationship between the leaders and followers and can be connected to the leading influence on employee retention, motivation, and the significance to organizational performance (Uhl-Bien, 2006). Leaders' relationships differ among

followers and followers equally view their leaders from different perspectives (Shyns & Day, 2010). The LMX theory entails an exclusive relationship, an agreement between the leader and individual follower, and valuing the leader–follower relationships for the leader to achieve the goal of the organization (Patnaik & Dubey, 2019). The LMX theory has therefore been used as a typical groundwork to study leader–follower relationships (Saleh et al., 2015).

Leadership characteristics, follower characteristics, and interpersonal relationships make up the LMX theory and can be used to evaluate followers' competence, positive activity, and locus of control (Dulebohn et al., 2012). LMX theory is focused on the relationship between the leaders and followers of an organization and is connected to the increase in productivity and organizational performance (Gerstner & Day, 1997). The LMX theory is associated with measuring the leader–follower relationship across the organization to determine the influence of the relationships in promoting organizational performance (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). The LMX theory was used in this study as a guide to investigate and evaluate the reciprocating influence of the leader–follower on the general performance of the organization.

#### **Operational Definitions**

Follower: A follower is a subordinate who has less power, mandate, and control and is expected to follow the rules and act in agreement with the required standards of behavior (Kellerman, 2007).

Leader: A leader is a person who achieves targets and goals through motivating, directing, inspiring, and monitoring the actions of their subordinates into being loyal to

increase organizational performance (Alkahtani, 2016).

Leader–follower relationship: Leader–follower relationships are a bond between two or more people working together while alternating the roles and responsibilities of leadership and followership in an intricate way (Foster, 2010).

Leader–member exchange (LMX) theory: The LMX theory portrays how successful leadership relationships develop among leaders and followers to allow the leaders to influence the followers for an increase in organizational outcomes (Uhl-Bien, 2006).

*Organization:* An organization is a system that uses cooperative activities and planning to achieve a goal-focused process (Barnard, 1968).

Organizational performance: Organizational performance is the extent to which an organization attains its desired goals without straining the employee (Henri, 2004).

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are assertions and expectations based on the researcher's perception and opinion without the support of solid evidence to support the belief (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The first assumption for this study was that using interviewing as an approach for data collection was the most appropriate means to get significant data to answer the research question. The second assumption was that the research participants would respond to the interview questions honestly and provide information reflecting their experiences about strategies to strengthen leader–follower relationships. Third, I assumed the participants could understand the interview questions and convey their

experiences effectively.

#### Limitations

Limitations are weaknesses, circumstances, or influences that cannot be controlled by the researcher that place constraints on the methodology and conclusions of the research (Holloway & Galvin, 2017). This study was limited to the study of a single group, which poses the limitation of external validity (Singh, 2014). Other limitations of this study include the sample size, which is small given that data for this qualitative case study were confined to only managers of an oil-servicing company in the southern part of Nigeria and the focus of this study was on the target population.

#### **Delimitations**

Delimitations are attributes that limit the scope of a research study such as the sample size, geographical location, or setting in which the study takes place (Ruzzene, 2012). Within the scope of this study were the views, opinions, and thoughts of managers from an oil-servicing company in the southern part of Nigeria. These delimiting factors were boundaries that represented the population that I chose for this study to explore the problem and answer the research question. Since the research entails a limited population, the findings of the study may be restricted.

#### Significance of the Study

This study may assist the leaders of organizations to understand the strategies that can be used to strengthen leader—follower relationships and improve organizational performance. The attitude and actions of the leader affect the attitudes and actions of the follower (Ruiz, et al., 2011). When the leaders focus on creating a high-quality leader—

follower relationship, the organization benefits by increasing employee efficiency and organizational performance (Gerstner & Day, 1997). This study may lead the leaders to understand that to strengthen a leader–follower relationship, the employees need to fully participate in achieving the goals by giving them room to contribute and by recognizing their efforts. A high-quality leader–follower relationship is achieved if the leaders understand the need to manage the followers through innovation, organizational learning, and productivity (Holmes et al., 2013).

Demonstrating a high-quality leader–follower relationship enables and improves the efficiency or performance of any organization (Ruvolo et al., 2004). Employees experiencing a high-quality leader–follower relationship act on the influence and management of the leader to fulfill the objectives of the organization (Burns, 1978). The result of this study may allow the leaders and followers to be aware of their social responsibilities and understand that trust, motivation, and appreciation help build a high-quality leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance. The study may provide business leaders with approaches that may enable the followers to be motivated through job satisfaction, access to relevant resources, and experience to perform activities to improve organizational performance. The community could also benefit from the leaders if the community becomes part of the organization through the intake of employees who meet the demand of their customers and are active in their community. If more committed and experienced hands are employed, there will be increased customer satisfaction.

#### A Review of Professional and Academic Literature

This literature review was a review of previous research on the LMX, leader—follower relationship, and these relationships' influence on organization outcomes. The problem statement, purpose statement, and research question were developed and aligned with previous studies and the LMX theory. The purpose of this study was to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to sustain a high-quality leader—follower relationship to improve organizational performance.

I reviewed peer-reviewed journal articles and books published between 1964 and 2021. I searched through the Walden University library to discover appropriate and relevant databases about the topic of study. I searched Thoreau multi-database, Google Scholar, ERIC, JSTOR, Journal Storage, EBSCOhost Online, ABI/INFORM, ProQuest, Business Source Complete, SAGE, ResearchGate, Academia, and Emerald. Within these databases, I used the following key search terms: *LMX theory* and *organizational performance*, *leader-follower relationships* and *employee performance*, *follower performance* and *LMX*, *leadership* and *employee performance*, *leadership strategies*, *organizational performance*, *employee satisfaction*, and *LMX impact on organization performance*. The total number of sources used is 206;81% are published within the last 5 years and 95% are peer reviewed.

The analysis and synthesis of the literature include the following topics (a) the LMX theory, (b) the leader–follower relationship, (c) leader–follower relationship quality and outcome (follower performance, follower engagement, and job satisfaction), (d) the leadership strategies (e) organizational performance, and (f) leader–follower relationship

impact on organization performance. The conceptual framework for this study was the LMX theory developed from the works of Dansereau et al. (1975). The theory and alternative theories will be described in the following sections.

#### **Leader-Member Exchange Theory**

Dansereau et al. (1975) developed the LMX theory to reflect the variation in the quality of the relationship between leaders and their followers. The social exchange theory, which replaced the role theory, provided the foundation for the LMX theory.

Based on its foundation of replacing these theories, the LMX extends across the role-taking phase, the role-making phase, and the role-routinization phase (Scandura & Graen, 1987). The LMX theory evolved through four stages: vertical dyad linkage, LMX, leadership making, and team making (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995).

The three foundations that the LMX is established on are leader characteristics, follower characteristics, and interpersonal relationships (Dulebohn et al., 2012). The leader takes the leading role in establishing an LMX relationship, which might be affected by supposed likeness, integration, self-promotion, assertiveness, and leader trust (Dulebohn et al., 2012). Additionally, while the leaders assess the followers using factors like agreeableness, competence, conscientiousness, locus of control, neuroticism, extraversion, openness, and positive, and negative affectivity (Clarke, 2016; Dulebohn et al., 2012; Inanc, 2018), the leaders are evaluated based on contingent reward behavior, transformational leadership, supervisor's expectation of followers, agreeableness, and extraversion (Bedi et al., 2016; Dulebohn et al., 2012). The leadership pattern develops from the involvement of relationships and the reciprocated needs built as the followers

accomplish their designated roles and tasks (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). In other words, LMX involves the behavior of the leader and the followers' thoughts in response to a situation (Qi et al., 2019a). Trust, reciprocity, and clarity are responsible for employee resilience (Kakkar, 2019). Teams with lower LMX interactive exchanges outcomes promote higher team performance and social cohesion which in turn fosters an interconnective and productive working environment (Manata, 2020).

Because the LMX theory focuses on the dyadic relationship that is based on the leader and the follower, it has been used by researchers as a framework to understand the quality of leader–follower relationships (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995; Saleh et al., 2015). The LMX theory is also used by leaders to show that leaders develop different relationships depending on their followers, some being stronger, more passionate, and more considerate (Bauer & Erdogan, 2016; Wang et al., 2016). The theory thus represents a guide for leaders who want to establish and maintain a relationship with the dedicated and trustworthy followers (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995).

With the LMX theory, leaders differentiate between quality relationships with their followers (Martin et al., 2018). Leaders establish a low-quality or high-quality relationship among different followers (Martin et al., 2018). High-quality LMX is established when leaders value and support followers in the workplace (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995; Ross et al., 2017), which positively influences performance (Audenaert et al., 2017; Kim & Koo, 2017; Nguyen, 2020). LMX is a means to encourage the follower to accomplish exceptional performance (Hooi, 2016) and overcome complexity (Nguyen, 2020). LMX allows the followers to mold their attitude to work (Nguyen, 2020;

Supriyanto et al., 2021). When leaders promote high-quality LMX, they tend to view issues from multiple perspectives before reconciling contradictions (Han & Bai, 2020).

The benefits LMX can bring to an organization are overall organizational citizenship behavior, affective commitment, normative commitment, general job satisfaction, satisfaction with supervisor, satisfaction with pay, procedural justice, distributive justice, empowerment, perceptions of politics, role ambiguity, and role conflict (Dulebohn et al., 2012; Liang, et al., 2018; Supriyanto et al., 2020; Widodoa & Wiardib, 2019). LMX increases employee job satisfaction and performance results (Siddique et al., 2020), which are determining factors of increased follower performance (Widodoa & Wiardib, 2019). LMX theory can lead to a positive impact on the goals and objectives of an organization when fostering high-quality relationships (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995) and establishing an encouraging atmosphere to access and share ideas (Weijden et al., 2015). High-quality LMX is linked with employee performance and engagement (He et al., 2021; Min-Seong & Dong-Woo, 2017; Reb et al., 2019) in addition to more innovation (Ruzgar, 2018). Thus, LMX can be used to improve overall organization performance (Hussain & Shahzad, 2018).

#### **Alternative Theories to LMX**

Many other leadership theories focus on the impact of the leaders' behavior on the followers (Northouse, 2021). Other leadership theories tend to balance the leader's skill and ability to affect subordinate satisfaction and performance. These theories can be used for exploring and understanding what it means to be a leader and how to be a leader for effective performance. The other theories discussed here are the style theories of

leadership, strength-based theory, transactional and transformational theories, and servant leadership theory.

#### The Style Theories of Leadership

The style theories of leadership stress the leaders' behavior and actions. The theories assume that the leader combines the task and relationship behaviors to achieve leaderships effectiveness (McCaffery, 2004; Northouse, 2021). Task-oriented behavior enables the follower to achieve the goal and objective of the organization, and relationship-oriented behavior allows the followers to feel calm and relaxed with themselves and others in all conditions will attaining success (McCaffery, 2004). For the style theory of leadership, no one style is effective for all conditions (Northouse, 2021). The style theory suggests that the leadership style depends on the circumstances surrounding the task, the nature of the task, the follower, and the organizational culture. The style engaged by a leader at a particular time affects the enthusiasm, productivity, and success of the followers and organizational performance.

#### Strength-Based Theory

Strengths-based leadership theory is focused on the constant development of the strengths of the followers to establish competence, efficiency, and organizational performance through healthy and encouraging workplace cultures (Rath & Conchie, 2008). Despite the challenges faced by leaders, the leaders need to consider how they relate with the followers to be strong and established through engagement, inspiration, and understanding the individual follower strength (Crutchfield et al., 2018). The three principles of the strengths-based leadership theory are that effective leaders invest in their

followers' strengths, effective leaders build well-rounded teams out of followers who are not, and effective leaders understand the needs of followers (Rath & Conchie, 2008). The strengths-based leadership theory aims to improve organizational success through the individual top and constructive performance (Hodges & Clifton, 2004). The strength-based leadership theory encourages leaders to engage followers according to their potential and strength creating a solid and sustainable culture.

#### Transactional and Transformational Theories

Burns (1978) presented a leadership theory that focuses on the conduct of leaders as transactional or transformational. The transactional leadership theory uses the reward and punishment system on performance to supervise the roles and tasks of the followers. Transactional leaders are concerned about the task and outcome of the followers as regards the organizational culture (Bass, 1985). The transactional leader relationship with the follower is built on specified performance, descriptive tasks, exchanging contracts, and providing appreciation and rewards to achieve the anticipated outcome from the follower (Bass, 1985; Vito et al., 2014). Though the transactional leadership theory is the foundation of the leader-follower relationship, the theory does not encourage followers to contribute productively to the organizational performance and should not be used in situations where the followers' contributions are needed (Bass, 1985). In contrast, transformational leaders are related to employee performance, employee commitment, satisfaction, individual and group performance, organizational effectiveness, and employee-customer orientation (Budur & Demir, 2019). The transformational leadership theory links the leaders and followers considering the follower's interests, values,

motivations, and inspirations (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Tajeddini et al., 2017). Thus, transformational theory supports the followers by acknowledging their values and contributing to inspiring the follower's vision, whereas the transactional theory generates relationship exchange by exchanging something in return for the task the follower is expected to accomplish.

#### Servant Leadership Theory

Servant leaders are the most effective and result-oriented leaders as they are committed to embracing teamwork, trust, understanding, empathy, and ethics while working with others (Kauppila et al., 2021). The servant leadership theory enables the leaders to focus on the needs and development of the followers while the followers exchange by engagement, increased performance, and commitment (Hoch et al., 2018). The servant-leader becomes a role model to the followers contributing to the growth, development, and behavioral outcome of the follower (Greenleaf, 1977), inspiring the followers to put up the servant-oriented attitude and behavior to work (Eva et al., 2019). The servant-leader identifies the needs of the followers and tends to meet these needs to motivate the followers to put in their best while viewing their leadership role as helpers to the followers' growth. Thus, the servant leadership theory promotes positive change in the organization (Kauppila et al., 2021).

#### **Rationale for Framework**

LMX has been used to describe how the quality of the leader–follower relationship can influence the mindset and performances of the leaders and followers in an organization, which can affect productivity, job satisfaction, and leader satisfaction

(Scandura & Graen, 1984). The LMX theory requires an exclusive relationship between the leader and followers to achieve the goal of the organization (Patnaik & Dubey, 2019). The LMX theory assumes that the quality of the leader–follower relationship is the key to understanding how leaders influence followers to be productive (Gerstner & Day, 1997). If the followers are productive the performance of the organization will improve. Exploratory foundations of LMX theory are important in many areas of organization, especially in performance; therefore, I chose the LMX theory for this study.

#### **Leader-Follower Relationship**

The leader–follower relationship is important for any organization to be successful (Salas-Vallina, 2020). If the relationship between the leader and follower is unpleasant, then the organizational value and culture might suffer. In contrast, empowered leaders and followers who have built a quality relationship could enable organizations to improve. Based on the LMX theory, leaders need to focus on developing and sustaining the leader–follower relationship as well as increasing followers' engagement and mindfulness (Bunjak & Černe, 2018) and decreasing turnover intention and subsequent costs of recruitment (Rabenu et al., 2019). In a successful quality relationship, the leaders and followers need to contribute to achieving the organizational goals (Nimani, 2020) by demonstrating acceptable and appropriate behaviors such as two-way communication, reinforcement, and decision-making (Qi et al., 2019b; Zaim et al., 2021). Leader integrity further supports and strengthens the leader–follower relationship, thereby increasing job satisfaction and follower motivation to freely voice their opinion (Engelbrecht et al., 2017b; Huang et al., 2021). High LMX increases the

positive moods of subordinates, improves creative performance, and stimulates intrinsic motivation for improvement (Xie et al., 2019). Leaders who encourage and allow a favorable knowledge-sharing environment also reduce corruption among the followers (Chatterjee et al., 2021).

Many researchers have examined leader–follower relationships and the factors that affect them. For instance, research has indicated that the quality of LMX is related to employee hostility, which can affect employee performance such as customer interactions (Medler-Liraz & Kark, 2011). Leader's communication style and individual concern toward subordinates' personal, social, and work life plays a significant role in shaping employee behaviors like taking extra roles (Muhammad & Muhammad, 2017). The leader-follower relationship is also strengthened by work structure, team dynamics, and frequent communication by leaders (Walthall & Dent, 2016). Further, followers' perceptions of their leaders' theoretical and practical skills, leader-follower personal characteristics, depth of relationship, and time are also factors that influence the follower's trust in their leaders (Norman et al., 2019). Establishing a high-quality LMX relationship depends on the social relationship between the followers at work, the type of social relationships, and the characteristic of these relationships (Regts et al., 2019). Therefore, leaders must consider the situation and conditions of their followers when developing high-quality LMX relationships (Regts et al., 2019). Additionally, if organizations provide role clarification to leaders, leaders can work on improving LMX relationships and reduce turnover intention (Kuvaas & Buch, 2019).

Unethical behaviors in leadership are one of the various problems being faced

within the organizational environment (Warren & Shaw, 2021). Some unethical behaviors practiced by leaders include absenteeism, indiscreet information sharing, disregard for the dignity of persons, abuses of power, displays of favoritism, prioritizing personal gain (Sam, 2021) overburdening followers, and chasing egocentric goals (Almeida et al., 2021). Additionally, there can be LMX discrimination as part of abusive supervision (Mackey et al., 2020). Other unethical leader behaviors that may affect organizational outcomes include one-way communication, control of power, insensitivity to others, an unrealistic assessment of the environment, manipulative communication, and pseudo-transformational behaviors (Blair et al., 2017). Building a quality LMX is disrupted by unethical behaviors. Whether positive or negative, leaders play a vital role in the leader–follower relationship to influence organizational performance. For employees, there is a need for satisfaction and investment in LMX to get a high-quality LMX; when both the employer and employee have low dyadic LMX disagreement, both parties are dissatisfied and not devoted to the relationship (Loignon et al., 2019).

#### The Leader in a Leader-Follower Relationship

The characteristics of the leader in the leader–follower relationships involve the practice of exchanging feelings and behaviors with the followers for the reciprocated benefit and the reciprocated exchange of influence. The leaders' influence upon followers can increase the followers' shortcomings or increase follower strength. Leaders who motivate followers are aware of where the followers stand out and where to either build additional skills or where to share power with employees who have stronger skills in areas others are not responsive to. Leaders who do not care about the emotions of their

employees end up making them hostile to customers and fellow employees leading to less productivity.

Having effective and capable leaders who motivate the follower constantly tends to have great productivity. The LMX theory explains the effect of the leader on the follower and the organization. A leader directs, controls, and supervises followers to handle tasks, assignments, and jobs by focusing on laid down rules, procedures, and guidelines that bring about the success of the organization. A competent and skilled leader guides the organization and directs the followers to conduct themselves into influencing the performance of an organizational (Kindarto et al., 2020; Nam & Park, 2019; Ullah et al., 2021). Leaders can influence the design, establishment, and sustenance of the organizational culture and can lead to the destruction of the organization (Roque et al., 2020). Leaders practicing good behaviors provide support and encouragement for the follower to live and practice the core values, of the organization to bring out the best performance (Cissna & Schockman, 2020). Leaders are linked to the building of quality relationships with their followers (Lee et al., 2019) and organizational success through leader trust and knowledge sharing (Bhatti et al., 2021). This implies that the honest and principled leader could successfully inspire and encourage the follower (Ko et al., 2018) to be more productive (Magombo-Bwanali, 2019). The strategies that leaders can use to succeed are respect, responsibility, fairness, honesty, courage, and kindness (Littman & Littman, 2017).

Extremely knowledgeable and professional leaders successfully supervise follower performance through guidance based on the leaders' specific areas of expertise

(Byun et al., 2017). Having effective and capable leaders who motivate the follower constantly tends to have organizations with greater efficiency. Leaders who are committed to supporting a positive work environment develop strong ties (Weijden et al., 2015), and leaders who strategically sustain high-quality leader–follower relationships (Pucher et al., 2017) tend to promote greater follower commitment and achieve improved organizational performance. The leader significantly influences the followers by exhibiting the following: willpower, honesty, innovation, open-mindedness, principled, compassion, coordination, and motivation to the followers which aid improved organizational performance (Anninos, 2018).

Leaders who support their workers and help them to deal with work pressures build strong, resilient employees who impact positively on organizational performance. A leader influences the followers' performance and mindsets by promoting a moral environment that encourages cognizance and personal development (Liu et al., 2018). Self-actualized leaders influence follower performance by encouraging feedback and self-examination (Lyubovnikova et al., 2017). Leaders who model follower behaviors, respect others and make decisions based on organizational values and ethics enhance organizational performance (Hensel & Visser, 2018). Through coaching and mentoring leaders can also build confidence and perform followers (Woo, 2017), and through communication inspire and motivate the followers to aim toward improved organizational performance (Jiang et al., 2018). In addition, communicating and exchanging information with subordinates in a positive relational atmosphere is part of the leader's responsibility. A leader who has confidence in his or her ability to carry out necessary leadership

behaviors, such as delegating, making decisions, and motivating others is more likely to be successful in the sense of competence and effective communication.

The key features of leader success are as follows: (a) establishing objectives and goals, (b) being authentic and accountable, (c) encouraging independence and being open, (d) establishing a high-quality leader–follower relationship, (e) accepting and respecting other's opinions, and (f) support and encourage follower development (Ali & Anwar, 2021b; Laub, 2018). Leaders are charged with the responsibilities of driving the performance of each follower working with them and working around difficult situations. Therefore, the leader should understand the situation of things at a particular point and take advantage of the opportunity to support the followers to work hard to improve the performance of the organization. Leaders are developed by the quality of the leader–follower relationship which enables followers to remain committed to the organization and willingly support others to improve organizational performance (Polizzi et al., 2019). Leaders are developed through engaging, motivating, and inspiring the followers to achieve improved organizational performance. A constructive way to know a developed and successful leader is by leader assessment this will be discussed in the next paragraph.

Leader assessment permits the leader to understand their ability, skills, and areas that need growth. Leader assessment allows the leader to understand the follower's experiences, proficiency, temperament, genuineness, and approach to improve performance (Bellack, 2018). The leaders' attitudes and behaviors that are adopted by the employees lead to sustainable and improved organizational performance (Matzler et al., 2013). The leaders' characteristics that enable improved performance are persistence,

honesty, respect, courtesy, and the ability to communicate effectively (Eich, 2017). The leader's state of mind, engagement, commitment, and attitude to work positively influences employee engagement which in turn promotes positive organizational outcomes (Gutermann et al., 2017). A fervent leader is someone who can inspire, encourage, manage, and organize the followers to perform while adjusting to changes within and outside the organization (Hasib et al., 2020).

Passionate leaders are fully engaged and committed to achieving their goals while helping others achieve theirs. These leaders elevate the followers to impact positively on productivity and ensure employee commitment to the success of the organization.

Likewise, an overbearing leader negatively influences followers' job satisfaction and performance (Siddique et al., 2020). The leaders are responsible to build environments that inspire members to achieve specific organizational goals that ensure improved organizational performance (Nguyen et al., 2020). Leaders that are committed and motivated by the success of the followers stimulate the followers to evaluate their performances to improve organizational performance (Haider et al., 2019). Leaders who are concerned about supporting a high-quality relationship with their followers improve the performance of the organization (Aggarwal et al., 2020; van Dam et al., 2021) through a competitive system. Leaders should understand that supposed competitive systems might only be beneficial if they develop a good leader–follower relationship.

#### The Follower in a Leader-Follower Relationship

Followers are the mainstay of an organization (Rodriguez & Walters, 2017). Followers value their leaders when they display a high level of self-confidence in the

knowledge, skills, and abilities associated with leading others. The value followers have for their leaders, in turn, increases the quality of the leader—follower relationship.

Norman et al. (2019) discovered that in the follower's opinions, leaders' skills and ability, leader—follower personal characteristics, depth of relationship, and time are the key factors that influence the follower's trust in their leaders. The followers are influenced by their leaders to be self-confident, hopeful, and strengthened to work for improved organizational performance (Chen et al., 2017). For followers to trust and collaborate to achieve organizational goals, they must be confident, positive, compassionate, and tolerant (Salas-Vallina, 2020). Shen (2019) maintained that the follower's actions, behavior, and relationship with their leader support and influence the quality of the LMX relationship which leads to improved organizational performance. Indeed, leaders need the support of their followers to be productive.

When followers are supported by their leader, they tend to be more productive, this productivity is increased with the quality of the relationship between the leader and the follower. A follower who experiences a high-quality leader–follower relationship tends to push forward the leader's work plan even in a complex situation to be productive (Hasib et al., 2020). The followers are important in leadership because they are the support needed for the leader to perform and are often considered the future leaders (Suda, 2013).

The factors that increase follower productivity for improved organizational performance, include matching the followers with the appropriate leaders (Atatsi et al., 2020; Li et al., 2019), the follower's trust is influenced by the leaders' knowledge and

competence, personalities, depth of relationship, and sequential relations (Norman et al., 2019), followers understanding of the leader (Jyoti & Bhau, 2015; Ruzgar, 2018), abiding by the rules of the leader (Chen et al., 2017) and open communication which enables the follower to value the leader especially when the leader aligns their words with their actions (Gatling et al., 2017). Followers who have passionate supportive leaders are particularly noticeable to influencers of overall productivity and ensure commitment to the success of the organization. Leaders who help the followers to deal with work pressures build strong followers who trust the leaders and are committed to improving the organizational performance. The follower is influenced by the leader's actions to put more effort into work to increase the effective promotion of organizational performance.

#### Leader-Follower Relationship Quality and Follower Outcome

The quality of the leader–follower relationship influences the employee's reaction to job-role and the well-being of the employee. Organizational leaders who maintain their position and develop a high-quality relationship with their followers can contribute to the growth and development of the organization. This relationship can influence the actions and behaviors of the employee towards performing tasks that are not part of their prescribed job description.

Burns (1978) suggested that employees experiencing a high-quality leader—follower relationship act on the influence and management of the leader to fulfill the objectives of the organization. Graen and Uhl-Bien (1995) opined that leader should develop high-quality LMX relationships with the employees, instead of having discriminated relationships among the followers as portrayed in the vertical dyad linkage

method. Balancing the social and professional aspects of the leader–follower relationship depends on consistency, stability, and individual differences (Schyns & Day, 2010). Several researchers have examined the factors that influence follower behavior and concluded that a high-quality leader–follower relationship influences employee engagement, responsibilities, opinions, values, morals, and standards (Hu et al., 2018) and enhances follower engagement and commitment to the organization and in turn increase organizational performance (Min-Seong & Dong-Woo, 2017). In addition, the leader–follower relationship is influenced by the follower's commitment, trust, respect, and loyalty, the leader's perception of the follower during and after an interview (Munshi & Haque, 2017).

Followers are motivated and encouraged to build high-quality LMX relationships with their leaders because the members of this relationship enjoy positive features such as trust, liking, and a favorable position towards each other. A high-quality leader–follower relationship reinforces the organizational culture by building trust as well as sharing information, resources, rewards, loyalty, and openness (Chernyak-Hai & Rabenu, 2018). The follower and team performance improve with an increase in the quality of leader–follower relationships (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). High-quality leader–follower relationships boost trust, respect, commitment, and loyalty, which leads to improved follower work performance and productivity (Radstaak & Hennes, 2017) and tend to make the followers eager and enthusiastic to reciprocate with the leader because they value the relationship (Lee et al., 2019). The ability of a leader to efficiently complete an assigned task is a defining factor of the quality of the leader–follower relationship (Byun

et al., 2017). To build a high-quality leader–follower relationship, leaders will need to involve the followers' decision-making process (Yoerger, et al., 2015). Further, followers who are involved in the decision-making process end up being good leaders.

A high-quality leader–follower relationship is built when leaders allow followers to lead another follower in the same team (Hoch, et al., 2018). According to Qi et al. (2019a), researchers view high-quality LMX in two ways: first as when followers are supported psychologically, passionately, and materially by the leaders, and secondly when the followers integrate organizational membership and role status into their traits. Qi et al. (2019b), believed that a high-quality leader–follower relationship helps to sustain meaningful connections between the follower and the organization thereby improving organizational performance. Tarim, (2018) proved that the quality of LMX affects follower commitment and performance. High-quality leader–follower relationships enhance high productivity and employee commitment to the organization and in turn increase organizational performance (Fan & Han, 2018). Specifically, followers who have exceptional relationships with their leaders employ positive changes to the way they impact their job (task, relational, and cognitive crafting) for increased organizational performance (Yang, 2020).

Several researchers that investigated the factors that influenced follower behavior, concluded that a high-quality leader–follower relationship influences follower engagement, responsibilities, opinions, values, morals, and standards (Hu et al., 2018) and commitment to the organization and in turn increase organizational performance (Min-Seong & Dong-Woo, 2017). The characteristics of the high-quality leader–follower

relationship are that the followers experience preferences from the leader, quality access to the leader, amplified communique, and high-performance feedback (Northouse, 2021). Jyoti and Bhau (2015) opined that the LMX quality is characterized by the level of trust, interaction, support, and rewards, this strengthens the leader–follower relationship through leader–follower understanding and a good working relationship that stimulates the follower's capability to work proficiently and eventually increases job performance.

High-quality LMX is portrayed by reciprocated responsibility, reverence, and commitment (Medler-Liraz & Kark, 2011). Audenaert et al. (2019) maintained that employees are more likely to create and execute new ideas that will improve organizational performance if they experience high-quality leader—follower relationships. Terpstra-Tong et al. (2020) suggested that leaders who consider the joint and specific alignments and dispositions of their followers tend to build high-quality leader—follower relationships with the followers. The followers in a high-quality leader—follower relationship are involved in the change process of the organization more than those in a low-quality relationship (van Dam et al., 2021). A high-quality leader—follower relationship is linked to employee engagement (Gupta & Sharma, 2018) and decreases resistance in the relationship while increasing a positive attitude to work (Salas-Vallina, 2020).

LMX suggests that a follower that experiences a low-quality leader–follower relationship needs a change of leader to perform better (Northouse, 2021). Low-quality LMX is linked to employee antagonism and intimidation which negatively influences employee performance but can be decreased by high-quality leader–follower

relationships resulting in improved organizational performance (Medler-Liraz & Kark, 2011). Jawahar and Schreurs (2018) argued that leader tenor affects the quality of the relationship, and a low-quality leader–follower relationship weakens employee efficacy and encourages production abnormality and ineffective job performance. Leaders who tend to neglect the capacities, performances, views and values of the followers establish low-quality leader–follower relationships with the followers (Terpstra-Tong et al., 2020).

Through low-quality LMX, leaders impair followers' values and roots in the organization (Siddique et al., 2020). The quality of the leader-follower relationship can make a follower relevant to the extent of being creative and innovative. The work-related attitudes and behaviors of followers depend on the level of the leader–follower relationship quality. de Oliveira et al. (2020) disclosed that the quality of LMX is an important construct that connects the employees' detachment and views to take part in actions that is against the objectives, goals, and aims of the organization. When employees tend to hinder or disrupt the attainment of a desired organizational objective or goal the end is counterproductive activities. These behaviors come in various forms and actions including lateness, stealing, cheating, sexual harassment, intimidation, truancy, substance abuse, or workplace aggression (Low et al., 2021; Miao & Zhou, 2020), de Oliveira, et al. suggested that organizations should focus on selecting leaders who are committed to building quality LMX and develop career management systems and alternative career paths to motivate the followers, these actions will minimize counterproductive work behaviors among the followers.

A conducive work environment promotes high-quality leader-follower leader-

follower relationships and frustrates the negative influence of an authoritarian leader on followers' job satisfaction and performance (Siddique et al., 2020). Job satisfaction, work engagement, and the employee's positive emotional attachment to the organization are influenced by the workforce including the follower relationship with the leader (Ampofo, 2020). In sum, a positive connection between the leader and the follower is expected to improve positive attitudes of engagement, job satisfaction, and affective organizational commitment, as reducing the friction in the leader—follower relationship will increase their quality of life and positive perceptions at work.

Researchers who explored the quality of the leader–follower relationship have linked the quality of the leader-follower relationship to follower outcome. Gutermann et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study that used the LMX and crossover theory to investigate how highly engaged leaders have better leader–follower relationships which in turn enhanced employee engagement. Gutermann et al. revealed that employee engagement is influenced by high-quality leader–follower relationships and is linked positively to employee performance and negatively to turnover intentions. The researchers concluded that a high-quality leader–follower relationship is influenced by leaders' work commitment and promotes organizational engagement structure. The leader's mood at work influences the leader–follower relationships and employee engagement is related positively to performance and reduced turnover both leading to improved organizational performance (Gutermann et al., 2017). The researchers confirmed that work engagement is transferrable from the leader to the follower showing the importance of positive leaders' attitude and state of mind on the followers' attitude

and commitment which promotes positive organizational outcomes.

Jyoti and Bhau's (2015) quantitative investigation on the role of LMX and relational identification between transformational leadership and job performance relationship suggested that leaders who train and re-train followers improve the skills of the followers and frequent assessment of the followers through interactions gives the leader an understanding of the followers' working ability and behavior. The researchers revealed that LMX acts as the link to the direction and strength of the leader–follower relationship. Jyoti and Bhau discovered that the LMX focuses on the level of trust, interaction, support, and rewards, which determines the quality of the leader-follower relationship. The quality of the leader–follower relationship makes the follower work more efficiently because the leader and follower understand themselves and helps them have good working relationships as leaders can influence the follower's ability to work efficiently and ultimately increase job performance.

Kakkar (2019) in a quantitative study investigated whether leader—subordinate exchange (LMX) quality influences subordinate resilience. The researcher used the regulatory focus theory to assume that high-quality LMX leaders induce a positive evaluation of situations which is the key to promoting concerns with advancement and growth of the employee and focusing on employees who in turn increase employee motivation and resilience. Kakkar used the LMX theory to propose that trust, reciprocity, and clarity play a vital role in cultivating employee resilience. The major finding of the study is that LMX is positively related to employee resilience and that promoting regulatory focus reconciles the relationship between LMX and employee resilience.

Kakkar maintained that leader behavior and relations with the employee can promote resilience in employees and the organizations should train leaders on the need to confront challenges and difficulty using approaches that motivate employees and promotes resilience.

Reb et al. (2019) in their research applied the quantitative research method to examine the relation between leader mindfulness and employee performance through the lenses of organizational justice and leader-member relations. The researchers used the triadic leader-employee-peer data and dyadic leader-employee data to support their assumption that LMX quality serves as a mediator linking leader awareness to employee performance in terms of in-role and extra-role performance. Reb et al. found that from the followers' view, the more the leaders are aware, the higher the LMX relationship quality and that mindful leaders have better performing followers. Therefore, mindful leaders usually have high-quality leader-follower relationships which in turn decreases follower stress level, and increase interpersonal justice perceptions (Reb et al., 2019).

Furthermore, Reb et al. maintained that being a watchful leader positively influences the attention and self-regulatory basis of establishing a high-quality leader-follower relationship.

Munshi and Haque (2017) investigated the agreement between the leader's perspective of LMX and the subordinate's perspective of LMX analyzing critically the research on LMX-agreement and assessing this relationship based on the experiences of the participants. The researchers focused on the quality of the LMX relationship of the leaders and the followers. Munshi and Haque explained that the LMX relationship is

exceptional and is concerned with the dyadic relationships of leader-member which are the vital components of the organization. Munshi and Haque described that the LMX relationship is influenced by followers' commitment, trust, respect, and loyalty, the leaders' impression about the followers' competency, and leaders' behavior during interviews. The researchers discovered that LMX discrepancy can shoot from transformations in the leader and subordinate understanding of LMX and the variances in their perceptions of their behavior and that of others. Therefore, Munshi and Haque suggested that when the leaders and followers understand the LMX theory, the organizational performance is improved because the quality of the relationship is improved.

Johnson et al. (2017) explored the consequences of regulatory fit for leader—follower relationship quality and commitment. The researchers predicted that regulations would enhance leader—follower relationship quality and commitment within leader—follower relationships and they found out that promotion fit, prevention fit, and the interaction between them forecast the quality of the LMX relationship and follower commitment to the leader and that leaders and followers who were distinguished by regulatory misfit were less likely to form high-quality and committed relationships.

Johnson et al. concluded that a quality LMX relationship is achieved when supervisors and subordinates who share similar promotion and prevention foci are paired into the same team.

Armstrong and Qi (2020) used the organizational citizenship behaviors construct to investigate the influence of leader–follower cognitive style similarity on followers'

organizational citizenship behaviors. The researchers revealed that the similarity of leader/follower cognitive style is predicted followers who are willing and happy to go beyond formal job requirements and are ready to cope with change and unpredictable conditions of the organizations. Armstrong and Qi suggested that organizations will benefit if they consider issues of similarity of cognitive styles in their attempts to develop effective leader—follower relationships leading to increased organizational citizenship behaviors and connected signs of progress in both the follower and organizational success. Furthermore, organizations should understand that the follower character aspect is known to influence individual attitudes, values, and social interaction which are important factors for employee and organizational success.

In a similar study, Parent-Rocheleau et al. (2020) used the quantitative method to examine how similarity and dissimilarity of positive psychological capital between leaders and followers predict followers' outcomes. Parent-Rocheleau et al. used the polynomial regression analyses to carry out an analysis on leader-follower dyads. The researchers disclosed that the effects of dissimilarity are irregular, such that the lowest levels of LMX and organizational citizenship behaviors are observed when the psychological capital of leaders is high, and the psychological capital of followers is low. When the similarity is balanced it leads to high LMX despite whether the leader and follower share a similar high or low level of positive psychological capital. Parent-Rocheleau et al. concluded that if leaders have a higher level of psychological capital, it is harmful to the quality of the leader–follower relationship.

Salas-Vallina (2020) examined how leaders and followers can interact positively

under difficult and restricted environments using the theory of constructive dissensus building on social exchange and social identity theories, as the framework for the study. The researcher described the constructive dissensus as a link to a mutual understanding leading to a situation of affectionate and approachable interactions that provide the support for the leader—follower relationship. Salas-Vallina also reviewed the relationship between constructive conflict and happiness at work using the affective events theory and examined the mediating role of organizational ethics and virtue. The researcher in result of the research disclosed a direct effect of constructive conflict on employees' happiness at work and that a limited mediation effect of organizational quality of doing what is right was found in the relationship between constructive conflict and happiness at work. Salas-Vallina opined that organizational context and positive attitude will guide the leader and followers on how to improve each other's quality of life at work as long as they reflect on their relationship in a constructive way.

Epitropaki et al. (2020) reviewed the leader and follower transgressions and relationship repair strategies and the outcome. The researchers found out that higher quality LMX relationships encourage higher follower's job satisfaction and subjective well-being through more follower's forgiveness and subsequent follower's relational efforts through constructive communication. Epitropaki et al. also discovered that the impact of apologies on forgiveness and following trust depended on leaders' purposes and the gravity of the outcome in breach of trust. Furthermore, Epitropaki et al. revealed that a clear and consistent theoretical framework for examining leader–follower transgressions is lacking. Therefore, misbehavior and misconduct among leaders and

followers should be expected and accorded great importance for a better outcome and increased individual and organizational outcomes. Epitropaki et al. agreed that leaders who use the relationship repair strategies are likely to have a transformative effect on the leader–follower relationship through redefining relationship rules and limits.

Parent-Rocheleau and Tremblay (2020) focusing on the cross-over model investigated the moderating role of the LMX and the effect of leader energy level on the subordinates. In this quantitative study, Parent-Rocheleau and Tremblay found that followers profit more when supervised by active leaders but lose energy with a less active leader. The researchers maintained that the loss and gain of energy are dependent on the quality of the LMX as perceived by the followers and that on-energetic leaders may negatively influence the energy level of the followers thereby influencing the performance of the follower and affecting the outcome of the organization. In another study, Parent-Rocheleau et al. (2020) focusing on the optimism literature and the expectancy-value theory examined the impacts of optimism similarity and dissimilarity between supervisors and subordinates on subordinates' outcomes. The researchers discovered that although similarity tends to deter role conflict, highly optimistic supervisors are likely to initiate role conflict for less optimistic subordinates, thereby reducing their enthusiasm at work and subsequent job performance. Parent-Rocheleau et al. supported that leaders should understand that positive supervisors' behavior may lead to unfavorable outcomes for cautious subordinates and that, in specific cases, uncertain similarity may be better than dissimilarity.

Leaders who are engaged with their employees tend to identify when there is an

issue or problem with the performance of the employee. Taking a moment to review and understand the factors that motivate the employees to perform better increases the team's energy positively, influencing the team to become resources that find solutions to both the team and individual struggles. Leaders could be aware of the effect of employee willpower through engagement with employees and it will help the leaders understand the reason employees are unable to exert the same level of self-control on succeeding often unconnected tasks. Understanding this will help the leaders build a stronger relationship with their followers.

When followers focus more on the outcome aspects that relate to their needs, morals, and goals in view gains from the leader-follower relationship it helps the follower to increase their motivational intensity that results when there is a match between the manners in which they pursue a goal of the organization. The follower who is motivated by the actions of the leader tends to trust the leader leading to a high-quality relationship. Intentional leaders are extremely conscious and responsive of what the follower is sensing and feeling at any moment, without judging, this awareness helps in building a high-quality LMX relationship with a positive outcome.

## Job Satisfaction

Organizational leaders should ensure that the employees have a conducive work environment to enable job satisfaction. Job satisfaction is the positive emotional fulfillment a follower derives from the job (Ampofo, 2020) and the positive emotion of a follower's behavior to work activities Riyadi (2020). These positive feelings can be achieved through high-quality LMX which, in turn, will have a positive impact on how

committed and beneficial the employees are leading to enhanced organizational performance. Indeed, as Juevesa et al. (2020) stated job satisfaction is significant to organizational performance. Followers develop job satisfaction when the leaders are inspiring, respectful, valuable, and providing details of the task to the followers (Jantz, 2017).

The leader–follower relationship influences job satisfaction and job performance. Job satisfaction is determined by the constant use of penalties and reward systems (Ramli, 2020). Leader–follower relationships that allow a punishment and reward system strengthen practices and work procedures that are beneficial to employees and the organization. For example, a reward system that encourages training of employees and leaders tends to increase employee job satisfaction, capacity, and performance because they feel the attention and sincerity of the organization through competent leaders and managers. While job satisfaction is one of the factors that influences job performance (Sani & Maharani Ekowati, 2019), it is also related to how strongly the follower recognizes the goals of the organization (Koo et al., 2020). Follower job satisfaction is the requirement for improved efficiency, receptiveness, excellence, and acknowledgment (Ali & Anwar, 2021a). The significant issues preventing job satisfaction in followers are follower choice profession, job impact, teamwork, and the degree to which a job is motivating and exciting (Riyadi, 2020). When followers are satisfied, they are more likely to become strengthened, developed, and obtain special skills relevant to the job leading to improved organizational performance.

Previous studies have linked the quality leader–follower relationship to follower

job satisfaction. Andersen et al. (2020) reviewed the literature on the social and economic LMX by providing a wide-ranging review of the research to date applying a twodimensional approach to LMX, while also adding to interpretation and suggestions for how the LMX and social exchange theory can advance and improve further by establishing the link between them. The researchers revealed that social LMX demonstrates a positive relationship to a set of fortunate followers and that there is a strong relationship between social LMX and affective commitment; satisfaction with work-family balance, employee knowledge donating, and employee resilience; and moderate negative associations with turnover intention. Liao et al. (2017) in quantitative research investigated the relationship between LMX, job satisfaction, life satisfaction, and psychological capital for employee relationship management. The sample of the study were employees of financial and electronics manufacturing industries in Taiwan, and they were then analyzed using a structuring equation model with SPSS 12.0 and LISREL 8.8. The researchers found out that high-quality LMX increases psychological capital and psychological capital enhances both job satisfaction and life satisfaction, and psychological capital serves as a full mediator for both job satisfaction and life satisfaction.

In another research, Stewart, and Wiener (2021) examines the quality of the LMX and the mediating influence of subordinate's job embeddedness on job satisfaction. The researchers used the LMX model that considered the four-gender dominant leadership style facets, female–effect and loyalty (communal), and male contribution and professional respect for the study. Stewart and Wiener used the quantitative cross-

sectional survey method for the study with the sample from employed participants who were predominantly females working in female-dominant industries. The researchers found that Job embeddedness mediated the relationship between all four facets of LMX and job satisfaction and that supervisor gender did not moderate the relationships of the four LMX facets and job embeddedness. On the other hand, Naveed (2019) used the quantitative method to examine the association between LMX, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment and the moderating role of trust on LMX and employee outcomes (job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intentions). The data was collected from employees of private banks in Karachi, Pakistan using questionnaires from older studies. Naveed revealed from the study that LMX is positively and significantly related to job satisfaction and organizational commitment but negatively linked with turnover intentions.

However, Almuqati (2021) focused on followers' perceptions of LMX applied the descriptive, quantitative method to investigate the possible effects of LMX and job satisfaction. The researcher based the study on a large sample of employees in Saudi Arabia using the survey-based questionnaire method. Almuqati in the study revealed that considering job satisfaction as a strong variable that would clarify the role of both leaders and followers in private sectors shows that the leader–follower relationship among the private sectors is high-quality. The researcher concluded that a high-quality LMX is a productive tactic to improve the performance of individuals, groups, and the organization. Zhou et al. (2021) in a quantitative study used the social learning and social exchange theory to explore the effects of despotic leadership on employee job satisfaction using

self-efficacy as a mediating variable and LMX as a moderated variable. In this study, the researchers showed that despotic leadership affects employee job satisfaction both directly and indirectly through self-efficacy and LMX. In a similar study, Zhou et al. (2021) used the questionnaire survey analysis approach to collect data from the employees of small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) located in Guangdong Province, China. The results of the study confirmed the relationships between despotic leadership, LMX, self-efficacy, and job satisfaction as despotic leadership has a direct negative impact on job satisfaction, while self-efficacy acts as a mediating role between despotic leadership and job satisfaction. Likewise, the LMX is moderating in the relationship between despotic leadership and self-efficacy. The researchers concluded that the despotic leader will harm the majority of employees in the organization, and it will be difficult for employees to achieve ideal job satisfaction under such a leader, and will damage employees' job satisfaction through the reduction of their self-efficacy.

In contrast, Saragih, et al. (2021) in a qualitative study investigated the impact of overqualification perception and job satisfaction on working intentions for employees of the ministry of defense. The data for the study were collected from colonels and lieutenant colonels working at the Ministry of Defense of the Republic of Indonesia. The researchers used the equity theory and the theory of relative deprivation as the framework for the study. The major findings of the study are that employees that view themselves as overqualified for a position are not always satisfied with their job, these view of overqualification leads to employee intention to leave, employee satisfaction does not positively influence employee intention to leave, and perceptions of overqualification had

no significant direct effect and positively significant towards the intention to move employees through job satisfaction.

## Follower Work Engagement

Some leaders use the LMX theory to become more engaged with their followers increasing individual follower engagement and improving overarching organizational outcomes. Engaging followers with this method can encourage them to work harder and become more passionate about their role in the organization (Crosina & Pratt, 2019). Putra et al. (2017) argued that an engaged employee gives rise to improved organizational performance. Likewise, an employee who lacks purpose reduces the quality of service and organizational performance (Meng et al., 2017). Crosina and Pratt (2019) asserted that an engaged employee fights to improve organizational performance, and, ultimately, follower engagement has a significant outcome on organizational performance (Juevesa et al., 2020). High-quality leader-follower relationships enhance and predict follower work engagement (Rashid et al., 2018). Organizational leaders who implement the practical justice system tend to have more passionate, resourceful, happy, and diligently engaged followers (Ramli, 2020). Followers who are in a high-quality leader-follower relationship are often emotionally empowered and extremely engaged at work, and the leaders sustain a high-quality leader-follower relationship by increasing follower engagement (Aggarwal et al., 2020). Leaders' investment in increasing the followers' engagement, reduced turnover intention, which, in turn, increases productivity. Follower engagement is a medium for improved performance of the organizations (Tensay & Singh, 2020).

Several studies have linked LMX to employee engagement. Kim and Koo (2017) in their study examined how the quality of LMX helps hotels to achieve desirable outcomes, such as innovative behavior and job performance. The model was developed based on the LMX theory and considers the relationship between the quality of LMX, employee engagement, innovative behavior, and job performance. The sample for the study was based on the survey of employees of hotels in South Korea and the data were analyzed using frequency, reliability, confirmatory factor, correlation, and structural equation modeling analyses. Kim and Koo found out that LMX significantly influenced job engagement and innovative behavior but did not significantly affect organization engagement. Job engagement significantly affected organization engagement and innovative behavior but did not significantly influence job performance. Organizational engagement significantly influenced job performance but did not significantly affect innovative behavior. Job performance was significantly influenced by innovative behavior. He et al., (2021) in a quantitative study explored how the interactive effects of high-performance human resource (HR) practices and LMX on employee engagement and creativity in hospitality. The study was based on a survey of the employees of hotel companies in China. The researchers discovered that high-performance HR practices had a significant influence on employee engagement and creativity through psychological empowerment and that the effect of high-performance HR practices on employee engagement was strengthened by LMX.

Tensay and Singh (2020), in a qualitative study, used the ability, motivation, and opportunity model and the social exchange theory as a framework to examine the effect

of HRM Systems on employee engagement and perceived organizational performance and examining the mediating effect of employee engagement on the HRM-Performance research. Using a sample of a federal employee in government organizations operating in Ethiopia, the researchers acknowledged that organizations that offer fair recruitment and selection procedures, allow the employees' opportunity to train and develop their abilities and skills through a complete performance evaluation system, unbiased compensation, and reward system and allow employees to involve in the process of decision making as well as autonomous in their work, the employees become more engaged and become productive. Tensay and Singh found that a positive relationship between HRM and employee engagement encourages employees to be engaged in their role because they feel they are well treated, valued, and trusted and concluded that HRM is a strong predictor of employee engagement while that employee engagement is a strong predictor of performance of organizations.

Sugandini et al. (2018) in a quantitative study tested and analyzed employee engagement in entrepreneurship management in SMEs cases. The primary data was collected using a questionnaire and interview with the manager in the Province of DIY, Indonesia. The researchers confirmed that employee engagement is affected by the experiences employee got from work satisfaction and rewards which improved organizational commitment and LMX while LMX improves organizational commitment. Vila-Vázquez et al. (2020) explored how the quality of LMX from the perspective of the followers, was connected to individual creativity through engagement and how this relationship was moderated by job complexity in the context of high-tech and knowledge-

based SMEs. The test was conducted on a sample of emergent high-tech and knowledge-based SMEs in Spain. The researchers found that the quality of the relationship between leader and follower supports job engagement while engagement, in turn, increases individual creativity.

### Follower Performance

Several factors can affect follower productivity and performance. The leaders of organizations are expected to understand these factors to increase follower performance. A productive follower is behind every organizational success (Muzakki et al., 2019). Performance is a phase when an individual attains success in assigned work in an organization (Eliyana et al., 2019). Follower performance management aligns and develops the follower workforce for better organizational results. Follower performance is the follower's conduct and success in the allocated task (Riyadi, 2020). The performance of a follower is the outcome of the effort put into work with a certain period concerning ethics, goals, objectives, or principles; it is also a factor that can positively or negatively influence organizational performance (Muzakki et al., 2019). Follower performance influences organizational performance (Rodriguez & Walters, 2017).

To achieve the occurrence of follower performance, the leaders need to set goals and standards that will be used for evaluation (Rodriguez & Walters, 2017). According to Selvarajan et al., (2018) the main aim of follower performance evaluation is to motivate the follower to influence organizational performance by improving individual performance. Zeb et al. (2019) affirmed that LMX is a key influence on follower performance. Chatterjee et al. (2021) discovered that cooperative energy at work and

understandings and explanations using the LMX theory reinforce team performance. High-performing followers are indicators of a high-performing organization (Hasib et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2020) and are vital to achieving the goals of the organization (Nguyen et al., 2020). Various actions influence the performance of an organization while the followers are influenced by the valued cultures of the organization (Nguyen et al., 2020). Organizational structure, culture, and motivation influence follower performance. Work environment and management support have a strong influence on followers' performance, while a response to change and intrinsic motivation directly affect follower performance (Diamantidis & Chatzoglou, 2019). A poorly organized organizational structure and culture could mean that there will be low output, less entrustment of work, no encouragement provided, and consolidated decisions.

To contribute to organizational performance, the followers should be allowed to contribute to and be involved in decision-making (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018). Organizations with high follower performance excel in achieving high productivity and operational efficiency, as well as profitability and effectiveness with the added effect of improved organizational performance. Again, bored, and undervalued followers are less efficient and productive. Juevesa et al. (2020) discovered that job satisfaction positively improved followers' performance. Furthermore, Chatterjee et al. (2021) maintained that inventive ideas inspire follower performance, but knowledge hoarding frustrates follower resourcefulness which negatively affects organizational performance. Knowledge hiding is a common issue among organizational followers. It encourages poor performance and tends to cut off the relationship between the followers. Follower performance is

reinforced by the work techniques, behavioral relationships between followers, and the regularity of communication by the leaders (Walthall & Dent, 2016).

Šehić–Kršlak et al. (2021) in a quantitative study determined the effects of leadership in general and LMX leadership on organizational performance (job satisfaction, organizational commitment, mutual trust at work, satisfaction with organizational communication). The authors analyzed the data collected from the leaders in Bosnia and Herzegovina and revealed that there is a significant positive relationship between LMX and organizational commitment and that commitment to the values of the organization and mutual trust is expressed through information exchange and open communication. Furthermore, employees that enjoy a high-quality exchange with their leaders are employees that are more committed to the values and goals of the organization, and salaries motivate employees to increase their commitment to work, and greater commitment to work has a positive effect on employees' productivity hence positively affecting the success of the company, van Dam et al. (2021) using the quantitative method explored how employees' reactions to a planned organizational change can be influenced by their supervisor. The researchers used the LMX and appraisal theory as the groundwork for the study to argue that employees who have a high-quality exchange relationship with their supervising manager would be provided with more change information and opportunities for participation in the change, and, in turn, would have more positive affective perceptions of the change in terms of the trust, cynicism, uncertainty, and control, and subsequently be more open to the change. Using the Multi-group analysis on the data collected from employees of two health insurance

companies that were involved in a merger the researchers revealed that middle managers can enable change through the LMX relationship with their subordinates and that employees in a high-quality LMX relationship had received more change information and participation opportunities than those in a low-quality exchange relationship.

Diamantidis and Chatzoglou (2019) in a quantitative explored the factors affecting employee performance by integrating the relations between firm/environment-related factors, job-related factors, and employee-related factors into an analytical EP assessment model using an empirical approach. The researchers used the structural equation modeling approach to analyze the data, the result of the study indicated that job environment and management support have the strongest impacts (direct and indirect) on job performance, while adaptability and intrinsic motivation directly affect job performance. In a similar study, Nguyen et al., (2020) in a quantitative study investigated and analyzed the variables of HR management that influence employee performance. The researchers maintained that employee work performance is very vital for an organization to achieve its goals, so various activities must be carried out by the organization to improve it. The result of the study shows that work motivation, leadership, work environment, organizational culture, work achievement assessment, competence, and compensation affect employee performance.

Roberts and David (2020) using the qualitative method investigated how boss phubbing, supervisory trust, job satisfaction, and performance impact employee outcomes using the reciprocated social exchange theory, expectancy violations theory, and social presence theory. The researchers collected the data from Amazon's Mechanical Turk

(MTurk) of working adults in the US. The results reveal that supervisors that are distracted by their smartphones are linked to lower supervisory trust, as well as lower employee job satisfaction and performance. Contrary to other researchers, Insan and Masmarulan (2021) in quantitative research investigated the effect of the LMX and organizational culture on employee performance. The researchers explored employee performance by explaining and evaluating variables that can affect work engagement, among others: members of the leadership and organizational culture. The researchers found that LMX had no significant effect on unlocking employee motivation and increasing productivity, LMX had no significant effect on how workers achieve their success and execute their required tasks, organizational culture had a significant effect on employee positive behavior that leads to positive results and on employee performance and that work management had no significant effect on employee performance.

#### Follower Motivation

Organizational motivation tends to be the greatest research topic as it relates to organizational performance. Organizational motivation tends to be the greatest research topic as it relates to organizational performance (Thokozani, 2017). Understanding organizational motivation means knowing the difference between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. Intrinsic motivation comes within the person. Reward, compensation, incentive, and recognition are different ways to motivate followers (Ali & Anwar, 2021a). The follower is said to be driven by the task or the job they do. Extrinsic motivation is the result of external things done to kindle and stimulate others to increase productivity. The recognition of unfulfilled needs leads to motivation which enables

followers to accomplish personal or organizational goals (Ali & Anwar, 2021a). The most effective way of motivation is to balance the motivating factors to integrate both intrinsic and extrinsic motivation with more preference for inner motivation. Motivation is the key to improved organizational performance (Osabiya, 2015; Thokozani, 2017), but because there is no standard way of motivation it seems difficult to motivate followers (Thokozani, 2017). The reward system and policies are used to motivate the followers to increase their involvement, determination, and performance (Ali & Anwar, 2021a).

Leaders need to understand the motivational factors of each follower and implement them to improve performance (Osabiya, 2015; Rockmann & Ballinger, 2017; Thokozani, 2017) because follower motivation increases commitment which positively influences productivity (Al-Madi et al., 2017; Hanaysha & Majid, 2018). The motivational factors that influence productivity in a follower are clear communication, goal identification, teamwork, work based on agreement, overtime, leading by example, love/sense of belonging, high-quality leader—follower relationship, and supply of resources (Osabiya, 2015). Motivation adds value to follower performance and boosts their determination and creativity towards high-quality work performance (Kuranchie-Mensah & Amponsah-Tawiah, 2016). Rožman et al. (2017) observed that older followers are motivated by the working environment and terms and conditions of employment while the younger followers by financial rewards.

Motivating the follower encourages the follower to overcome complexity, stimulates high-quality leader—follower relationships, improves follower engagement, and stimulates followers' keenness to be more productive (Hirschi & Valero, 2017).

Leaders who motivate followers are aware of where the followers stand out and where to either build additional skills or where to share power with followers who have stronger skills in areas others are not responsive to. To sustain follower motivation and performance, the leader ought to encourage knowledge-sharing which is also a way to guarantee follower commitment (Dwivedula et al., 2017). The leaders' influence upon followers can increase the followers' shortcomings or increase follower strength. The key to organizational performance is increased motivation, commitment, and engagement of the followers (Ali & Anwar, 2021a). The follower might like all activities connected to the job but is not motivated to perform the duties (Ha et al., 2020). Leaders being appreciative of the followers' contribution increase follower confidence which improves organizational performance. The application of motivation improves job satisfaction and organizational performance (Riyadi, 2020).

Older researchers have linked LMX and motivation to employee performance. Rožman et al. (2017) investigated the variance in the motivation of the different age groups in an organization. To determine their findings, they used theoretical concepts and research to design the instrument used for the study and quantitative methods to gather data. The study was limited to employees in Slovenia. The researchers used the arithmetic means and medians for answers and Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests to verify the normality of the data distribution. The researchers resolved that all categories of employees are motivated and satisfied in the workplace, but different ways. The research found that older employees were not motivated by monetary incentives but by internal working conditions while the younger employees are motivated by financial

rewards. Huang et al. (2021) in a qualitative study used the LMX theory to explore the impact of individual drivers and combinations of drivers on safety climate through Bayesian Network simulations to predict practices that most effectively improve safety climate in the trucking industry. The researchers in this study used survey data were collected from truck drivers in a large U.S. trucking company to identify the key drivers of safety climate from the perspective of LMX. The result of the study showed that the effects of LMX on organization and group-level safety climate were conditionally dependent on four influencers including psychological ownership, supervisory integrity, situation awareness, and safety communication. In addition, enhancing leaders' ability to engage in high-quality exchanges (e.g., caring about employees), developing training to encourage employees/leaders to deliver on promises, and providing employees with more autonomy to enhance their ownership may have the most potential to improve trucking safety climate.

Curtis et al. (2009) in quantitative research did concentrate on differences between tipped and non-tipped employees in the hospitality industry with differentiation on gender. The study focused on the front house motivation. The hourly paid staff were used as the non-tipped respondents while the tipped are those who depend on tips as their main source of income. The study used a suitability sampling procedure where the 104 hourly tipped and non-tipped employees were chosen from a single branded, national restaurant chain located in the city of Orlando, Florida. Curtis et al. noted that lack of employee motivation may cause organizational problems in turnover, retention, morale, and poor productivity and that varied systems, procedures, and policies might be

deployed to positively impact employee and organizational performance factors. The researchers concluded that employee motivational factors included work security, commendation for a job well done, good working conditions, promotion or career development, and appreciation for a job well done, and alignment of personal values with organizational values. In a similar study, Osabiya (2015) used the qualitative method of research to provide insight into the theories of motivation and to uncover the opinions of theorists on motivation. The researcher explored the elements that influenced the worker's motivation and the matching factors on the workers' performance and final output. The study identified the following ten elements as critical factors to affect motivation; teamwork, work based on contract, supervision based on leadership by example, provision of equipment, impact on productivity, communication, love, and belongingness, opportunity to undertake a challenging task, identification with goal and overtime. From the study, the researcher revealed that there is a clear difference between suitably motivated workers and those who are not. This implies that well-motivated workers strive to ensure they work and perform exceptionally in all assigned functions.

Contrary to other studies, López-Ibort et al. (2020) in their study used the LMX theory as the basis to explore the relationship between the quality of the supervisor–nurse interpersonal relationship and organizational commitment and to establish if the correlation could be moderated by empowerment, perceived organizational support, and leader–leader exchange. The findings of the study show that there was a positive connection between the quality of the LMX and commitment and that LMX has a moderating effect on this relationship. But, the controlling effects of empowerment,

supposed organizational support, and LMX on the supervisor–nurse interpersonal relationship and the nurse's organizational commitment are influenced by sex and/or hospital size.

Emotional and inner enablement is a major effect of high-quality LMX. This is possible by the encouraging processes used by the leader to increase the capacity of the follower to energetically control their own life and align it with workplace activity. The LMX theory is rooted in an exchange process that balances the employee commitment process to work and family. LMX relationship that allows punishment and reward strengthen practices and work procedures that are beneficial to followers and the organization. A reward system that encourages training of followers and leaders tends to increase followers' job satisfaction, capacity, and performance because they feel the attention and sincerity of the organization through competent leaders.

# The Leadership Strategies to Sustain High-quality Leader-Follower Relationship

Leadership straegy is establishing and articulating the vision, goals, and objectives with an attainable action plan (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Levy-Gazenfrantz, 2015). The styles and strategies used by leaders enable the followers to feel deep pleasure, satisfaction, and respect for the work they do (Choi et al., 2017). Paring leaders and followers according to their advancement, objectivity, motivation, aspirations, values, and inclination into the same team and regulation of dealing with details or procedure help in sustaining the high-quality leader–follower relationship (Johnson et al., 2017).

The leaders who engage and encourage followers by implementing strategies that

improve organizational performance are significantly rewarded (Oppong et al., 2017). If these strategies are not implemented, the followers will not adapt to the goals and objectives of the organization (Kivilä et al., 2017). The culture, ethics, goals, objectives, characteristics, and proficiency of an organization reflects in the conduct of the leader which influences the achievement of the organizational goals (Engelbrecht et al., 2017a). Leaders must understand that their conduct can mare or guide the reputation of the organization (Martens & Carvalho, 2017). Therefore, the leaders must be determined to accomplish the organizational goals through constant implementation of strategies that will enable the followers to be engaged towards improved performance (Keeys & Huemann, 2017). Leaders with good communication skills may boost follower confidence because they feel they are appreciated (Silvius et al., 2017).

An ideal organizational vision promotes a healthy working environment and encourages the follower to work towards achieving set goals (Hamstra et al., 2014). Responsible leaders involve all stakeholders and encourage follower participation in decision-making (Voegtlin, 2016). Implementing the performance improvement strategies aids follower performance (Engelbrecht et al., 2017b). Implementing strategies that encourage leaders to be confident and show desirable actions that lead to successful outcomes influences follower resourcefulness and efficiency (Politis, 2015). To keep dedicated and loyal followers, organizational leaders must reconsider the strategies they use to successfully engage and motivate trusted followers (Khedhaouria et al., 2017).

Several researchers have investigated the strategies leaders implement to improve organizational performance. Pey et al. (2021) explored the potential impact of

followership on educational leadership, particularly in school settings. The researchers used the qualitative method to review the teachers' followership styles in literature from 1997 to 2018 in school settings about the Kelley Followership Model. Pey et al revealed that most of the teachers are categorized as exemplary followers. These categories of teachers developed high scores in independent critical thinking skills and are actively engaged in school activities equipping the schools to improve and sustain their performance. Meanwhile, these leaders established good followership strengthening leader-follower relationships which authoritatively shapes the expansion of realistic strategies that help to promote effective leadership. Winklera (2020) discussed the practices at the leader and organizational levels that align with Millennial workplace desires and promote organizational commitment. The researcher concluded that the leaders taking on a coach and/or mentorship role, the organization and leaders supporting individual growth, development, and internal advancement, and the organization highlighting and living by its purpose and mission to positively impact society will improve organizational performance.

Mete, et al. (2021) conducted research that investigated how hotel employees' career satisfaction and innovative work behavior are shaped under the framework of their perceptions of LMX based on the notion that the quality of the LMX relationship has a significant impact on employee behaviors. Data were collected by applying a questionnaire survey method from employees in 7 hotel enterprises operating in Ankara. Mete et al. discovered that leaders can encourage employees' career satisfaction by supplying the necessary assistance, mutual influence, confidence, appreciation, and

speaking competently with their employees. Secondly, LMX has a positive influence on the innovative work behaviors displayed by the employees and those leader interactions with the members of the workforce can influence the performance of the organizations. When employees feel comfortable conveying their views, behaving authentically without fear of reprisal, and contributing to work-related decisions, they likely also feel empowered (Randel et al., 2018)

# **Organizational Performance**

Organizational structure and culture motivate and influence follower performance; a poorly organized organizational structure and culture mean that there will be low output, less assignment of work, no encouragement provided, and consolidated decisions. Organizations with high follower performance excel in achieving high productivity and operational efficiency, as well as profitability and effectiveness with the added effect of improved organizational performance (Beltrán-Martín & Bou-Llusar, 2018; Diamantidis & Chatzoglou, 2019; Nguyen et al., 2020). Organizational performance depends on individual follower performance (Paais & Pattiruhu, 2020) but bored and undervalued followers are less efficient and productive.

According to Njoroge and Kwasira (2015), organizational performance is determined by task-related activities, exclusive rights to activities, and follower attitude toward work. The signs of a successful organization are in the value, strategy, efficiency, and profitability of the organization (Abdullah & Othman, 2019). To improve organizational performance, the leaders must appreciate followers' actions, motivate followers, and protect and strengthen financial management (Hanić & Jevtić, 2020).

Hussain and Shahzad (2018) opined that organizational performance increases when high-quality LMX is perceived by followers. For improved organizational performance, followers must implement the values and norms of the organization (Nguyen, et al., 2020). Tensay and Singh (2020) acknowledged that organizations that establish clear selection criteria give the followers the chance to develop their skills and services through a complete performance appraisal system, balanced reward system, including the followers in decision making, allows the follower to become more involved and productive. Using information technology for storing, retrieving, and sending information in organizations can improve organizational performance (Widjaja et al., 2020). Nguyen et al., (2020) opined that having a strong organizational culture is vital for followers to carry out organizational activities that lead to the improvement in organizational performance.

Organizational practices can improve organizational performance through incentives, training, selective employment, job security, and delegation & self-supervised teams (Anwar & Abdullah, 2021). HR management (Anwar & Abdullah, 2021; Para-González et al., 2018), knowledge, creativity, and organizational climate for innovation (Shanker et al., 2017) are stimulants to organizational performance. Aligning follower training, assessment, career opportunities with organizational strategies is an indispensable aspect that influences organizational performance (Anwar & Abdullah, 2021). To improve performance, the leader must establish suitable plans and schedules to complete more tasks within a shorter period (Zafarullah & Pertti, 2017).

# The Influence of Leader-Follower Relationship on Organization Performance

Some actions influence the established norms and expectations in the leader—follower relationship when building a strong and quality relationship between leaders and followers. These actions tend to encourage the trust established by individuals causing performance improvement. When trust is broken it is hard to influence the follower even when the leader is active. The energy limit between the leader and follower remains positive and helpful when the relationship is free from misconduct. The leaders are liable to establish the conditions that motivate and encourage the followers to improve the performance of the organization (Nguyen et al., 2020). Positively active leaders tend to negatively impact cautious followers' productivity.

According to Lee and Ha□Brookshire (2018), the follower's voluntary commitment within an organization improves organizational performance through appreciating and respecting the role of followers. These unusual commitments from the follower happen when the leaders make sure followers are satisfied and engaged in their jobs by focusing on positive strategies to ensure improved follower productivity (Van Elst & Meurs, 2016). Diamantidis and Chatzoglou (2019) maintained that leaders who vigorously support their followers' job-related actions permit them to improve through the influence of both organizational climate and job environment which improves the general organizational performance. For the growth and survival of the organization, follower engagement and development are important while job satisfaction increases individual and organizational performance (Marnewick, 2017).

The vital factors to improved organizational performance are creating a balance

between the needs of followers, the demands and capabilities of the company's organization, and quality HR (Paais & Pattiruhu, 2020). These factors are also required to build a high-quality leader-follower relationship. The leaders who establish a high-quality relationship and have respect for their followers experience increased follower performance both in terms of technical ability, ability conceptual, responsibility, initiative, and interpersonal relationship skills which promotes high follower performance and expects improved organizational performance (Nguyen et al., 2020). Tensay and Singh (2020) asserted that a high-leader–follower relationship encourages followers to be engaged in their roles and aimed to improve organizational performance. Access and support for follower training activities, and motivation to innovate and carry out risky initiatives improve organizational performance (Soares & Perin, 2020).

Heriyadi et al. (2020) maintained that a high-quality leader—follower relationship, work-life balance, and job satisfaction, can improve all the positive and productive follower actions and behaviors that are not part of their formal job description. If the followers experience work-life balance and job satisfaction, then there will be improved organizational performance. Adil and Qaiser (2020) argued that a high-quality leader—follower relationship increases work-related stress therefore, the quality must be managed to aid improved follower productivity and performance. Perhaps the followers are stressed at work, the organizations might experience a setback in performance. Followers who experience high-quality leader—follower relationships and work related-feedback tend to accept challenging tasks which aid them to improve organizational performance (Xie et al., 2020). To increase workplace outcomes, the managers should enhance the

quality of the LMX relationship and that LMX notional improvement might be achieved by unavoidable attention to its role in shaping workplace outcomes such as communication satisfaction and turnover intention.

The leader–follower relationship is limited to a formal or professional relationship where the leader pushes the followers to contribute by creating cultures that will establish a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance (Insan & Masmarulan, 2021). The leader–follower relationship enables followers with more well-matched role-taking, adapted role making, and effective routinizing with an employer by making himself more committed with the organization (Leach, 2005) to improve organizational performance. Organizations that want to experience improved performance must train their leaders to establish a high-quality leader–follower relationship (Xie et al., 2020). The leaders establish high-quality leader–follower relationships by training workers with skills, increasing follower competence, and providing opportunities for followers to help solve the complexity by increasing follower engagement and organizational performance (Insan & Masmarulan, 2021). The leader–follower relationship encourages the leader and followers to consider consensual problems which improve follower and organizational performance (Xie et al., 2020).

Jawahar and Schreurs (2018) in their quantitative study used the theoretical approach to explain the relationship between LMX quality and counterproductive performance, and the conditions under which this relationship is pronounced. The researchers argued that high-quality LMX relationships will strengthen professional self-efficacy lowering the probability of counterproductive performance, whereas low-quality

LMX relationships will undermine professional self-efficacy and the resulting feelings of dissatisfaction will support counterproductive performance. Collecting data from a sample of high-tech professionals to test the hypotheses Jawahar and Schreurs found out that work-related self-efficacy carried the effect of LMX quality on counterproductive performance, but only for workers who have longer supervisor-subordinate relationship tenure. Lapointe et al. (2020) in qualitative research evaluated the impact of a self-related attribute in LMX relationships and how they are related to work outcomes. The research was based on the social exchange theory. The researchers suggested that LMX is based on a social exchange mechanism and expects improved work performance through increased organizational commitment. The researchers found out that the quality of the relationship between employees and supervisors strengthens the relationship between LMX social comparison and commitment and is a driving force for work outcomes. Again, the relational self-concept contributes to shaping individuals' attitudes toward the organization in response to LMX social comparison, showing that employee performance may be more influenced by contextual factors than job attitudes.

Siddique et al. (2020) used the mixed-method statistical approach to test the hypothesis for linking authoritarian leadership to employee organizational embeddedness, LMX, and performance in a high-power distance culture: a mediation-moderated analysis. Siddique, et al. discovered that authoritarian leadership exercises a negative impact on subordinates' job satisfaction and performance through poor quality LMX and weak employee the quality of being firmly and deeply ingrained in the organization. The researchers concluded that a good work environment cultivates high-quality LMX

relationships and employee firmness to the organization which prevents the impact of the negative effect of authoritarian leadership on subordinates' job satisfaction and performance. Based on the social exchange theory, Shen (2019) investigated cognitive LMX differences between supervisors and subordinates. Shen used the quantitative method to explore the influence of organizational identification on organizational citizenship behavior directed toward organizations and toward individuals, the moderating effects of turnover intention, and the differences in the moderating effects of supervisors' ratings of LMX quality and subordinates' ratings of LMX quality in the process. In the study, the researcher revealed that the leader relationship with the subordinates had no significant effect on organizational identification and organizational citizenship behavior relationship, but the subordinate LMX strengthens the LMX relationship positively. Shen concluded that organizations that improve the way subordinates identify with the organizational strategies motivate them to perform more action behaviors toward the organization and fellow employees while subordinates' behavior and actions can be influenced by the quality of the LMX leading to being more productivity.

In another quantitative investigation, Anand et al. (2018) represented characteristic i-deals as distinguishing resources that form LMX relationships in workgroups. Using the data from the sample of software engineers and their managers from India, the researchers explored LMX as the connections in ideals-outcome relationships within the context of a workgroup, and thus extend LMX theory to the context of a new employment relationship where employees increasingly demand person-

specific work arrangements. The researchers used the cross-level moderated mediation analyses on multi-source data obtained from the respondents. The finding of the research is that LMX acts as an intermediary between employees' i-deals and their effects on job performance and citizenship behaviors. Rashid et al., (2018) applied the quantitative methodology to establish the impact of leader and member exchange (LMX) on organizational commitment at the individual level. The Social exchange theory and LMX were used as the conceptual framework for the study. The researchers collected the data used for the research from the faculty members working in higher educational institutes in two cities in Pakistan. Rashid et al. used the four-factor model of the study (LMX, affective commitment, normative commitment, and employee voice behavior) in the researchers found that high-quality LMX leads to the improved affective and normative commitment of employees, have a positive influence on the affective and normative commitment of employees and that LMX predicts an individual's affective and normative commitment. The researchers concluded that for an effective running of an organization and improved performance, the authorities should encourage positive supervisorsubordinate relationships and managers should pay more attention to the quality of the LMX

Manata (2020) explored the extent to which task and social cohesion mediate the effects of LMX differentiation on team performance using the quantitative method. The result of the study revealed that teams with lower LMX differentiation promote higher team performance and social cohesion. and that supervisors who develop more reasonable and impartial relationships across subordinates are better able to promote task

coordination and unity, which in turn fosters a cohesive and productive working environment. Manata in this study indicated that a leader, who engages in different types of exchange patterns with the employee, forms different quality exchange relationships to stimulate higher team performance.

Followers who experience a high-quality relationship with their leaders tend to have a positive attitude towards their duties and are easily motivated to input more into the organization resulting in high follower performance and job satisfaction. This is because they have access to the leader and receive more support than those in a poorquality relationship. Ultimately, the followers are expected to exhibit high performance after experiencing a close relationship with the leader. Greater expectations await the follower who is experiencing a high-quality leader—follower relationship and they are expected to exhibit good characters in the workplace. Therefore, the end is expected to be improved organizational performance. Followers that perceived low-quality relationships from the leader create unnecessary pressure and anxiety leading to followers forming personal space which the person does not wish to be invaded.

#### **Transition**

In Section 1, I highlighted followers' perceptions of their leaders' behaviors as well as how low and high-quality leader—follower relationships could affect organizational performance. I emphasized several factors that could influence how to sustain positive leader-employee relationships to increase organizational performance. The research I conducted was on the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance.

The LMX theory is the suggested means to measure the leader–follower relationship across the organization to determine the influence of the relationships in promoting organizational performance (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). The LMX focuses on how the quality of the leader–follower relationship improved the leader, follower, and organizational performances (Northouse, 2021), and is important to organizational performance (Uhl-Bien, 2006). The LMX concept which is a two-way process is based on the right to equality and mutual respect between the leader and follower, the leader–follower leader–follower and leader–follower are used reciprocally without making any difference (Uhl-Bien et al., 2020). The leaders' awareness of the LMX concepts establishes quality leader–follower relationships through ethics, motivations, and job satisfaction causing a huge turnaround of the leader on the follower and the organization. However, some leaders in oil-servicing organizations lack strategies to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance.

To explore the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance, a qualitative case study that involved interviewing participants and collecting and analyzing data was necessary. The LMX theory was used as the conceptual framework for the study, while the main question that captures the basic goals and was used to guide the direction of the study was what strategies do leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to develop and sustain high-quality leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance? This question was used to develop specific questions used for data collection and analysis. I developed nine interview questions related to the purpose statement and the research questions

which were answered by the 14 managers of a leading oil-servicing company in Nigeria. This study was significant because it explores effective leadership strategies that influence leader-member relationships for improved organizational performance.

Section 2 included a description of the research design and approach I exploited to understand the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance. Section 2 also included the description of my role as the researcher in a qualitative single-unit case study, population and sampling, ethical research principles, data collection, and analysis techniques and concludes with a transition to Section 3. Section 3 included, a presentation of the findings, recommendations for action and further research, and reflections of my experience within the doctoral study process and concluded with a summary of my doctoral study and the results achieved.

#### Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore strategies for strengthening leader–follower relationships that can improve organizational performance. In Section 1, I identified the general and specific business problems, the purpose, nature, and significance of the study, and a literature review of the current business problem offering a research question specific to the business problem. Section 2 covers the purpose of this qualitative case study, the role of the researcher, the participants, the method and design of the study, the ethical aspect of the study, the data collection and analysis, the assurance of reliability and validity, and the credibility of the findings of the study. The section ends with a transition.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen leader–follower relationships and improve organizational performance. The targeted population comprised 14 organizational leaders from an oil-servicing company located in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. The selected leaders successfully implemented and developed strategies that strengthened leader–follower relationships to improve organizational performance. The implication for positive social change is that organizational leaders with high-quality leader–follower relationships tend to have stronger organizational performance, which may allow the organization to increase the number of employees hired from the region, building a stronger community and allowing the individuals a greater means to give back to and support their local community.

#### Role of the Researcher

The role of a researcher in qualitative studies is to collect, organize, and interpret the data acquired (Abildgaard et al., 2016; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015) and to deliver detailed and thoroughly evaluated findings of research using interview protocols (Yin, 2018). Using the interview protocol to collect data from participants' reactions allows the researcher to understand the view and experience of the participant (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Using the interview protocol as a guide, I collected data that helped me understand the strategies organizational managers used to strengthen leader—follower relationships. To display consistency, the researcher should extract research themes from the participants (Gehman et al., 2018). The researcher must retrieve the thoughts and feelings of the participants while protecting the data of the participants (Sutton & Austin, 2015). My role was to protect the confidentiality and welfare of the participants since I was the data collector for this study.

My role was also to monitor and reduce my biases. To validate the credibility of the research, the researcher should endeavor to mitigate biases (Baker, 2016). The personal value of the researcher can change the methods of evaluations in qualitative studies (Dean, 2017). The researcher as an observer must understand the difficulty of inappropriate interpretation of the countering view of the participants (Gubrium, & Holstein, 2002). To mitigate personal bias the researcher needs to expose any bias (Harvey, 2015). I used the interview protocol and offered questions that aligned with the research question and the method of analysis to prevent personal bias. Further, credibility, dependability, conformity, transferability, and authenticity are the

characteristics of a trustworthy researcher (Elo et al., 2014). I worked to build trust so that participants responded honestly.

# **Participants**

Selecting participants for qualitative research is a decision that involves choosing those who understand the phenomenon of the study (Kuper et al., 2008; Palinkas et al., 2015). I selected the participants based on the research questions and the theoretical concept of the study. The researcher should identify suitable organizations with participants that are willing to share their views on the phenomenon of study (Yin, 2018). I sought managers who have worked for 5 years and above whose careers in management and leadership had the potential to yield insight into strategies that strengthen leader—follower relationships for improved organization performance. I selected managers from an oil-servicing organization based in Port Harcourt city Nigeria to participate in the study. The selected managers were knowledgeable and willing to share their experiences to benefit the study.

To gain access to the participants, I obtained approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB; approval no. xxxxxx). Then I visited the organization's HR department to explain my intentions and gave the HR manager the letter of cooperation for approval to reach the appropriate participants who fit the eligibility criteria of my study. I distributed the invitation letters and informed consent forms from Walden IRB to the chosen participants. The informed consent includes the purpose of the study, privacy of research individuals, possible risks and benefits, and withdrawal rights, making it a vital part of the ethical research (Naci & Ioannidis, 2013)

as well as explaining why the research is important for the business community (Nel et al., 2015). I asked all participants who agreed to participate to sign the consent form to confirm their participation after which I arranged for an interview.

I allowed the participants to know they can choose not to reply to questions they are not comfortable with. It is important to inform participants that they have the right not to respond to uncomfortable questions (Hennink et al., 2015). It is also important to use a medium that will allow the participants to trust and be comfortable with the researcher while sharing their views (Kornbluh, 2015). This allows the participants the opportunity to give reliable information (Guillemin et al., 2016). Further, I allowed the participants to choose a suitable place, date, and time for the interview (see Yin, 2018). Additionally, to support the credibility of the results, the researcher should use member checking (Elo et al., 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I returned the results to the participants to check for bias and accuracy of their responses and make corrections where necessary. This action helped validate the correct interpretation of the data.

## **Research Method and Design**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that organizational leaders use to strengthen leader–follower relationships. The subsections include a summary and explanation of my reasons for selecting the research method and design for this study.

#### Research Method

Before undergoing a study, researchers need to select a method that supports their research purpose from the three research methods: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed

methods (Yin, 2018). I selected the qualitative methodology as the research method for this study. Researchers use qualitative methods to acquire openly and understand from the experience the context of a particular topic (Rosenthal, 2016). The qualitative method is used to suggest perceptions that challenge assumed theories' interpretation and expose new theoretical directions (Bansal et al., 2018). Qualitative researchers use open-ended questions and field notes to draw both participant comments and contextual data to contribute to rich, thick data (Levitt et al., 2018).

In contrast, the quantitative research method is used to test the hypothesis by analytically collecting numerical data to answer the research questions (Hesse-Biber, 2016). Quantitative research uses numerical, measurable data to prove or invalidate a hypothesis (Rahi, 2017). The mixed research method combines quantitative and qualitative data to support several research questions or aid consistency (Mason, 2018; Saunders et al., 2019). A mixed research method integrates quantitative and qualitative analysis by combining the power of numbers and stories (Pluye & Hong, 2014). The research did not test hypotheses nor measure and analyze variables to get results, therefore the quantitative method was not a fit method for the study. I also did not choose the mixed method for this study because there are no quantitative aspects to be measured in the study. The qualitative method was most appropriate for my study to explore leadership strategies for improving leader—follower relationships. The qualitative method is appropriate when a researcher wants to explore a precisely real-world context (Yin, 2018).

## **Research Design**

There are five qualitative approaches, which consist of the case study, ethnography, narrative, and phenomenology (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). A case study design was the best methodology to explore the strategies organizational leaders use to strengthen leader–follower relationships. The qualitative single case study design is used to characterize the essential test of a considerable theory and to explore a phenomenon surrounded by real-life issues, and the multiple case study follows a reproduction, not a sampling (Yin, 2018). The case study design demonstrates the fundamental relationship between the involvement and outcome of an organization rather than the experience of the participants (Fusch et al., 2017).

Narrative research centers on asking questions about the life experiences of an individual and discussing the meaning of the experience with the individual (Byrne, 2017). My study was not focused on the life experience of an individual; therefore, the narrative design was not appropriate for my study. The phenomenological research design is used in a qualitative study to understand the unity of lived experiences of a particular group of people to arrive at a description of the nature of the situation (Flynn & Korcuska, 2018), but my study was not focused on the experiences of leaders. The ethnography design is used to observe real-life environmental interactions and struggles (Mason, 2018). I did not use the ethnography design because my study was not focused on leaders' daily struggles and interactions.

Data saturation is achieved when enough information to support the study has been gathered and no further information can be gotten from the data and still can be applied to other similar circumstances (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Researchers continue to gather data until data saturation (Braun & Clarke, 2019). To achieve data saturation in qualitative research, the researcher should use random sampling of various participants using questions related to the research topic (Tran et al., 2017). It is important that the researcher selects the right group of participants and uses structured interview questions to collect information from multiple participants as are the method to reach data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Again, an appropriate and adequate sample size enables data saturation (Morse, 2015). I intended to attain saturation by interviewing 14 organizational leaders from an oil-servicing company, which made a proper sample to help replicate the collection process.

# **Population and Sampling**

## **Population**

The target population for this study consisted of managers who have successfully implemented strategies that have strengthened leader–follower relationships. The aim of the study limits the population to the part of the study (Yin, 2018). It is recommended that qualitative studies require a minimum sample size of at least 12 to reach data saturation (Fugard & Potts, 2015) in a homogeneous population (Boddy, 2016).

Therefore, I chose 14 managers who have successfully implemented strategies to improve leader–follower relationships. The criteria used for selection of the participants included those who (a) worked as managers for 5 years and above, (b) had careers in management and leadership that can yield insight into strategies that strengthened leader–follower relationships, (c) were not less than 30 years of age, and (d) were a strategic decision-

maker such as the procurement manager, drill manger, and the base manager in the organization.

## Sampling

Sampling in qualitative research is a group of people, groups, environments, and situations that will participate in the research (Flick, 2018) and produce quality and rich data (Hennink et al., 2017). The qualitative sampling method is linked to data saturation (Malterud, et al., 2016). According to Saunders et al. (2019), there are two sampling techniques that qualitative researchers employ, probability and non-probability sampling. The probability sampling technique involves random selection while the non-probability sampling allows convenience or non-random selection allowing easy data collection (Elfil & Negida, 2017). Probability sampling is applied to quantitative research with sampling questions (Etikan & Bala, 2017). I did not use the probability technique as my study is not quantitative.

The types of non-probability sampling techniques are quota sampling, purposive sampling, volunteer sampling, and random sampling (Saunders et al., 2019). The quota sampling technique allows the researcher to select participants based on the attributes and qualities of the population for relational representation (Etikan & Bala, 2017). The quota sampling method was not used as there were no special attributes set to allow for participation. Volunteer sampling allows self-select participants to become while the random sampling technique involves identifying the target population and selecting the number of participants from the population (Mattalia et al., 2020). I did not use volunteers nor did I have the intention to randomly pick participants, therefore the

volunteer and random sampling techniques were not used.

Purposive sampling allows the researcher to select participants based on the researcher's knowledge and judgment (Basri et al., 2020) and on a specific objective that is linked to responding to the research questions (Etikan & Bala, 2017). I used the purposive sampling technique because I have targeted participants in the selected oil-servicing organization with features that are related to the scope of the study.

#### **Data Saturation**

Data saturation is used to estimate sample size in a qualitative study, it also points out when the researcher experiences repetition of information in data collection (Guest, et al., 2020). To achieve data saturation, the researcher will have to plan for a sample that meets the criteria of the research (Hennink, et al., 2017) and repetition reasoning (Yin, 2018). Saunders, et al. (2019) opined that research goals and consistency is achieved when the research participants meet eligible criteria. Flynn and Korcuska (2018) maintained that researchers can reach data saturation by applying the interview method of data collection. The aim of data saturation in research is to produce a reliable, valid, and reasonable result from the data collected (Palinkas et al., 2015).

Data saturation in qualitative research focuses on improving rigor, validity, quality, and credibility (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Hennink et al., 2017). I ensured data saturation was reached by watching out for the appearance and lessening of new themes and codes from the selected participants. The two types of data saturation are thematic saturation and theoretical saturation (Guest et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2019).

According to Fusch and Ness (2015), the thematic saturation happens when there is no

appearance of new codes or themes while the theoretical deals with no emerging of new parts of the focus theory in the analysis process. The thematic saturation, member checking, and semi-structured interviews were used to address my research question.

#### **Ethical Research**

Ethical principles are used by scholars to ensure adherence to accuracy, transparency, protection of participants, and acknowledgment of academic property (Levitt, et al., 2018). To ensure the researcher conducts ethical research, there is a need for the IRB to review and approve the research and the informed consent form (Perrault & Keating, 2018). The values that guide the researcher during the research include (a) respect for persons, (b) independence, (c) protection of defenseless and weak people, (d) beneficence, and (e) justice, where respect forms the basis for the other four (Resnik, 2018; Wester, 2011). Researchers should consider the mentioned values to conduct ethical research. Shaw and Satalkar (2018) maintained that honesty, transparency, and objectivity in research exceed wrongdoing or unlawful conduct. I made sure I treated the participants in a way that will not violate the ethical research guideline. The researcher needs to protect the human participants, ensuring that the participants are free to decide to partake in the study (Arifín, 2018).

An informed consent form was used to instruct and educate the participants about the risk, benefits, and reasons for the research allowing the participant to make a voluntary decision to participate in the research. The participants are informed through the form about the process and steps for the interview and the withdrawal process (Kidney & McDonald, 2014). Therefore, I included the informed consent form to let the

participants know that they were embarking on a voluntary decision which has its risk and benefits, and the contact of the researcher and chair for further queries, I also ensured that the participants sign the consent part of the form showing that they understood the risk and benefits of participating in the research and that they could withdraw at any time and that I will destroy the data of the participants that withdraw.

I used a password-protected computer and encrypted cloud-based backup to store the data collected for the study and I stored the hard copies of the forms and interview protocol in a well-protected place for five years after which I will destroy them to maintain confidentiality. I made sure the data were not used outside the study and that the names and organization of the participants were not included in the documents. Finally, Walden University IRB approval number for this study was included in my document.

#### **Data Collection Instruments**

I served as the primary data collection instrument to have better insight and personal access to the data of the research study. The role of the researcher as the primary data collector is essential for quality qualitative research (Mason, 2018; Yin, 2018). A qualitative researcher must use a research question to establish a proper data collection instrument (Creswell & Poth, 2016). An interview is an important instrument for data collection in a case study (Ridder, 2017), and in survey research (Saunders et al., 2019). The researcher uses a semi-structured interview with already set interview questions and probing questions to clear the interview questions during the conversation (Bernard, 2018; Goad & Jones, 2017; Yin, 2018) to get in-depth information (Saunders et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Ufua, et al., (2020) used the semi-structured interview to examine the

application of leadership styles to address operational complexities in private organizations in Nigeria. Dunn and Moore (2020) explored explore and describe the learning experienced by second-year undergraduate students serving as peer mentors to first-year students within a leadership-themed living-learning community with data collected from a semi-structured interview. Likewise, I used the semi-structured interviews and assessed the organizational documents to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations used to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance. The researcher uses a pre-planned interview protocol that includes the introduction, purpose, confidentiality process, permission to record, and pattern of notetaking to gain the confidence of participants (Durdella, 2019). I used an interview protocol (Appendix A) to guide the interview process.

To improve the validity and reliability of the research, I used member checking and methodological triangulation across different cases, cross-checking the extra notes, and audio recordings. Methodological triangulation involves gathering information using diverse options (Denzin, 1973). Triangulation is used in a qualitative study to test the constancy of the data (Fusch et al., 2018) and member checking allows the researcher to summarize and understand the responses of the participant, which enables the researcher to interpret each response correctly (Thomas, 2017). According to Mayer (2015), collecting data from three sources enables triangulation to improve the validity and reliability of research. The data I used for triangulation includes interviews, observations, and relevant organizational documents such as the leader and follower performance

management documents, and the organizational website.

### **Data Collection Technique**

Data collection is an ordered-planned activity used to gather evidence and information from experienced participants to help answer the research questions (Creswell & Poth, 2016). The main data collection technique for this study is the semi-structured interview that was conducted face-to-face between the participants. The semi-structured interview is used when the researcher is required to ask probing questions while seeking to understand the opinion of the participant on leadership policies (Yin, 2018) and leadership management skills when there is a need to develop more themes (Flick, 2018). The semi-structured interview can be daunting and thought-provoking for a researcher who is new to qualitative study despite the reason for choosing this method for data collection (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019). The semi-structured interview is very time-consuming, labor-intensive, and requires interviewer cleverness and skills (Newcomer et al., 2015) but the interviews are conducted only once, with a group or individual, using a planned interview question (Jamshed, 2014).

According to Newcomer et al. (2015), it is important that the researcher considers and respects the time of the participants and works towards at most one hour, so both the researcher and the participants do not get tired. I made sure that my interviews happen at a suitable time for the participants and in a quiet place free of distraction and comfortable for the participant. I drafted the questions in such a way that they will last no longer than 1 hour. The researcher should take note of comments and observations to read as interpretation and aids in the understanding of the phenomenon described by the

participants' conduct in response to the questions (Yin, 2018). I reminded the participants of the informed consent process, the interview format, the recording and note-taking, and their right to withdraw at any point before the consent forms are signed.

The audio recording interviews, allow the researchers to transcribe data that is secured, accurate, permanent, and transferable (DeFelice & Janesick, 2015). I transcribed the audio recording and notes and asked the participants to analyze the interview transcript for any inconsistencies. I performed member checking of the transcribed audio recording. Member checking is sharing the outcome of research with the participant and allowing the participants to check for errors in interpretation to ensure the credibility of the research (Candela, 2019). The researcher's summary and understanding of participant replies enable an accurate interpretation of each response (Thomas, 2017). Researchers use triangulation to support the validity and established answers to a research phenomenon from various perspectives (Flick, 2018; Fusch & Ness, 2015). I used methodological triangulation to increase the credibility of the study.

I searched the website of the organization to understand its objectives, goals, and values of the organization. I asked the participants for documents that were relevant to the study which they are willing to share. Finally, I evaluated past studies on the strategies leaders used to improve leader—follower relationships for improved organizational performance to compare my results.

#### **Data Organization Technique**

The qualitative data is made up of piles of words and observations (Johnson, et al., 2010) which can be organized and reduced into important lumps by coding regarding

their relationship (Yin, 2018). The principle for which the data of a qualitative study is organized is important (Yin, 2018). Arranging the data from the interview protocol, interview questions, field notes, and results are steps to an organization of data (Johnson, et al., 2010). After the collection of data, I stored the collected data in a password-protected laptop to secure them. I used cloud back up and external disk for data backup and a USB stick for the audio files and coding. All hard copies of relevant documents were stored on a shelf and will be destroyed after five years as instructed by the IRB regulations. Phillips and Lu (2018) described the NVivo qualitative software as a tool that can be used to import, organize, and text code data files. I used NVivo to transcribe the audio files into mp3 format, code, and groupings.

## **Data Analysis**

Data analysis is the process of providing value and understanding of the collected data (Yin, 2018). Yin (2016) identified the following process for data analysis, compiling the data, categorizing the data, rearranging based on the theme, translating the data, and describing the emergent theme. I followed the listed order to develop the themes from the collected data. Using thematic analysis allows the researcher to label, organize, and interpret the theme developed from the collected data. Researchers use thematic analysis to label, organize, and interpret themes across a data set (Yin, 2018). Therefore, I used thematic analysis to label, organize, and interpret themes across a data set. The developed themes from the research cover all components of the whole data and offer answers to the research questions (Nowell, et al., 2017).

The thematic analysis aids the researcher to discover hidden relevant themes

within the data (Yin, 2016). To discover these themes while maintaining rigor and validity, the researcher needs to apply the following guiding principles; open-mindedness, probing to understand better, and allowing the themes to unfold thoughtfully (Sundler, et al., 2019). Using the thematic analysis, the researcher understands the value and the significance of everyday occurrences with clarity on the topic analyzed (Sundler, et al., 2019). For coding, grouping, and theme identification I used the NVivo software version 12 Pro to interpret the data accurately. Data analysis software is used to improve the coding process and theme identification in research (Swygart-Hobaugh, 2019; Yin, 2016) and produce spreadsheets while forming graphic representations of the data (Lune & Berg, 2016). The identified themes were used to compare the results of previous studies and how it relates to the literature review and conceptual framework while the grouping of the themes aided with the presentation of findings, recommendations for future studies, and conclusion of the study.

### Reliability and Validity

A researcher needs to identify the reliability criteria and the validity of the findings of the research (Bryman & Bell, 2015). The reliability of a study shows that it replicates previous research methods and designs and reaches comparable results (Saunders et al., 2019). Qualitative research must establish credibility, transferability, confirmability, and dependability (Hanson, et al., 2017). In this qualitative single case study, I classified the research as credible, dependable, and transferable, thereby verifying this doctoral study as trustworthy. Confirmability in research shows that the study is trustworthy and is based on the perspective of the participants and not influenced

by the researcher Dye, et al., 2000).

### Reliability

I used multiple sources to ensure the study is reliable and addressed the dependability of the study by member checking the data collected during the interview and data saturation. Member checking and data saturation are used to improve the dependability of the findings of a study (Chang, 2014). Member checking is used to verify the interpreted data to assess the trust and confirm the worthiness of the study (Birt, et al., 2016). I sent a copy of the interpreted information to the participants for review and clarification to ensure dependability. I ensured the validity of the data using triangulation from multiple sources. Triangulation is used to clear perspectives and thoughts presented during data analysis to ensure validity (Carter et al., 2014; Leung, 2015).

#### **Validity**

Validity is the measure of the relevance of the method, design, instruments, and information gather in a study (Leung, 2015). Guba and Lincoln (1989) recommended four requirements to validate qualitative research they include credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The validity of research shows that the findings from the data collected are accurate (Shin, 2017). The findings of a study are credible when the participants confirm its authenticity (Trochim, 2006). Validity is reached when the researcher uses numerous questions to explore indications of threat to validity (Teusner, 2016). The validity of a study is threatened if data saturation is not reached (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Therefore, to ensure validity, I made sure the participants went through the

transcripts and the results to allow corrections of the information. I also ensured that while collecting data, I reached the point where no additional information is obtained.

Credibility. Credibility is attained when obtained data are thick, rich, and sufficient to support the study using member checking, peer interviewing, observations, and evidence of the sequence of data collection (Stewart et al., 2017) and ensuring that the findings of the study are based on the participants' perspectives (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In other words, participants of a study are in a better position to decide if the findings of a study are credible (Munn et al. (2014). In addition, researchers maintain credibility by using triangulation by using multiple sources for data collection (Varpio et al., 2017). I ensured member checking and triangulation to improve the credibility of my study.

Transferability. Transferability is the extent to which the findings of the study can be used in another context (Connelly, 2016; Gill, et al., 2018) with little or no discrepancy (Gill, et al., 2018). The setting of the study is revealed to the reader if the researcher provides a full account of the research procedure and the participants (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). The interview protocol is a tool used to gather critical information about the study from the participants (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). I gave well-detailed information about the research procedure and used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to provide an in-depth framework of my study to enable the determination of the transferability of the findings of the study.

**Confirmability.** Confirmability is achieved when the participants can confirm the generated themes as their views and feelings (Connelly, 2016; Marshall & Rossman,

2016). Confirmability is maintained when the researcher concentrates on the collected data, interprets the perspective of the participants without prejudice (Korstjens & Moser, 2018), and discusses the gathered information with professionals to avoid bias (Amankwaa, 2016). I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) as a guide to prob all the participants using the same question to capture all angles for better data analysis. I also maintained detailed field notes and discuss the themes with other professionals to maintain confirmability.

#### **Transition**

Section 2 included an explanation of the project proposal components which includes the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection techniques, data analysis, and the methods of reliability and validity using the selected data analysis tools. Section 3 addressed the presentation of the findings, the application to professional practice, the implication for social change, a recommendation for action, a recommendation for further study, reflections, and the conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen leader—follower relationships to improve organizational performance. The targeted population was initially 15 managers who had successfully implemented these strategies, but one out of the 15 managers went on vacation at the time I was given to proceed for the interview. I complied with all IRB protocols to ensure ethical standards for social science data collection were maintained. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) as a guide for the interview. The participants answered eight open-ended questions (see Appendix B). Five themes emerged through my analysis of the data: (a) leadership styles, (b) motivation, (c), mentoring and coaching, (d) communication method, and I follower engagement. These themes are identified by the study as the strategies to strengthen leader—follower relationships to improve organizational performance.

#### **Presentation of the Findings**

In this study, I explored the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen leader–follower relationships to improve organizational performance, which the research question directly addressed. I conducted semistructured interviews and reviewed relevant organizational documents (e.g., the website of the organization, the leadership training records, the leadership policy records, and the financial yearbook, historical and operations documents of the organization). After reaching data saturation, I imported the audio-recording into Nvivo for transcribing, and I reviewed the transcripts to determine the clarity of information. Then I contacted participants to get clarifications

and corrections on areas that were not clear during the initial interviews. After corrections on the transcripts, I sent the transcript to the participants for review. Upon participants' agreement on a true reflection of their views, I imported the data into Nvivo 12 for analysis and coding. I used codes to identify each participant (001, 002, 003, etc.) and the documents (D1: website, D2: leadership training records, D3: leadership policy records, D4: financial yearbook, and D5: historical and operational documents). Table 1 represents the demographic characteristics of the participants.

 Table 1

 Demographics for Participants

Demographic	Participants $(n = 14)$	Survey sample (%)
Gender		
Male	12	85.71
Female	2	14.29
Prefer not to answer.	0	0
Age		
35 – 44	5	35.71
45 - 54	4	28.57
55 - 64	2	14.29
65 and above	0	0
Prefer not to answer	3	21.43
Experience		
0-5 years	1	7.14
6-10 years	6	42.86
10 years and above	7	50.00

## **Keywords and Phrases**

After analyzing the data, a list of keywords and phrases was generated from the participants' responses, notes, and company documents. Table 2 represents the percentages of the keywords and phrases that made up a theme. Table 3 shows the

frequency of each keyword or phrase as used by all the participants. Five themes emerged through analysis of the data: (a) leadership styles, (b) motivation, (c), mentoring and coaching (d) communication method, and (e) follower engagement.

Table 2Summary of Theme Percentages

	Theme	Percentage (keywords)
Theme 1	Leadership style	29
Theme 2	Motivation	22
Theme 3	Mentoring and coaching	19
Theme 4	Communication method	16
Theme 5	Follower engagement	13

**Table 3** *Keyword Frequency* 

Keyword/Phrase	Frequency
Leadership by example	267
Team building	252
Management by objective	243
Review performances	220
Training	198
Clear and honest communication	180
Open door policy	174
Redundancy	174
Mentor-mentee and coaching	123
Building trust	120
Identifying strengths and weaknesses	116
Don't blanket all issues	109
Difficult human nature	103
Social-cultural differences	92
Motivation	89

Feedback	87
Conducive work environment	87
Protect follower interest	81
Support and encouragement	80
Constructive criticism	78
Decision making	65
Self-control	64
Face-to-face	52
Verbal warning	52
Close door talk	52
Admit mistakes	47
Empathy	46
Follow-up	41
Work pressure	38
Team purpose	37
Give room for corrections	32

### **Theme 1: Leadership Styles**

Leadership style was the first theme that emerged from the data analysis. The theme was made up of 29% of the keywords and phrases used by the participants.

Leadership style factors are the supporting elements that can influence follower performances (Sabastian, 2021). Every leader has a particular pattern they use to impact and inspire the followers to achieve the goals of an organization (Mardiani & Baekhunah, 2021). Although all participants commented on the importance of leadership style, Participants 002, 009, 011, and 013 made points on the importance to develop and strengthen leader–follower relationships for improving organizational performance. Participant 002 shared,

One thing is to first try not to be harsh, we make our team environment a fish environment where we can have fun while working, sometimes people have their problems so I put it into considerations and allow a conducive environment that can help us work well. it is not always the stick way but sometimes we apply the carrot that motivations be used. We don't forget to manage by the organizational objective bringing together the goals and priorities of the organization through which leaders influence the followers to increase outputs.

Participant 009 stated, "the aim of everything that we do in our organization is to try to always improve on performance and ensure that while we are improving on performance, we ensure that the personnel is satisfied through leader directions and control." For Participant 011,

to be an effective leader with a good leader—follower relationship, managers need to earn and keep their direct reports' trust through encouragement and building confidence in them. I try to make them understand that in every challenge there is an opportunity. I let them know that there is going to be pressure and that they will learn on the job. I try my best to give incentives, you might not achieve it all but there will be a show of being the best in speed, safety, and other things. I give out jobs within the capability and competency of the individual, and above all, I encourage you to succeed.

### Similarly, Participant 012 remarked,

I walk the talk. I try to lead by example. Communicating and engaging with the team is essential to improving follower attitude knowing fully well that leadership is a process in which an individual influences the behavior and attitudes of other people. Leading by example helps other people see what lies ahead and act swiftly to counter any challenges along the way. If a group is led by a person with poor leadership skills, the group will experience frequent conflicts as each person wants to do things their way thereby lowering the behavioral attitude of the followers. Again, let them know that no one is perfect by admitting to mistakes when it occurs.

Participant 013 drew attention to the leadership style used to improve the leader–follower relationship:

We tend to use the set objectives to delegate duties strategically, we allow the employees to feel free to contribute to the decision-making process not letting

anyone's contribution look rejected, listen deeply to their contribution and corrections and giving them clear and specific objectives.

## Participant 014 shared a different view, stating,

My approach is basically to strengthen the strengths so that we can get more benefits from our strengths. I give an example. Maybe somebody is very good at facilitating things and is not good at equipment use but maybe they need the same person for matching maintenance. So, you can either send the person on training to strengthen the strength or develop the weak part. That's where I get that way. That's the part that's changed some parts of my approach to it. So, I strengthen the strengths and maximize the benefits. We won't ignore the weaknesses, but we spend more time strengthening the strength of this individual.

## Participant 005 stated that

with the organization, we find ourselves and the system that we operate I try to be easy on myself using all involved systemin this all involved system is when we have an objective, we let everybody know the objectives and it turns to be a personal object. when every objective is meant to be understood, there is every opportunity for everybody to be committed to his or her job. the first thing is all involved, we discuss it, is it achievable, is it something, if there is going to be a hindrance, we speak it out this gives us answers on the best way to achieve it.

A review of D3: leadership policy records showed that management by objective and leading by example are accepted leadership styles in the organization, but it encourages leaders to adopt other leadership styles and practice them in situations in

which they can be used. All participants also reported that the policy of the organization supports leadership by example and management by objective. They also accepted using other leadership styles to get things done. However, D1 emphasized the dangers of imitating leadership styles that might not work for the individual, stressing that leading is about genuinely using your physical leadership strengths to inspire and motivate others. The D5: historical and operational document stated that leaders have an outstanding influence on organizational performance through the special skills accorded through training. These skills help the leaders to influence the followers using established visions and objectives. Leaders are expected to delegate tasks efficiently aiming at guiding followers to produce the desired success according to the organizational goal. The organization equips the leader with the skills they need to accomplish a particular goal or objective; therefore, the leaders are expected to direct, guide, and inspire the follower into achieving their objectives too.

#### **Theme 2: Motivation**

Motivation is the second theme to emerge from the data analysis comprising 22% of the keywords and phrases used by the participants. Motivation increases the passion and urge of the follower to work with the zeal to achieve a goal (Mardiani & Baekhunah, 2021). All the participants recognized the benefit of leading by example, team building, and open-door policy as the motivational factors that developed and strengthened leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance. Participants 001, 004, 007, 010, 011, and 013 viewed motivation as a necessary and critical factor that can influence the follower to contribute to productivity and exhibit satisfaction at work.

Motivation allows the followers to understand their responsibilities and the task that they are expected to perform. Followers' motivation is sustained when leaders create room for followers to achieve their goals (Rogelberg, 2016). Participant 001 remarked,

Do you see; the idea of always pointing out and giving clues and words of encouragement, the small words with good incentives and good judgment on the part of a leader goes a long way to motivate the follower. Demonstrate interest in every individual, this shows them I care inspiring them into action. Another thing I do to motivate them is to allow everyone to openly communicate their vision and objectives this allows everyone to work towards helping each other achieve the objectives. If a follower sets an objective that is not smart, we put heads together to get achievable objectives. We work together to push ourselves. If they succeed, I succeed too.

## Participant 004 stated,

to improve productivity is managing by objective and managing your time well.

Make good use of human resources and focus on on-the-job training and personal growth. Improve workplace conditions, offer support and set realistic goals, include and practice positive reinforcement and ensure employees feel happy by positive motivation.

#### Participant 007 commented,

sometimes you send the followers on training, sometimes just allowing them to showcase their strengths so that everybody appreciates it. It's more like what you call positive reinforcement. Everybody likes what you are doing. They appreciate it, so just to develop means to positively reinforce the strengths, one needs is also leader recognition, recognition by management, and recognition by team members. So, the strategy is using all motivational factors to reinforce positive attitudes for positive trends.

#### Participant 011 noted,

I have clarity on what is expected of them constantly engaging with them to build trust between myself and them getting to know their families, getting to know how they are doing, giving them constant updates about how they are developing the company. If any gaps need to be closed, I try to see how I can help them in getting those gaps covered. It might be through training. It might be true mentorship. It might even be true ensuring that they go for the right jobs to give them what they need to build their competence, gain experience and that seems to have them be motivated to want to do better. So that's how I do it. I bet other managers do it in different ways.

# Participant 013 remarked,

recognizing exceptional individuals builds trust between you and the followers and helps improve their ability to work and give their all because it stands as an act of motivation. Creating development opportunities for the followers, booking them for different types of training and establishing clear objectives and goals of the days' plan and measure success at the end of each task is a motivation strategy I use.

## **Theme 3: Mentoring and Coaching**

The third theme mentoring and coaching emerged from the data analysis having 19% of the keywords and phrases used by the participants. Followers can achieve success through constant coaching (King et al., 2021). Coaching, mentoring, and support system is used by leaders to be successful in their job (Stambaugh & Mitchell, 2018). Participant 002 reported,

coaching and mentoring programs are used to improve staff to learn new skills or boost the skills they already have. Performance coaching allows the follower to do the task by themself with little guidance from the leader not taking the work and doing it, my policy is to allow them to do the task and bring feedback to me. I get to know the follower is coached when they can do the task so well and complete it without help, I don't at some point collect the task to complete or allocate to another but I follow up and guide you to completion. So, you do your work, while I can help you to show you how to do it, and where to get information. This helps to build the follower's confidence and competency and encourages peer-to-peer learning.

In support of Participants 002, 003, 006, and 014 confirmed that effective mentoring and coaching practices build that confidence in followers allowing them to build the appropriate problem-solving skills. Participant 005 also remarked,

the organization has set up mentor-mentee and coaching programs so the followers can give progress feedback to their mentors while the mentor inspires and supports the follower to provide significant results. When coaches and

mentors give positive feedback, the followers feel they are valued by the organization and tend to impact positively to improve productivity.

Additionally, Participants 007, 010, and 012 concluded that the mentoring and coaching program allows the followers to strengthen their strengths and develop their weaknesses through training. Only the coaches know where the weaknesses lie and know the best ways to help develop these areas. The bond between the mentors and mentees increases with a positive follower progress report. Participants 002 and 012 agreed that the leaders have different coaching and mentoring styles making the followers attain career success at a different pace. These participants agreed that mentoring and coaching followers help in establishing a strong leader—follower relationship and that a mentorship and coaching program allows the coaches and mentors to identify followers that are facing problems and tend to solve the problems before it escalates.

From the relevant documents I analyzed, D2, D3, and D5 covered the mentoring and coaching aspects of the organization. It listed out that the mentor-mentee program of the organization was set up to enable everyone to get a mentor outside of his team and a coach who is a team member, this allows the individual to focus on their growth and contributes more to the teamwork which makes the team more effective. It is a self-development pattern for the mentor and boosts the organizational skill development program. Coaching and mentoring are used to help the staff of the organization to acquire innovative abilities and develop existing skills. In all, it is the culture of the organization to build trust, relation, guidance, and expand capabilities through mentoring and coaching.

### **Theme 4: Communication Method**

Communication method emerged as the fourth theme in the data analysis and made up of 16% of the keywords and phrases used by the participants. All participants have agreed that communication method is important in all conversations. For effective communication, whether good or bad the atmosphere must be conducive, not tense, and the information must be conveyed to aid understanding. The organization treats information as critical, so they communicate verbally, written, and through email.

Participants 007 and 009 noted that an effective leader should not just talk because he is leading the team but should give a listening ear to other peoples' views of the situation. The saying goes we have two ears and one mouth, therefore, listen more than you speak. In addition, Participant 011 noted,

first is we try not to be antagonistic, delivering bad news is tough. It's even harder when you don't agree with the message or decision you're communicating. The different categories but whether the news is bad or good you will have to be real, don't say it when the person is under pressure, many people have the impulse to try to spin bad news into a positive, get to the point, be clear, and allow your follower forward-looking assurances. With me, clarity is just what communication needs.

Participant 005 responded that "every case is unique whatever is needed to be communicated must be communicated in honesty."

Participants 001, 012, 013, and 014 mentioned that using appropriate words and tone to communicate removes misunderstanding and demotivates the followers.

Therefore, they opined that the leader should communicate goals, objectives, and expectations properly if they need a productive follower. If any information is passed, give room for feedback. Participant 001 said, "only followers that effectively complete their tasks can be productive and individual productivity creates room for collective improvement for the organization only clear communication will lead to effective task completion." Participant 007 added, "constructive feedback and criticism is a strong communication method, arguing that praise can be done publicly while criticism should be done privately behind a closed door." The review of documents D2 and D3 shows that the accepted method for communication is verbal, written, phone calls, emails, and open meetings.

# **Theme 5: Follower Engagement**

The last theme that emerged from the data analysis is follower engagement.

Follower engagement was made up of 13% of the keywords and phrases used by the participants. Follower engagement is the opposite of job stress which encourages the follower to find meaning in work, company culture, and policies and motivates the follower to increase productivity (Riyanto, et al., 2021). The leader–follower relationship improves the work engagement of the followers in strength, commitment, concentration (Rabenu et al., 2019). Constant appreciation encourages follower engagement and dedication to improve organizational productivity (Truss et al., 2013). All participants reported that engaging followers have helped the organization build trust, culture, communication style, and leadership style. These factors have helped improve organizational performance. Participant 008 commented,

My company values followers that show determination and self-confidence and this gives me insight on how to get my team to work accordingly by motivating them to be determined to deliver every task successfully and on time. I allow my followers to balance their work-life and family life this makes them concentrate at work". In his opinion, participant 005 added "treating followers justly and fair positively affect their confidence at work. I try building follower trust through team-building activities and it helps my team succeed. I motivate my followers individually and collectively and it has been a good engagement strategy for me.

# Participant 001 noted,

paying attention to your followers and their request goes a long way to keep them focused, I practice the open-door policy which allows everyone to come and lay their complaint or concern which I look into or escalate to my boss. This strategy increases follower trust and makes them know they are valued.

# Participant 009 had this to say,

I work to understand my followers' strengths and weaknesses this helps me allocate a task to the right person, it increases their trust knowing fully well I have their interest at heart. I also do recognition which encourages them to be loyal and satisfied with their job. Motivation makes them engaged.

## Participant 011 reported

I make sure my followers are booked for training on time, I believe they will be more engaged when they are motivated through development. The organization makes a plan for several pieces of training a follower should take to develop their

skills and competency because competency counts and motivates the individual to put their best.

To support this Participant 014 noted that

One way my organization motivates and engages followers is through approved training and courses. I also allow the followers to air their views, I will rather say my followers have a voice and we constructively exchange information in the team.

Documents D2 and D3 recommended that leaders should support recognition and reward schemes, giving a listening ear to complaints, teamwork, quarterly performance appraisal, constructive feedback, team member training courses to improve the knowledge, skills, and abilities of followers. These activities according to D3 creates value, build trust, source of inspiration, and motivation for the individual. On-the-job training is one of the tools leaders use to develop and motivate followers to put in their best (Ahmad et al., 2014).

In summary, the participants opined that every leader has a unique style that works for them. Every leader has a particular pattern they use to impact and inspire the followers to achieve the goals of an organization (Mardiani & Baekhunah, 2021). Leadership strategies are dynamic, leaders should fine-tune their strategies to suit everyone. Leaders ought to act outside their normal temperament to naturally work with any set of human beings. Adjust always to bring out the best in your followers. Using the management by objective approach leaders should set up actions and plans that will enable the followers to achieve the set objectives. The leadership approach is establishing

and articulating the vision, goals, and objectives with an attainable action plan (Shapira-Lishchinsky & Levy-Gazenfrantz, 2015). The leaders should encourage the followers to be part of the decision-making as it allows the followers to put in their best since the idea is theirs. Followers should be encouraged to be part of the decision process to increase follower engagement (Raj & Zaid, 2014).

The leader needs to operate an open-door policy to allow constant engagement, feedback, and communication between the leader and the followers. It is also important for a leader to see the followers as family, build trust and confidence, create a conducive environment, use acceptable communication methods, and set clear objectives to create a binding bond with the followers. Leaders should identify and understand the individual weaknesses and strengths of the followers and introduce incentives that will motivate the followers. Further, they should build, encourage, and guide followers to success. The styles and strategies used by leaders enable the followers to feel deep pleasure, satisfaction, and respect for the work they do (Choi et al., 2017). Leaders are therefore encouraged to engage followers in activities that will encourage them to work on new tasks to enable them to develop their competencies which will lead to improving the performance of the organization. The leaders who engage and encourage followers by implementing strategies that improve organizational performance are significantly rewarded (Oppong et al., 2017). The findings of this doctoral study support the literature found in the literature review and conceptual frameworks on effective business practices that identified the strategies for strengthening leader–follower relationships for improving organizational performance.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings presented the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance. This study can be beneficial to organizational leaders especially those in oil-servicing organizations. Organizational leaders who can include these strategies in varying leadership situations can strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship that can improve organizational performance. Likewise, organizational leaders who can adapt these strategies will remain relevant in their practice. Businesses evolve and expand in the demand to strengthen leader–follower relationships for improving organizational productivity (Sturm et al., 2016).

There is a link between the conceptual framework, the literature review, and the findings of this study. The findings of the study show that understanding the leader—follower relationship allows organizational leaders the opportunity to exploit the strength of their followers to improve organizational performance. The link within the conceptual framework is that the leader—follower relationship focuses on the relationship between the leaders and followers of an organization and is connected to improving organizational performance (Gerstner & Day, 1997). Graen and Uhl-Bien (1995) opined that the LMX theory is associated with measuring the leader—follower relationship across the organization to determine the influence of the relationships in promoting organizational performance. Also, the review of the literature recommends that leaders must be determined to accomplish the organizational goals through constant implementation of strategies that will enable the followers to be engaged towards improved performance

(Keeys & Huemann, 2017). A high-quality leader–follower relationship is characterized by a true alliance between the leaders and the followers by the collaboration that helps organizational leaders to achieve organizational objectives by linking job performance to increase the value of the followers to improve organizational performance. To keep dedicated and loyal followers, organizational leaders must reconsider the strategies they use to successfully engage and motivate trusted followers (Khedhaouria et al., 2017). Leaders with good communication skills boost follower confidence because they feel they are appreciated (Silvius et al., 2017). Leader strategy includes the skills and steps the leader uses to influence the followers collectively and individually to improve desired performance.

The findings identified five strategies to strengthen the leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance namely, (a) adopting a unique leadership style, (b) follower motivation, (c) effective communication (d) mentoring and coaching, and (e) follower engagement practices. Each strategy will be explained according to its applicability within the professional practice. The participants for this study observed the relevance of leadership style as a factor that aids the strengthening of the leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance. The leadership style factors are the supporting elements that can influence follower performances (Sabastian, 2021). The participants reported that the leaders' adopted style is linked to the followers' productivity. Every leader has a particular pattern they use to impact and inspire the followers to achieve the goals of an organization (Mardiani & Baekhunah, 2021). In the agreement, the participants commented that leaders should adopt a unique

leadership style that works for them.

Follower motivation was identified as a necessary and critical factor that can influence the follower to contribute to productivity and exhibit satisfaction at work. Motivation allows the followers to understand their responsibilities and the task that they are expected to perform. Motivating the follower encourages the follower to overcome complexity, stimulates high-quality leader-follower relationships, improves follower engagement, and stimulates followers' keenness to be more productive (Hirschi & Valero, 2017). The participants identified leadership by example, management by objectives, recognition, incentives, team building, training, empathy, ready to coach and mentor followers, engaging followers according to competencies, involvement in decision making, clear communication, measuring performances, and protecting follower interest as means to motivate followers. The motivational factors that influence productivity in a follower are clear communication, goal identification, teamwork, work based on agreement, overtime, leading by example, love/sense of belonging, high-quality leader–follower relationship, and supply of resources (Osabiya, 2015). The reward system and policies are used to motivate the followers to increase their involvement, determination, and performance (Ali & Anwar, 2021a). The participants agreed that coaching and mentoring programs are learning processes used to improve and boost staff's old skills and learn new skills. Mentoring and coaching are two powerful interventions that organizations can implement when attempting to improve their outcomes in human performance (Viera, 2021). Mentoring and coaching is a life-long learning process that aids human behavioral change, development, and growth.

Performance coaching allows the follower to do the task by themself with little guidance from the leader and helps build follower confidence and feedback process. Through coaching and mentoring leaders can also build confidence and perform followers (Woo, 2017). Mentoring and coaching is a life-long learning process that aids human behavioral change, development, and growth (Garvey, et al., 2021).

The participants noted that effective communication strengthens the leader follower relationships for improved performance. Muhammad and Muhammad (2017) noted that the leader's communication style plays a very significant role in shaping employee behaviors. The leader-follower relationship relates to task performance which is strengthened by work structure, team dynamics, and frequent communication by leaders (Walthall & Dent, 2016). Whether the information to be passed to the follower is good or bad the atmosphere must be conducive, non-tensed, and the information must be conveyed to aid understanding. Leaders through communication inspire and motivate their followers to aim toward improved organizational performance (Jiang et al., 2018). The participants identified follower engagement as another strategy that can strengthen a high-quality leader-follower relationship for improved organizational performance. The participants claimed that engaging followers has helped the organization build trust, culture, communication style, and leadership style and influenced the followers into engaging in activities that improve the performance of the organization. The leader follower relationship is influenced by the follower's commitment, trust, respect, and loyalty, and the leader's perception of the follower (Munshi & Haque, 2017) and boosts follower engagement and commitment to the organization and in turn increase

organizational performance (Min-Seong & Dong-Woo, 2017). The level of trust, interaction, support, and rewards are the characteristics that strengthen the leader—follower relationship through understanding and a good working relationship that stimulates the follower engagement and capability to work proficiently to improve job performance (Jyoti & Bhau, 2015).

A high-quality leader–follower relationship is created in a conducive work environment where leaders lead by example, encourage and support team building, manage followers by objective, operate an open-door policy, practice motivation, protect follower interest, and allow constructive criticism and feedback. The findings of this doctoral study incorporated business practices that combine leadership style, follower motivation, effective communicating, mentoring, coaching, and follower engagement. Organizational leaders may strengthen high-quality leader-employee relationships that improve organizational performance using these practices. The result of this study suggests a leader who has confidence in or her ability to carry out necessary leadership behaviors, such as leadership by example, team building, management by objective, review performances, training, clear and honest communication, open-door policy, and motivating others may likely be successful in strengthening high-quality the leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance.

## **Implications for Social Change**

Understanding the strategies to strengthen the leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance is paramount for positive social change.

Organizational leaders that implement a high-quality leader–follower relationship may

have stronger organizational performance. Stronger organizational performance may allow the organization to increase the number of employees hired from the region building a stronger community and allowing the individuals a greater means to give back to and support their local community sustaining the economy. A high-quality leader—follower relationship may allow individuals to create, develop, and build their community by refining the well-being of personnel in an organization. This may in turn bring a positive social change in the organization and community which contributes to the value, dignity, and development of individuals, communities, organizations, and cultures. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations from this doctoral study provided organizational leaders with an understanding of how to positively increase followers' involvement and contribution to improve organizational performance and to satisfy the needs of their families, and the community.

### **Recommendations for Action**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance. While I have explored this research with a focus on leaders working with the oil-servicing company, leaders from various work environments could benefit from the study findings. My recommendations extend to the private and social sectors, as well as community-based members, especially the current and future organizational leaders who are interested in understanding the strategies that organizational leaders use to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship to improve organizational performance.

The first recommendation is that organizational leaders must develop a highquality leader—follower relationship with their followers to improve organizational performance. Leaders must adapt and recognize the unique leadership style that works for them. The objective of every leader must be to increase organizational performance, and this can be achieved through follower development, leadership by example, encouraging and motivating the followers to be more productive using the incentive and reward system, involving the followers in decision making, and encouraging followers to complete a task on their own. The leaders are expected to be resourceful, observant, and appreciative of every follower, and assist followers to realize their objectives and goals. Leaders must create ideas from the objectives of the organization, manage followers by objective, fervently own set objectives and persistently drive followers to improve organizational performance. Current and future organizational leaders are required to perform empower and support followers with working tools to ensure improved organizational performance and inculcate a plan of action to develop a culture that strengthens the leader–follower relationship to enable them to challenge problems affecting followers to increase their performance.

The second recommendation is for organizational leaders to create a conducive work environment that will promote workplace safety, growth, and goal achievement encouraging followers to participate actively in work activities that will improve organizational performance. The followers participating fully in work activities will improve follower engagement and create an environment interested in the improvement of organizational performance. Organizational leaders must manage and support

followers through task performance and provide engaging feedback reports on task progress and any possible barriers affecting follower performance. Mentorship and coaching programs should be encouraged to allow the followers to learn and relearn while on the job. Inculcating the mentoring and coaching program allows the followers to reinforce their strengths and develop their weaknesses. Organizational leaders must understand that engaging followers helps organizations build trust, culture, communication style, and leadership style that improves organizational performance.

The call for action is for organizational leaders to endeavor to understand the strength, weaknesses, and behavioral patterns of the followers this will help them adopt the best leadership style that can influence the followers to improve organizational performance. Applying these recommendations should contribute to leader experience, leadership skills, and leadership style that will improve leadership knowledge. This research and its findings will be shared with the organizational leaders of other sectors, the state civil service commission, other professionals, and researchers through training and conferences. I plan to submit this work to leadership and business journals. I will send the summary of the findings of this study to the 14 participants through email.

### **Recommendations for Further Research**

I used a qualitative single case study to explore the strategies that leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen a high-quality leader—follower relationship to improve organizational performance. One limitation of the study is the use of a single case study which limits the external validity of the study. According to Singh (2014), a single case study poses the limitation of external validity, which is often a major source

of criticism within case study research. Another limitation of this study includes the sample size, which is small given that data for this qualitative case study is confined to only managers of an oil-servicing company in the southern part of Nigeria. Therefore, future researchers can expand the study to different geographical locations, several business sectors, and a more diverse and larger population to explore whether other organizations use the same strategies to strengthen the leader—follower relationship for improved organizational performance and add to the knowledge of the existing literature. I propose three recommendations for future research.

The first recommendation for future research is to conduct the research using the quantitative method. The quantitative method will allow the future researcher to make conclusions from the deductive point of view. The core idea being explored by the present research study was to uncover the experiences and views of the participants within the context of the leader—follower relationship on organizational performance. Therefore, empirical research could test a hypothesis of the impact of project success using hard or soft leadership styles. Further, expanded research could test the hypotheses of the five themes identified in this study to determine which would significantly strengthen the leader—follower relationship for improved organizational performance.

Secondly, future researchers could integrate the followers' views on strategies to strengthen the leader–follower relationship for improved organizational performance to have a broader scope of contribution in the study. Thirdly, future researchers could consider comparing leadership strategies across different organizational cultures.

Different organizational cultures may influence the strategies for strengthening the

leader-follower relationship for improved organizational performance.

#### Reflections

I started the DBA program journey with lots of expectations, my expectations were brought to a stop when I had to drop out due to a health issue of a family member. I was able to come back after 3 years filled with expectations as I had worked as a project manager for 2 years. After my first residency, I became more excited about the journey. I began to think about my dissertation topic and the faculty members that were at the residency elaborated more on what is expected and how to carry on with the study. I immediately joined the second residency which also was virtual where I was able to establish the reason for this study with earnest anticipation of the result and findings.

The coursework provided the foundation and foothold for the expedition. I would like to share my personal experiences, struggles, and happy moments during the dissertation process hoping that it will be the bridge to all gaps to others through the insights I will provide. I have come a long way having completed the dissertation through thick and thin. The dissertation stages were challenging, whenever I feel I am getting unfocused I move back to read my goal: My career goal is to become a professional project manager. "That being committed to motivating and helping other project manages to become effective leaders". My goal kept me motivated and committed with diligence. My commitment to attain my set goal and the support of my faculty members have made me enjoy all stages of the dissertation from start to finish.

This research has added immeasurably to my academic knowledge I also learned valuable skills and lessons that will be beneficial to my professional career. One of the

most interesting lessons learned through the dissertation particularly was the reasoning required to analyze a situation. During the research, I noted that it is important that I provide clear and thorough analysis to the reader, and how to dispute points in a modest, rational, and comprehensible way. So, I concluded that clear and thorough analysis can provide solutions to problems while disputing points logically. This is a good problemsolving skill I acquired, which will be used in my professional and academic life. My perspective of the ethics, methodologies, ways of conducting research, and my role as a researcher expanded and therefore makes me understand the usefulness of ethics, methodologies, and roles in offering competent and quick solutions to future professional problems.

The 14 participants in this qualitative single case study were experienced and knowledgeable about the topic and highlighted the value and implication of strengthening high-quality leader—follower relationships for increased organizational performance. The findings from this doctoral study enhanced my knowledge about the strategies for strengthening high-quality leader—follower relationships. Understanding the strategies to strengthen high-quality leader—follower relationships for improved organizational performance can provide me with a competitive advantage in my current leadership role and future business endeavors. Finally, I am fulfilled and pleased to have accomplished my goal which is academic achievement and the opportunity to improve in organizational leadership.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that

leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to strengthen a high-quality leader—follower relationship to improve organizational performance. The LMX theory was the conceptual framework used for this research study. The research method and design determined the research scope, the data collection approach, and the analysis technique. For the data collection, I interviewed 14 organizational leaders of an oil-servicing organization and reviewed the organization's website, leadership training records, leadership policy records, financial yearbook, and historical and operational documents. I triangulated the data to validate the evidence obtained from the different sources and conducted member checking, and I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) to give credibility to this research. For data analysis, I used the Nvivo version 12 pro software, and five themes emerged through analysis of the data: (a) leadership styles (b) motivation, (c), mentoring and coaching (d) communication method, and (e) follower engagement.

This study's findings align with current literature and the LMX theory. The findings revealed that organizational leaders employ these themes as strategies to strengthen leader–follower relationships for improved organizational performance. All participants agreed that every leader has an exceptional leadership style and strategies that strengthen leader–follower relationships and that leadership strategies are dynamic. The leaders need to improve the strategies that strengthen leader–follower relationships by simply modifying strategies to suit everyone, encouraging organizational performance, and expanding individual career opportunities. The call for action is for organizational leaders to understand the strength, weaknesses, and behavioral patterns of the followers to adopt the best behavioral patterns that the leader can use to influence the

followers to improve organizational performance. This allows the organizational leaders to positively influence social change within the social sector through the mutual alliance to enhance the organization and communities. Finally, with strengthened leader—follower relationships, the organizational performance will improve and sustain the economy of the communities.

#### References

- Abdullah, N. N., & Othman, M. B. (2019). Examining the effects of intellectual capital on the performance of Malaysian food and beverage small and medium-sized enterprises. *International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology*, 10(2), 135–143. <a href="https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Nabaz-Abdullah/publication/331471620">https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Nabaz-Abdullah/publication/331471620</a> Effects of Intellectual Capital on the Perfor mance of Malaysian Food and Beverage Small and Medium-Sized\_Enterprises/links/5c7aa2c6458515831f7cc312/Effects-of-Intellectual-Capital-on-the-Performance-of-Malaysian-Food-and-Beverage-Small-and-Medium-Sized-Enterprises.pdf"
- Abildgaard, J. S., Saksvik, P. Ø., & Nielsen, K. (2016). How to measure the intervention process? An assessment of qualitative and quantitative approaches to data collection in the process evaluation of organizational interventions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1380.
- Adil, M., & Qaiser, F. (2020). Effect of leader-member exchange relationship on occupational stress in the energy sector of Pakistan: A mediating role of job involvement. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 7, 64–87

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.20547/jms.2014.2007105">http://doi.org/10.20547/jms.2014.2007105</a>
- Aggarwal, A., Chand, P. K., Jhamb, D., & Mittal, A. (2020). Leader-member exchange, work engagement, and psychological withdrawal behavior: The mediating role of psychological empowerment. *Frontiers in psychology*, 11, 423. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00423">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00423</a>

- Ahmad, F., Abbas, T., Latif, S., & Rasheed, A. (2014). Impact of transformational leadership on employee motivation in the telecommunication sector. *Journal of Management Policies and Practices*, 2(2), 11–25. <a href="http://doi.org/10.15640/jmpp">http://doi.org/10.15640/jmpp</a>
- Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021a). An empirical study of employees' motivation and its influence job satisfaction. *International Journal of Engineering, Business and Management*, 5(2), 21–30. https://doi.org/10.22161/ijebm.5.2.3
- Ali, B. J., & Anwar, G. (2021b). Strategic leadership effectiveness and its influence on organizational effectiveness. *International Journal of Electrical, Electronics and Computers*, 6(2). <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/eec.62.2">https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/eec.62.2</a>
- Alkahtani, A. H. (2016). The influence of leadership styles on organizational commitment: the moderating effect of emotional intelligence. *Business and Management Studies*, 2(1), 23–34. <a href="http://doi.org/10.11114/bms.v2i1.1091">http://doi.org/10.11114/bms.v2i1.1091</a>
- Al-Madi, F. N., Assal, H., Shrafat, F., & Zeglat, D. (2017). The impact of employee motivation on organizational commitment. *European Journal of Business and Management*, *9*(15), 134–145. https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM/article/view/36891
- Almeida, J. G., Den Hartog, D. N., De Hoogh, A. H., Franco, V. R., & Porto, J. B. (2021). Harmful leader behaviors: Toward an increased understanding of how different forms of unethical leader behavior can harm subordinates. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-021-04864-7
- Almuqati, A. (2021). Employees' perceptions of leader-member exchange and job satisfaction in private sectors in Saudi Arabia. *PalArch's Journal of Archaeology*

of Egypt/Egyptology, 18(14), 384–393.

https://www.archives.palarch.nl/index.php/jae/article/view/8372

Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of cultural diversity*, *23*(3), 121–127.

https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/CREATING-PROTOCOLS-FOR-

TRUSTWORTHINESS-IN-RESEARCH.-

Amankwaa/987e3b05cf2d37b85cfbb7a92955621f6c73f5d6

Ampofo, E. T. (2020). Mediation effects of job satisfaction and work engagement on the relationship between organisational embeddedness and affective commitment among frontline employees of star–rated hotels in Accra. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 44, 253–262.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.06.002

- Anand, S., Hu, J., Vidyarthi, P., & Liden, R. (2018). Leader-member exchange as a linking pin in the idiosyncratic deals Performance relationship in workgroups. *The Leadership Quarterly.* 29(6). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.005</a>
- Andersen, I., Buch, R., & Kuvaas, B. (2020). A literature review of social and economic leader-member exchange. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 1474. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01474
- Anis, E., Ma'arif, S., & Muzakki. (2019). (2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment affect transformational leadership in employee performance.

  \*European Research on Management and Business Economics, 25(3), 144–150.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iedeen.2019.05.001

- Anninos, L. N. (2018). Narcissistic business leaders as heralds of the self-proclaimed excellence. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences, 10*(1), 49–60. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-01-2017-0001">http://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-01-2017-0001</a>
- Anwar, G., & Abdullah, N. N. (2021). The impact of human resource management practice on organizational performance. *International journal of Engineering*, *Business and Management (IJEBM)*, 5. https://dx.doi.org/10.22161/ijebm.5.1.4
- Arifin, S. R. M. (2018). Ethical considerations in qualitative study. *International Journal of Care Scholars*, 1(2), 30–33. https://journals.iium.edu.my/ijcs/index.php/ijcs/article/view/82/27
- Armstrong, S. J., & Qi, M. (2020) The influence of leader-follower cognitive style similarity on followers' organizational citizenship behaviors. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 111265. <a href="http://doi.ogr/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01265">http://doi.ogr/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01265</a>
- Atatsi, E. A., Curşeu, P. L., Stoffers, J., & Kil, A. (2020). Leader–member exchange, organizational citizenship behaviours and performance of Ghanaian Technical University Lecturers. *African Journal of Business Management*, *14*(1), 25–34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM2019.8884">https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM2019.8884</a>
- Audenaert, M., Decramer, A., George, B., Verschuere, B., & Waeyenberg, T. V. (2019).

  When employee performance management affects individual innovation in public organizations: the role of consistency and LMX. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(5), 815–834.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1239220">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1239220</a>
- Audenaert, M., Vanderstraeten, A., & Buyens, D. (2017) When affective well-being is

- empowered: The joint role of leader-member exchange and the employment relationship. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*. *28*(15). <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1137610">http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1137610</a>
- Baker, J. D. (2016). The purpose, process, and methods of writing a literature review.

  AORN Journal, 103(3), 265–269. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2016.01.016
- Bansal, P., Smith, W. K., & Vaara, E. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189–1195. http://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Barnard, C. I. (1968). *The functions of the executive*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Basri, H., Evadianti, Y., & Hernawan, W. (2020). Impact of Krakatau festival on the tourism growth in Lampung province, Indonesia. *Utopia y Praxis*Latinoamericana, 25, 137–145. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3774593">https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3774593</a>
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Transformational leadership and organizational culture. *The International Journal of Public Administration*, *17*(3-4), 541–-554. http://doi.org/10.1080/01900699408524907
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and Performance beyond Expectations. The Free Press.
- Bauer, T. N., & Erdogan, B. B. (2016). *The oxford handbook of leader-member exchange*. Oxford University Press.
- Bedi, A., Alpaslan, C. M., & Green, S. (2016). A meta-analytic review of ethical leadership outcomes and moderators. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *139*, 517–536. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2625-1

- Bellack, J. P. (2018). Educating our students for everyday leadership. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 57(3), 131–133. <a href="http://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20180221-01">http://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20180221-01</a>
- Beltrán-Martín, I., & Bou-Llusar, J. C. (2018). Examining the intermediate role of employee abilities, motivation, and opportunities to participate in the relationship between HR bundles and employee performance. *Business Research Quarterly*, 21(2), 99–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2018.02.001
- Bernard, H. R. (2018). Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Lanham, MD.
- Bhatti, S. H., Kiyani, S.K., Dust, S.B. & Zakariya, R. (2021), "The impact of ethical leadership on project success: the mediating role of trust and knowledge sharing", 

  \*International Journal of Managing Projects in Business\*, Advance online 

  publication. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-05-2020-0159">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-05-2020-0159</a>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802—1811. <a href="http://doi.org.10.1177/1049732316654870">http://doi.org.10.1177/1049732316654870</a>
- Blair, C. A., Helland, K., & Walton, B. (2017). Leaders behaving badly: The relationship between narcissism and unethical leadership. *Leadership & Organization*Development Journal. 38(2) 333–346. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-09-2015-0209">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-09-2015-0209</a>
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053">https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053</a>

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Breevaart, K., Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Van Den Heuvel, M. (2015). Leadermember exchange, work engagement, and job performance. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*. 30(7). 754–770. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2013-0088">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-03-2013-0088</a>
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business research methods. Oxford, England*: Oxford University Press.
- Budur, T., & Demir, A. (2019). Leadership effects on employee perception about CSR in Kurdistan region of Iraq. *International Journal of Social Sciences & Educational Studies*, *5*(4). 184–192. https://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses.v5i4p184
- Bunjak, A., & Černe, M. (2018). Mindfulness—The missing link in the relationship between leader–follower strategic optimism (mis)match and work engagement. *Frontiers in Psychology, 9*, Article 2444. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02444
- Burns, J. M. G. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Byrne, G. (2017). Narrative inquiry and the problem of representation: 'Giving voice', making meaning. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40, 36–52. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1034097">http://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1034097</a>
- Byun, G., Dai, Y., Lee, S., & Kang, S. (2017). Leader trust, competence, LMX, and

- member performance: A moderated mediation framework. *Psychological reports*, 120(6), 1137–1159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294117716465
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619-628. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726</a>
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 545–547. http://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.545-547
- Chang, D. F. (2014). *Increasing the trustworthiness of qualitative research with member checking*. In *PsycEXTRA Dataset* (pp. 109–115). http://doi.org/10.1037/e530492014-001
- Chatterjee, S., Chaudhuri, R., Thrassou, A., & Vrontis, D. (2021). Antecedents and consequences of knowledge hiding: The moderating role of knowledge hiders and knowledge seekers in organizations. *Journal of Business Research*, *128*, 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2021.02.033
- Chen, Q., Wen, Z., Kong, Y., Niu, J., & Hau, K. T. (2017). Influence of leaders' psychological capital on their followers: Multilevel mediation effect of organizational identification. *Frontiers in psychology*, 8, 1–12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01776">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01776</a>
- Chernyak-Hai, L., & Rabenu, E. (2018). The new era workplace relationships: is social exchange theory still relevant? *Industrial and Organizational Psychology11*, 456–481. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.5">http://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2018.5</a>
- Choi, S. B., Kim, K., & Kang, S. W. (2017). Effects of transformational and shared

- leadership styles on employees' perception of team effectiveness. *Social Behavior and Personality: An international journal*, *45*(3), 377–386. http://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.5805
- Christensen, R. K., Paarlberg, L., & Perry, J. L. (2017). Public service motivation research: Lessons for practice. Public Administration Review, 77(4), 529–542. http://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12796
- Cissna, K., & Schockman, H. E. (2020). Finding the key to positive leadership: Applying virtue ethics and inclusivity. In: Dhiman S., Marques J. (eds) New Horizons in Positive Leadership and Change. Management for Professionals. Springer,

  Chamber. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38129-5 12. 207-227
- Clarke, S. (2016). "Managing the risk of workplace accidents," in *Risky Business:*\*Psychological, Physical and Financial Costs of High-Risk Behavior in

  \*Organizations\*, eds R. J. Burke and C. L. Cooper (London: Routledge), 403–432.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, *25*(6), 435. <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30304614/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30304614/</a>
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage publications.
- Crosina, E., & Pratt, M. G. (2019). Toward a model of organizational mourning: The case of former Lehman Brothers Bankers. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(1), 66–98. http://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2017.0140
- Crutchfield, J., Crutchfield, J., & Buford, J. (2018). A strengths-based multidisciplinary leadership team: A case study in an urban middle school. *Urban Social*

- Work, 2(2), 106-122. http://doi.org/10.1891/2474-8684.2.2.106
- Curtis, C. R., Upchurch, R. S., & Severt, D. E. (2009). Employee motivation and organizational commitment: A comparison of tipped and nontipped restaurant Employees, *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism*Administration, Vol.10(3), 253–269. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/15256480903088469">http://doi.org/10.1080/15256480903088469</a>
- Dansereau, Jr. F., Graen, G., & Haga, W. J. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *13*(1), 46–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(75)90005-7
- de Oliveira, L. B., Moreno, V. d. A., Jr, & Gonçalves, R. C. (2020). Individual and situational antecedents of counterproductive work behaviors. *Brazilian Administration Review*, 17(3), 1–21. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1807-7692bar2020190126">http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1807-7692bar2020190126</a>
- Dean, S. A. (2017). *Soft skills needed for the 21st century workforce* (Doctoral dissertation). https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu
- DeFelice, D., & Janesick, V. J. (2015). Understanding the marriage of technology and phenomenological research: From design to analysis. The Qualitative Report, *20*, 1576–1593. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2326
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semi structured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigor. *Family medicine and community health*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Denzin, N. K. (1973). The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological

- methods. (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315134543
- Diamantidis, A. D., & Chatzoglou, P. (2019). Factors affecting employee performance:

  An empirical approach. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management.* 68(1), 171–193. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2018-0012">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2018-0012</a>
- Dulebohn, J., Bommer, W., Liden, R., Brouer, R., & Ferris, G. (2012). A meta-analysis of antecedents and consequences of leader-member exchange integrating the past with an eye toward the future. *Journal of Management*, *38*(6). 1715–1759. http://doi.org/10.1177/0149206311415280
- Dunn, A. L., & Moore, L. L. (2020). Significant learning of peer-mentors within a leadership living-learning community: A basic qualitative study. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 19(2). http://doi.org/10.12806/V19/I2/R5
- Durdella, N. (2019). *Qualitative dissertation methodology: A guide for research design and methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Dwivedula, R., Bredillet, C. N., & Müller, R. (2017). Work motivation in temporary organizations: A review of literature grounded in job design perspective. In R. Benlamri, & M. Sparer (Eds.), *Leadership, innovation, and entrepreneurship as driving forces of the global economy* 609–618. Cham, Switzerland: *Springer*. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43434-6 52
- Dye, J. F., Schatz, I. M., Rosenberg, B. A., & Coleman, S. T. (2000). Constant comparison method: A kaleidoscope of data. *The Qualitative Report*, 4(1), 1–10 <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2000.2090">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2000.2090</a>
- Eich, R. (2017). Commentary: On patience in leadership. The Journal of Values-Based

- Leadership, 10(1), 8. http://doi.org/10.22543/0733.101.1178
- Elfil, M., & Negida, A. (2017). Sampling methods in clinical research; An educational review. *Emergency*, *5*(1), e52. https://doi.org/10.22037/emergency.v5i1.15215
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).

  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open*, 1–10.

  http://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Engelbrecht, A. S., Heine, G., & Mahembe, B. (2017a). Integrity, ethical leadership, trust and work engagement. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(3), 368–379. http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2015-0237
- Engelbrecht, J., Johnston, K. A., & Hooper, V. (2017b). The influence of business managers' IT competence on project success. *International Journal of Project Management*, *35*(6), 994–1005. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.016">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.016</a>
- Epitropaki, O., Radulovic, B. A., Ete., Z., Thomas, G., & Martin, R. (2020). Leader-follower transgressions, relationship repair strategies and outcomes: A state-of-the-science review and a way forward. *The Leadership Quarterly, 31*(1), 101376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101376
- Etikan, I., & Bala, K. (2017). Combination of probability random sampling method with non-probability random sampling method (sampling versus sampling methods). *Biom Biostat International Journal*. *5*(6), 210–213. http://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2017.05.00148
- Eva, N., Robin, M., Sendjaya, S., van Dierendonck, D., & Liden, R. C. (2019). Servant leadership: A systematic review and call for future research. *The leadership*

- quarterly, 30(1), 111–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2018.07.004
- Fan, H., & Han, B. (2018) How does leader □ follower fit or misfit in communication style matter for work outcomes? *Social Behavior and Personality: An*international journal, 46(7), 1083–1100(18). https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6925
- Flick, U. (2018). Designing qualitative research. Sage Publications.
- Flynn, S. V., & Korcuska, J. S. (2018). Credible phenomenological research: A mixed ☐ methods study. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, *57*(1), 34–50. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12092">https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12092</a>
- Foster, P. (2010). Leader-Follower Theory and the Transformational Organization.

  \*Leader Lab, 1(3), 12–14. <a href="http://followership2.pbworks.com/f/Leader-Follower+Theory+for+the+Learning+Organization.pdf">http://followership2.pbworks.com/f/Leader-Follower+Theory+for+the+Learning+Organization.pdf</a>
- Fugard, A. J., & Potts, H. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: a quantitative tool. *International Journal of Social Research*Methodology, 18(6), 669–684. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*(9), 1408–1416.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281</a>
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G., & Ness, L. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923–941. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss3/16/
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of social change, 10*(1), 2.

# https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02

- Garvey, B., Garvey, R., & Stokes, P. (2021). Coaching and mentoring: Theory and practice. Sage.
- Gatling, A., Shum, C., Book, L., & Bai, B. (2017). The influence of hospitality leaders' relational transparency on followers' trust and deviance behaviors: mediating role of behavioral integrity. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 62, 11–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.11.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.11.010</a>
- Gehman, J., Glaser, V. L., Eisenhardt, K. M., Gioia, D., Langley, A., & Corley, K. G. (2018). Finding theory–method fit: A comparison of three qualitative approaches to theory building. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, *27*, 284–300. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1056492617706029">http://doi.org/10.1177/1056492617706029</a>
- Gerstner, C. R., & Day, D. V. (1997). Meta-analytic review of leader-member exchange theory: Correlates and construct issues. *Journal of Applied Psychology* 82(6), 827–844. http://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.82.6.827
- Gill, M., Gill, D. J., & Roulet, T. J. (2018). Constructing trustworthy historical narratives:

  Criteria, principles and techniques. *British Journal of Management*, 29, 191–205.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12262">http://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12262</a>
- Goad, T., & Jones, E. (2017). Training online physical educators: A phenomenological case study. *Education Research International*, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3757489
- Graen, G. B., & Scandura, T. A. (1987). Toward a psychology of dyadic organizing.

  \*Research in organizational behavior, 9, 175–208.

- http://terriscandura.com/redesign/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/Toward-a-Psychology-of-Dyadic-Organizing-Graen-Scandura87.pdf
- Graen, G. B., & Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). The relationship-based approach to leadership:

  Development of LMX theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multi-level,
  multi-domain perspective. *Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 219-247.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5">https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5</a>
- Greenleaf, R. K. (1977). *Servant leadership*: A journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Mahwah, NJ: Paulist Press.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1989). Fourth generation evaluation. Sage Publications.
- Gubrium, J. F., & Holstein, J. (2002). The reluctant respondent. Handbook of interview research: Context and method. Sage Publications.
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5), 1–17

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076</a>
- Guillemin, M., Gillam, L., Barnard, E., Stewart, P., Walker, H., & Rosenthal, R. (2016). "Doing trust": How researchers conceptualize and enact trust in their research practice. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 11, 370–381. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1177/1556264616668975">http://doi.org/10.1177/1556264616668975</a>
- Gupta, N., & Sharma, V. (2018). Relationship between leader member exchange (LMX), high-involvement HRP and employee resilience on extra-role performance. *Journal of Indian Business Research*. 10 (2). 126–150. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-09-2017-0147">https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-09-2017-0147</a>

- Gustafsson, J. (2017). Single case studies vs. multiple case studies: A comparative study. https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1064378/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Gutermann, D., Lehmann□Willenbrock, N., Boer, D., Born, M. & Voelpel, S.C. (2017),

  How leaders affect followers' work engagement and performance: Integrating

  leader—member exchange and crossover theory. *British Journal Management*, 28,

  299–314. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12214">http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12214</a>
- Ha, H. K., Jun, K. S., & Bae, G. K. (2020). The effects of motivation on job satisfaction: focused on self-actualization. *Culinary Science & Hospitality Research*, 26(9), 52–59.

https://www.dbpia.co.kr/Journal/articleDetail?nodeId=NODE10444308#none

- Haider, S., Bao, G., Larsen, G. L., & Draz, M. U. (2019). Harnessing sustainable
   motivation: A grounded theory exploration of public service motivation in local
   governments of the state of Oregon, United States. *Sustainability*, 11(11), 3105.
   <a href="http://doi.org/10.3390/su11113105">http://doi.org/10.3390/su11113105</a>
- Hamstra, M. R., Van Yperen, N. W., Wisse, B., & Sassenberg, K. (2014).

  Transformational and transactional leadership and followers' achievement goals. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *29*(3), 413–425.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9322-9">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-013-9322-9</a>
- Han, G. H., & Bai, Y. (2020). Leaders can facilitate creativity: the moderating roles of leader dialectical thinking and LMX on employee creative self-efficacy and creativity. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 35(5), pp. 405–417.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-02-2019-0106">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-02-2019-0106</a>

- Hanaysha, J. R., & Majid, M. (2018). Employee motivation and its role in improving the productivity and organizational commitment at higher education institutions.

  \*\*Journal of Entrepreneurship and Business, 6(1), 17–28.\*\*

  http://doi.org/10.17687/JEB.0601.02
- Hanić, A., & Jevtić, D. (2020). Human resource management between economy and ethics research of Serbia and Bosnia and Hercegovina. *Business Ethics and Leadership*, 4(3), 127–136. https://doi.org/10.21272/bel.4(3).127-136.2020
- Hanson, C. S., Craig, J. C., & Tong, A. (2017). In their own words: the value of qualitative research to improve the care of children with chronic kidney disease.
  Pediatric Nephrology, 32, 1501–1507. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s00467-016-3526-y">http://doi.org/10.1007/s00467-016-3526-y</a>
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *38*, 23–38. http://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hasib, F. F., Eliyana, A., Arief, Z., & Pratiwi, A. A. (2020). The effect of transformational leadership on employee performance mediated by leadermember exchange (LMX). *Systematic Reviews in Pharmacy*, *11*(11), 1199–1209. https://www.sysrevpharm.org/articles/the-effect-of-transformational-leadership-on-employee-performance-mediated-by-leadermember-exchange-lmx.pdf
- HBR Analytical Services. (2020). Cultivating workforce well-being to drive business value. *Research report*.
  - https://hbr.org/resources/pdfs/comm/workplacewellbeing.pdf
- He, J., Morrison, A. M., & Zhang, H. (2021). How high-performance HR practices and

- LMX affect employee engagement and creativity in hospitality. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, https://doi.org/10.1177/1096348021996800
- Hennink, M. M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2015). *Qualitative research methods*. Sage Publication.
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 591–608. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316665344
- Henri, J. F. (2004). Performance measurement and organizational effectiveness: Bridging the gap. *Managerial Finance*, 30(6), 93–123. https://doi.org/10.1108/03074350410769137
- Hensel, R., & Visser, R. (2018). Shared leadership in entrepreneurial teams: The impact of personality. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 24(6), 1104–1119. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-03-2018-0133">http://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-03-2018-0133</a>
- Heriyadi, H., Tjahjono, H. K., & Rahayu, M. K. P. (2020). Improving organizational citizenship behavior through job satisfaction, leader-member exchange, and work-life balance. *Binus Business Review*, *11*(2), 97104. https://doi.org/10.21512/bbr.v11i2.6193
- Hesse-Biber, S. (2016). Doing Interdisciplinary Mixed Methods Health Care Research:

  Working the Boundaries, Tensions, and Synergistic Potential of Team-Based

  Research. Qualitative Health Research, *26*(5), 649–658.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316634304
- Hirschi, A., & Valero, D. (2017). Chance events and career decidedness: Latent profiles

- in relation to work motivation. *Career Development Quarterly*, *65*, 2–15. http://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12076
- Hoch, J. E., Bommer, W. H., Dulebohn, J. H., & Wu, D. (2018). Do ethical, authentic, and servant leadership explain variance above and beyond transformational leadership? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Management*, 44(2), 501–529. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316665461
- Hodges, T., & Clifton, D. (2004). Strengths-based development in practice. In P. A.
  Linley & S. Joseph (Eds.), *International handbook of positive psychology in practice* (256-268). Wiley: New York, NY.
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2017). Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Holmes, K., Clement, J., & Albright, J. (2013). The complex task of leading educational change in schools. *School Leadership & Management*, *33*(3), 270–283. http://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2013.800477
- Hooi, L. W. (2016). The mediating role of job satisfaction and leader-member exchange in justice-citizenship. *Organizational justice and citizenship behaviour in Malaysia, Governance and Citizenship in Asia*. Springer.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0030-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0030-0</a>
- Hu, Y., Zhu, L., Li, J., Maguire, P., Zhou, M., Sun, H., et al. (2018). Exploring the influence of ethical leadership on voice behavior: how leader-member exchange, psychological safety, and psychological empowerment influence employees' willingness to speak out. *Frontiers in Psychology.* 9,1718.

# http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01718

- Huang, Y. H., He, Y., Lee, J., & Hu, C. (2021). Key drivers of trucking safety climate from the perspective of leader-member exchange: Bayesian network predictive modeling approach. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *150*, 105850.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2020.105850">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2020.105850</a>
- Hussain, S., & Shahzad, K. (2018). Role of supervisor's organizational embodiment and organizational identification on LMX and job performance relationship: A test of moderated-mediation model. *Journal of Management Sciences* 5(1) 18–37, <a href="http://doi.org/10.20547/jms.2014.1805102">http://doi.org/10.20547/jms.2014.1805102</a>
- Inanc, E. E. (2018). The mediating effect of leader member exchange on personality congruence and affective commitment. Ph.D. thesis, Walden University,

  Minneapolis, MN. <a href="https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/4922">https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/4922</a>
- Insan, A., & Masmarulan, R. (2021). Effects of leader-member exchange and organizational culture on work engagement and employee performance.
  Management Science Letters, 11(3), 879–886.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.10.011">http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.10.011</a>
- Jacob, S., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. Qualitative Report, *17*(6), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2012.1718
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87. <a href="http://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942">http://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942</a>

- Jantz, R. C. (2017). Vision, innovation, and leadership in research libraries. *Library & Information Science Research*, *39*(3), 234–241. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2017.07.006
- Jawahar, I. M., & Schreurs, B. (2018). Supervisor incivility and how it affects subordinates' performance: a matter of trust. *Personnel Review*. 47(3), 709–726. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-01-2017-0022
- Jiang, J., Gao, A., & Yang, B. (2018). Employees' critical thinking, leaders' inspirational motivation, and voice behavior: The mediating role of voice efficacy. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 17(1), 33–41. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000193">http://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000193</a>
- Johnson, B. D., Dunlap, E., & Benoit, E. (2010). Organizing "mountains of words" for data analysis, both qualitative and quantitative. *Substance use & misuse*, 45(5), 648–670. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826081003594757
- Johnson, R. E., Lin, S.-H. J., Kark, R., Dijk, D. V., King, D. D., & Esformes, E. (2017). Consequences of regulatory fit for leader-follower relationship quality and commitment. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, *90*(3), 379–406. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/JOOP.12176">https://doi.org/10.1111/JOOP.12176</a>
- Johnson, R., & Christensen, L. (2014). *Educational research quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5<sup>th</sup> Ed.). Sage publications.
- Joubert, C. G., & Feldman, J. A. (2017). The effect of leadership behaviors on followers' experiences and expectations in a safety-critical industry. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 20(1), 1510–1520.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v20i1.1510">https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v20i1.1510</a>

- Juevesa, R. D., Juevesa, C. V., & Castino, J. M. P. (2020). Employee engagement, commitment, satisfaction and organizational performance among multigenerational workforces. *International Journal of Research in Engineering, Science and Management*, *3*(7), 36–40.

  https://www.journals.resaim.com/ijresm/article/view/14
- Jyoti, J., & Bhau, S. (2015). Impact of transformational leadership on job performance: mediating role of leader–member exchange and relational identification. *SAGE Open*. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015612518
- Kakkar, S. (2019). Leader-member exchange and employee resilience: the mediating role of regulatory focus. *Management Research Review*. ahead-of-print. http://doi.ogr/10.1108/MRR-03-2018-0116
- Kauppila, O.-P., Ehrnrooth, M., Mäkelä, K., Smale, A., Sumelius, J., & Vuorenmaa, H.
   (2021). serving to help and helping to serve: Using servant leadership to influence beyond supervisory relationships. 1–12. *Journal of Management*.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206321994173">https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206321994173</a>
- Keeys, L. A., & Huemann, M. (2017). Project benefits co-creation: Shaping sustainable 119 development benefits. *International Journal of Project Management*, *35*(6), 1196–1212. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.008
- Kellerman B (2007) What every leader needs to know about followers. *Harvard Business Review*, 85(12), 84–91.

http://leadershipforlawyers.com/wpcontent/uploads/2015/10/What-Every-Leader-Needs-to-Know-About-Followers-Harvard-Business-Review.pdf

- Khedhaouria, A., Montani, F., & Thurik, R. (2017). Time pressure and team member creativity within R&D projects: The role of learning orientation and knowledge sourcing. *International Journal of Project Management*, *35*, 942–954. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.002
- Kidney, C. A., & McDonald, K. E. (2014). A toolkit for accessible and respectful engagement in research. Disability & Society, *29*(7), 1013–1030. http://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2014.902357
- Kiegelmann, M. (Ed.). (2002). The role of the researcher in qualitative psychology (Qualitative psychology nexus, 2). Tübingen: Huber.

  <a href="https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11780/3402">https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.11780/3402</a>
- Kim, M. S., & Koo, D. W. (2017). Linking LMX, engagement, innovative behavior, and job performance in hotel employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(12), 3044–3062. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2016-0319">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2016-0319</a>
- Kindarto, A., Zhu, Y. Q., & Gardner, D. G. (2020). Full Range Leadership Styles and Government IT Team Performance: The Critical Roles of Follower and Team Competence. *Public Performance & Management Review*, *43*(4), 889–917. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2020.1730198
- King, S., Lambert, L., Ng, P. Y., & Rosinski, P. (2021) Keeping with the Times:

  Coaching, Culture and Positive Psychology. In: Smith WA., Boniwell I., Green S.

  (eds) Positive Psychology Coaching in the Workplace. Springer, Cham.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79952-6\_5">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79952-6\_5</a>.

- Kivilä, J., Martinsuo, M., & Vuorinen, L. (2017). Sustainable project management through project control in infrastructure projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(6), 1167–1183. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.009">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.009</a>
- Ko, C., Ma, J., Bartnik, R., Haney, M. H., & Kang, M. (2018). Ethical leadership: An integrative review and future research agenda. *Ethics & Behavior*, 28(2), 104–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2017.1318069
- Koo, B., Yu, J., Chua, B. L., Lee, S., & Han, H. (2020). Relationships among emotional and material rewards, job satisfaction, burnout, affective commitment, job performance, and turnover intention in the hotel industry. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 21(4), 371–401.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008X.2019.1663572
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397–414. http://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, *24*(1),

  120–124. <a href="http://doi.org/0.1080/13814788.2017.1375092">http://doi.org/0.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</a>
- Kuper, A., Lingard, L., & Levinson, W. (2008). Critically appraising qualitative research. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 337(7671), a1035.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.a1035">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.a1035</a>
- Kuranchie-Mensah, E., & Amponsah-Tawiah, K. (2016). Employee motivation and work performance: A comparative study of mining companies in Ghana. *Journal of*

- Industrial Engineering and Management, 9(2), 255–309. http://dx.doi.org/10.3926/jiem.1530
- Kuvaas, B., & Buch, R. (2019), "Leader self-efficacy and role ambiguity and follower leader-member exchange", Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 411, 118–132. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-05-2019-0209
- Lapointe, É., Vandenberghe, C., Ben Ayed, A. K., Schwarz, G., Tremblay, M., & Chenevert, D. (2020). Social comparisons, self-conceptions, and attributions: Assessing the self-related contingencies in leader-member exchange relationships. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *35*(3), 381–402. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09628-9">http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10869-019-09628-9</a>
- Laub, J. (2018). Model building for servant leadership: 1991–2016. *Leveraging the Power of Servant Leadership*, 113–133. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77143-4-5">http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77143-4-5</a>
- Leach, L. S. (2005). Nurse executive transformational leadership and organizational commitment. *The Journal of Nursing Administration*, *35*(5), 228-237.

  <a href="https://journals.lww.com/jonajournal/Abstract/2005/05000/Nurse\_Executive\_Tra">https://journals.lww.com/jonajournal/Abstract/2005/05000/Nurse\_Executive\_Tra</a>

  nsformational Leadership and.6.aspx
- Lee, A., Thomas, G., Martin, R., Guillaume, Y., & Marstand, A. F. (2019). Beyond relationship quality: The role of leader–member exchange importance in leader–follower dyads. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 92(4), 736–763. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12262">https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12262</a>
- Lee, S. H., & Ha Brookshire, J. (2018). The effect of ethical climate and employees'

- organizational citizenship behavior on US fashion retail organizations' sustainability performance. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(5), 939–947. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1510">https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1510</a>
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

  \*\*Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324–327.\*

  http://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suarez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American Psychologist*, 73, 26–46. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151">http://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151</a>
- Levitt, H. M., Motulsky, S. L., Wertz, F. J., Morrow, S. L., & Ponterotto, J. G. (2017).

  Recommendations for designing and reviewing qualitative research in psychology: Promoting methodological integrity. *Qualitative Psychology*, 4, 2–22. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082">http://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000082</a>
- Li, H., Zhao, Z., Müller, R. & Shao, J. (2019), Exploring the relationship between leadership and followership of Chinese project managers, *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, *13*(3), 616–647. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-02-2019-0042">https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-02-2019-0042</a>
- Liang, L., Yongyue, Z., & Chanwook, P. (2018). Leader–member exchange, sales performance, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment affect turnover intention. *Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal*, 46(11),

- 1909–1922. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7125
- Liao, S. S., Hu, D. C., Chung, Y. C., & Chen, L. W. (2017). LMX and employee satisfaction: mediating effect of psychological capital. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(3), 433–449. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2015-0275">https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2015-0275</a>
- Littman, M. J. & Littman, E. S. (2017). Six ethical leadership strategies for project management success; presented at the 6<sup>th</sup> Scientific Conference on Project Management in the Baltic States, University of Latvia, *PM World Journal*, 8(10). <a href="https://pmworldlibrary.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/pmwj87-Nov2019-Littmans-six-ethical-leadership-strategies.pdf">https://pmworldlibrary.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/pmwj87-Nov2019-Littmans-six-ethical-leadership-strategies.pdf</a>
- Liu, Y., Fuller, B., Hester, K., Bennett, R. and Dickerson, M. (2018). Linking authentic leadership to subordinate behaviors. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(2), 218–233. http://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-12-2016-0327
- Loignon, A. C., Gooty, J., Rogelberg, S. G., & Lucianetti, L. (2019). Disagreement in leader–follower dyadic exchanges: Shared relationship satisfaction and investment as antecedents. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 92,618–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12270
- López-Ibort, N., Gónzalez-de la Cuesta, D., Antoñanzas-Lombarte, T., & Gascón-Catalán, A. (2020). The correlation between leader-member exchange and organizational commitment among Spanish registered nurses: The moderating role of sex and hospital size. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(3), 721. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030721">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17030721</a>

- Low, Y. M., Sambasivan, M., & Ho, J. A. (2021). Impact of abusive supervision on counterproductive work behaviors of nurses. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, *59*(2), 250–278. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12234">https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7941.12234</a>
- Lune, H., & Berg, B. L. (2016). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences*.

  Pearson.
- Lyubovnikova, J., Legood, A., Turner, N., & Mamakouka, A. (2017). How authentic leadership influences team performance: The mediating role of team reflexivity.

  \*\*Journal of Business Ethics, 141(1), 59–70. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2692-3">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2692-3</a>
- Mackey, J.D., Huang, L., & He, W. (2020). You abuse and I criticize: An ego depletion and leader–member exchange examination of abusive supervision and destructive voice. *Journal of Business Ethics 164*, 579–591. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4024-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-4024-x</a>
- Magombo-Bwanali, N. A. (2019). Relationship between leader behaviours and subordinates' work performance: The context of tax administration. *International Journal of Research in Business and Social Science*, 8(1), 50–63.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i1.180">https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v8i1.180</a>
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: guided by information power. *Qualitative health* research, 26(13), 1753–1760. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444
- Manata, B. (2020). The effects of LMX differentiation on team performance: investigating the mediating properties of cohesion. *Journal of Leadership &*

Organizational Studies, 27(2), 180–188.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051819842792

- Mardiani, I. N., & Baekhunah, S. (2021). The influence of leadership style, motivation, and training on employee performance. *Journal of Research in Business*, *Economics, and Education*, 3(2), 1752–1759. <a href="https://e-journal.stie-kusumanegara.ac.id/index.php/jrbee/article/view/246/204">https://e-journal.stie-kusumanegara.ac.id/index.php/jrbee/article/view/246/204</a>
- Marnewick, C. (2017). Information system project's sustainability capability levels.

  \*International Journal of Project Management, 35, 1151–1166.\*

  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.014
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage Publications.
- Martens, M. L., & Carvalho, M. M. (2017). Key factors of sustainability in project 122 management context: A survey exploring project managers' perspective.

  \*International Journal of Project Management, 35(6), 1084–1102.

  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.04.004
- Martin, R., Thomas, G., Legood, A., & Dello Russo, S. (2018). Leader-member exchange (LMX) differentiation and work outcomes: Conceptual clarification and critical review. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(2), 151–168.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2202">https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2202</a>
- Mason, J. (2018). *Qualitative Researching* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sage Publications.
- Mattalia, G., Stryamets, N., Pieroni, A., & Sõukand, R. (2020). Knowledge transmission patterns at the border: ethnobotany of Hutsuls living in the Carpathian Mountains

- of Bukovina (SW Ukraine and NE Romania). *Journal of Ethnobiology & Ethnomedicine*, 16(1), 1–40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13002-020-00391-3
- Matzler, K., Abfalter, D. E., Mooradian, T. A., & Bailom, F. (2013). Corporate culture as an antecedent of successful exploration and exploitation. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 17(05). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919613500254">https://doi.org/10.1142/S1363919613500254</a>
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis.

  \*International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4, 53–67.

  http://www.ijsrm.com/ijsrm/Current & Past Issues files/IJSRM4-9.pdf
- McCaffery, P. (2004). *The Higher Education Manager's Handbook*: Effective Leadership and Management in Universities and Colleges. New York: Routledge
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537–542. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-015-0026-y">http://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-015-0026-y</a>
- Medler-Liraz, H., & Kark, R. (2011). It takes three to tango: Leadership and hostility in the service encounter, *The Leadership Quarterly*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.11.007
- Men, L., & Stacks, D. (2013). The impact of leadership style and employee empowerment on perceived organizational reputation. Journal of Communication Management, 17, 171–192. http://doi.org/10.1108/13632541311318765
- Meng, J., Reber, B. H., & Rogers, H. (2017). Managing millennial communication professionals: connecting generation attributes, leadership development, and employee engagement. *Acta Prosperitatis*, 8, 68–83. <a href="http://www.turiba.lv">http://www.turiba.lv</a>

- Mete, E. S., Sökmen, A., & Sökmen, A. (2021). The relationship between leader-member exchange, innovative work behaviour and career satisfaction: A research in hotel enterprises. *Journal of Tourism and Gastronomy Studies*, *9*(2), 638–659. http://doi.org/10.21325/jotags.2021.807
- Miao, Q., & Zhou, J. (2020). Corporate hypocrisy and counterproductive work behavior: A moderated mediation model of organizational identification and perceived importance of CSR. Sustainability, 12(5), 1847.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.3390/su12051847">http://doi.org/10.3390/su12051847</a>
- Min-Seong, K., & Dong-Woo, K. (2017). Linking LMX, engagement, innovative behavior, and job performance in hotel employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(12), 3044–3062. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-06-2016-0319
- Morrison, R., & Cooper-Thomas, H. (2015). Friendship among co-workers. http://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780190222024.003.0008
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*(5), 587–588. http://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699
- Muhammad N. K. & Muhammad F. M. (2017). ""My leader's group is my group."

  Leader-member exchange and employees' behaviours", *European Business*Review, https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-01-2016-0013
- Munn, Z., Porritt, K., Lockwood, C., Aromataris, E., & Pearson, A. (2014). Establishing confidence in the output of qualitative research synthesis: The ConQual approach.

  \*BMC Medical Research Methodology, 14, 108. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-">http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-</a>

#### 14-108

- Munshi, D. J., & Haque, S. (2017). Leader-LMX and follower-LMX impact similarly on dyad exchange as measured on lmx-7-scale. *International Journal on Leadership*, *5(1)*, 1–11.
  - https://www.academia.edu/40429655/Leader\_LMX\_and\_Follower\_LMX\_Impact
    Similarly on Dyad Exchange as Measured on LMX 7 scale
- Muzakki, M., Eliyana, A., & Muhtadi, R. (2019). Is employee performance affected by organizational culture, work motivation, and organizational citizenship behavior (OCB)? An empirical investigation. *International Journal of Integrated Education, Engineering and Business, 2*(1), 36–42.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.29138/ijieeb.v2i1.810">https://doi.org/10.29138/ijieeb.v2i1.810</a>
- Naci, H., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2013). Comparative effectiveness of exercise and drug interventions on mortality outcomes: Meta epidemiological study. *British Medical Journal* 347, 1–14. http://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f5577
- Nam, K. A., & Park, S. (2019). Factors influencing job performance: organizational learning culture, cultural intelligence, and transformational leadership. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, *32*(2), 137–158. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21292">https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21292</a>
- Naveed, M. (2019). Leader member exchange and employee outcomes: Role of trust. *Market Forces*, 14(1).

http://www.pafkiet.edu.pk/marketforces/index.php/marketforces/article/view/387

Nel, T., Stander, M. W., & Latif, J. (2015). Investigating positive leadership,

- psychological empowerment, work engagement and satisfaction with life in a chemical industry. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *41*, 1–13. http://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v4i1.1243
- Newcomer, K. E., Hatry, H. P., & Wholey, J. S. (2015). Conducting semi-structured interviews. *Handbook of practical program evaluation*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19">http://doi.org/10.1002/9781119171386.ch19</a>
- Nguyen, P. T., Yandi, A., & Mahaputra, M. R. (2020). Factors that influence employee performance: Motivation, leadership, environment, culture organization, work achievement, competence, and compensation (a study of human resource management literature studies). *Dinasti International Journal of Digital Business Management*, 1(4), 645–662. https://dinastipub.org/DIJDBM/article/view/389/258
- Nguyen, T. H. (2020). Impact of leader-member relationship quality on job satisfaction, innovation and operational performance: A case in Vietnam. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 7(6), 449–456.

  https://doi.org/10.13106/JAFEB.2020.VOL7.NO6.449
- Niemeyer, J. R. L., & Cavazotte, F. D. S. C. N. (2016). Ethical leadership, leader-follower relationship and performance: a study in a telecommunications company. *RAM. Revista de Administração Mackenzie*, *17*, 67–92. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-69712016/administracao.v17n2p67-92">https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-69712016/administracao.v17n2p67-92</a>
- Nimani, A. (2020). Leadership and project management in politics. *Journal of Social Education and Interdisciplinary Science*, *I*(1), 1–13. <a href="https://jseis.uni-gjk.org/index.php/jseis/article/view/3/1">https://jseis.uni-gjk.org/index.php/jseis/article/view/3/1</a>

- Njoroge, W. S., & Kwasira J. (2015). Influence of compensation and reward on performance of employees at Nakuru county government. *Journal of Business and Management*, 17(11), 87–93. <a href="http://doi.org/10.9790/487X-171118793">http://doi.org/10.9790/487X-171118793</a>
- Norman, S., Avey, J., Larson, M., & Hughes, L. (2019). The development of trust in virtual leader–follower relationships. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-12-2018-1701">http://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-12-2018-1701</a>
- Northouse, P. G. (2021). Leadership: Theory and practice. (9th ed.). Sage Publications
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

  Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*, 1–14. http://doi.org/1609406917733847
- Oppong, G. D., Chan, A. P. C., & Dansoh, A. (2017). A review of stakeholder management performance attributes in construction projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(6), 1037–1051.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.015">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.015</a>
- Osabiya, B. J. (2015). The effect of employees' motivation on organizational performance. *Journal of Public Administration and Policy Research*, 7(4), 62 75. http://doi.org/10.5897/JPAPR2014.0300
- Paais, M., & Pattiruhu, J. R. (2020). Effect of motivation, leadership, and organizational culture on satisfaction and employee performance. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(8), 577–588.

  https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no8.577

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y</a>
- Para-González, L., Jiménez-Jiménez, D., & Martínez-Lorente, A. R. (2018). Exploring the mediating effects between transformational leadership and organizational performance. *Employee Relations*, 40(2), 412–432. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2016-0190">http://doi.org/10.1108/ER-10-2016-0190</a>
- Parent-Rocheleau, X., & Tremblay, M. (2020). Energy crossover from leader to followers: A time-lagged study of the effects of energy discrepancy and leader-member exchange. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizacione*, 36(2), 135–145. http://doi.org/10.5093/jwop2020a13
- Parent-Rocheleau, X., Bentein, K., & Simard, G. (2020). Positive together? The effects of leader-follower (dis)similarity in psychological capital. *Journal of Business*Research, *110*, 435–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.02.016
- Parry, S. B. (1998). Just what is a competency? (And why should you care?). Training, 35, 58–64.
- Patnaik, A., & Dubey, R. (2019). Impact of leadership on employee engagement and intent to stay. *International Journal on Leadership*, 7(2), 58–66.

  <a href="http://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81">http://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81</a>
  <a href="http://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81">http://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81</a>
  <a href="https://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81">http://publishingindia.com/GetBrochure.aspx?query=UERGQnJvY2h1cmVzfC81</a>

- Perrault, E. K., & Keating, D. M. (2018). Seeking Ways to Inform the Uninformed:

  Improving the Informed Consent Process in Online Social Science Research.

  Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics, *13*(1), 50–60.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264617738846
- Pey, Y. S., Busari, A. H., Choi, L. J., & Hassan, Z. (2021). "Followership"-The Missing Puzzle in Educational Leadership Research. *Sciences*, *11*(2), 904–923. http://dx.doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v11-i2/9188
- Phillips, M., & Lu, J. (2018). A quick look at NVivo. *Journal of Electronic Resources Librarianship*, 30(2), 104–106. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/1941126X.2018.1465535">https://doi.org/10.1080/1941126X.2018.1465535</a>
- Pluye, P., & Hong, Q. N. (2014). Combining the power of stories and the power of numbers: mixed methods research and mixed studies reviews. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 35(1), 29–45. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182440">http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182440</a>
- Politis, J. D. (2015). Entrepreneurial orientation, creativity, and productivity: The influence of self-leadership strategies. *Management Studies*, *3*(7-8), 203–213. http://doi.org/10.17265/2328-2185/2015.0708.004
- Polizzi, S. J., Ofem, B., Coyle, W., Lundquist, K., & Rushton, G. T. (2019). The use of visual network scales in teacher leader development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 83, 42–53. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.03.018
- Pucher, K. K., Candel, M. J., Boot, N. M., & de Vries, N. K. (2017). Predictors and mediators of sustainable collaboration and implementation in comprehensive school health promotion. *Health Education*, 117, 2–23.

# http://doi.org/10.1108/HE-12-2014-0101

- Putra, E. D., Cho, S., & Liu, J. (2017). Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation on work engagement in the hospitality industry: Test of motivation crowding theory.

  \*Tourism and Hospitality Research, 17, 228–241.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1467358415613393
- Qi, H., Yijun, S., & Weiguo, Y. (2019a). How leader-member exchange affects knowledge sharing behavior: Understanding the effects of commitment and employee characteristics. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10*.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02768">http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02768</a></a>
- Qi, L., Liu, B., Wei, X., & Hu, Y. (2019b). Impact of inclusive leadership on employee innovative behavior: Perceived organizational support as a mediator. *PloS* one, 14(2), <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212091">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212091</a>
- Quade, M. J., McLarty, B. D., & Bonner, J. M. (2020). The influence of supervisor bottom-line mentality and employee bottom-line mentality on leader-member exchange and subsequent employee performance. *Human Relations*, 73(8), 1157–1181. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726719858394
- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, *3*(9), 369–387. http://dx.doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089
- Rabenu, E., Shkoler, O., Lebron, M. J., & Tabak, F. (2019). Heavy-work investment, job engagement, managerial role, person-organization value congruence, and burnout: a moderated-mediation analysis in USA and Israel. *Current Psychology.* 38, 1–18.

# http://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-019-00423-6

- Radstaak, M., & Hennes, A. (2017). Leader-member exchange fosters work engagement:

  The mediating role of job crafting. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 43*, 1–11.

  <a href="http://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v43.i0.1458">http://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v43.i0.1458</a>
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6(2), 1–5. <a href="http://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000403">http://doi.org/10.4172/2162-6359.1000403</a>
- Raj, R. D., & Zaid, E. (2014). Improved employee retention through active engagement and focused action. In *International Petroleum Technology Conference*. OnePetro. https://doi.org/10.2523/IPTC-18195-MS
- Ramli, A. (2020). The mediator role of leader-member exchange in empirical test. *Jurnal Manajemen dan Pemasaran Jasa, 13*(1), 127–136.

  <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.25105/jmpj.v13i1.6152">http://dx.doi.org/10.25105/jmpj.v13i1.6152</a>
- Randel, A. E., Galvin, B. M., Shore, L. M., Ehrhart, K. H., Chung, B. G., Dean, M. A., & Kedharnath, U. (2018). Inclusive leadership: Realizing positive outcomes through belongingness and being valued for uniqueness. *Human Resource Management Review*, 28(2), 190–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2017.07.002
- Rashid, R., Dastgeer, G., & Kayani, T. (2018). "A social exchange perspective through the lens of an individual: relationship between LMX, voice and organizational commitment in academia," *Business & Economic Review, 10*(3), 41–64, <a href="http://doi.org/10.22547/BER/10.3.3">http://doi.org/10.22547/BER/10.3.3</a>

- Rath, T., & Conchie, B. (2008). *Strengths based leadership*. New York, NY: Gallup Press.
- Reb, J., Chaturvedi, S., Narayanan, J., & Kudesia, R. S. (2019). Leader mindfulness and employee performance: A sequential mediation model of LMX quality, interpersonal justice, and employee stress. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *160*(3), 745–763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3927-x
- Regts, G., Molleman, E., & Brake, H. J. (2019). The impact of leader–member exchange on follower performance in light of the larger social network. *Human Relations*, 72, 1265–1291. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718806351">https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718806351</a>
- Renjith, V., Yesodharan, R., Noronha, J. A., Ladd, E., & George, A. (2021). Qualitative methods in health care research. *International Journal of Preventive*Medicine, 12(20). <a href="http://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM\_321\_19">http://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM\_321\_19</a>
- Resnik, D. B. (2018). *The ethics of research with human subjects: Protecting people, advancing science, promoting trust 74*. Springer, Charm. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68756-8
- Ridder, H. G. (2017). The theory contribution of case study research designs. *Business Research*, 10(2), 281–305. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-017-0045-z</a>
- Riyadi, S. (2020). The influence of leadership style, individual characteristics and organisational climate on work motivation, job satisfaction and performance.

  International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change, 13(7), 662–677.

  <a href="https://www.ijicc.net/images/vol\_13/Iss\_7/13791\_Riyadi\_2020\_E\_R.pdf">https://www.ijicc.net/images/vol\_13/Iss\_7/13791\_Riyadi\_2020\_E\_R.pdf</a>
- Riyanto, S., Endri, E., & Herlisha, N. (2021). Effect of work motivation and job

- satisfaction on employee performance: Mediating role of employee engagement. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, *19*(3), 162–174. http://dx.doi.org/10.21511/ppm.19(3).2021.14
- Roberts, J. A., & David, M. E. (2020). Boss phubbing, trust, job satisfaction and employee performance. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *155*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109702">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.109702</a>
- Rockmann, K. W., & Ballinger, G. A. (2017). Intrinsic motivation and organizational identification among on-demand workers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(9), 1305–1316. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000224
- Rodriguez, J., & Walters, K. (2017). The importance of training and development in employee performance and evaluation. *Worldwide Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development*, *3*(10), 206–212.

  <a href="http://wwjmrd.com/upload/1509114292.pdf">http://wwjmrd.com/upload/1509114292.pdf</a>
- Rogelberg, S. G. (Ed.). (2016). The SAGE encyclopedia of industrial and organizational psychology. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Roque, A., Moreira, J. M., Figueiredo, J. D., Albuquerque, R., & Gonçalves, H. (2020). Ethics beyond leadership: can ethics survive bad leadership? *Journal of Global Responsibility*. 11(3), 275–294. https://doi.org/10.1108/JGR-06-2019-0065
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509–516. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021</a>
- Ross, J., Valenzuela, M., Intindola, M., & Flinchbaugh, C. (2017). Preparing potential

- leaders: Facilitating a learning experience on LMX and fairness in the workplace. *The International Journal of Management Education, 15*(1), 84–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2017.01.006
- Rothmann, S., Scholtz, P. E., Rothmann, J. C., & Fourie, M. (2002). The relationship between individual variables and work-related outcomes. *In International Conference of the Council for Small Business* (16–19).

  <a href="https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/19134691/the-relationship-between-individual-variables-and-work">https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/19134691/the-relationship-between-individual-variables-and-work</a>
- Rožman, B., Treven, S., & Čančer, V. (2017), "Motivation and satisfaction of employee in the workplace", *Business Systems Research*, 8(2), 14–25. http://doi.org.10.1515/bsrj-2017-0013
- Ruiz, C., Ruiz P., & Martínez, R. (2011). Improving the "leader-follower" relationship:

  Top manager or supervisor? The ethical leadership trickle-down effect on follower job response. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 99(4), 587–608.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0670-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0670-3</a>
- Ruvolo, C. M., Peterson, S. A., & LeBoeuf, J. N. G. (2004). Leaders are made, not born the critical role of a developmental framework to facilitate an organizational culture of development. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 56(1), 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1037/1061-4087.56.1.10
- Ruzgar, N. (2018). The effect of leaders' adoption of task-oriented or relationshiporiented leadership style on leader-member exchange (LMX), in the organizations that are active in-service sector: *A Research on Tourism Agencies*. *Journal of*

- Business Administration Research 7(1). https://doi.org/10.5430/jbar.v7n1p50
- Ruzzene, A. (2012). Drawing lessons from case studies by enhancing comparability.

  \*Philosophy of the Social Sciences, 42, 99–120.

  http://doi.org/10.1177/0048393111426683
- Sabastian, R. A. (2021). The Influence of Leadership Style and Motivation on Employee Performance. *Almana: Jurnal Manajemen dan Bisnis*, *5*(1), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.36555/almana.v5i1.1587
- Salas-Vallina, A. (2020). Towards a sustainable leader-follower relationship: constructive dissensus, organizational virtuousness and happiness at work
   (HAW). Sustainability. 12(17), 708. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/su12177087">https://doi.org/10.3390/su12177087</a>
- Saleh, A. J., Jalal-Eddeen, F., & Kilba, Y. A. (2015). How to build a nest for success in the public health sector: A critical look at the leadership theories. *Humanities and Social Sciences*, *3*(4) 133–139. <a href="http://doi.org/10.11648/j.hss.20150304.12">http://doi.org/10.11648/j.hss.20150304.12</a>
- Sam, C. H. (2021). What are the practices of unethical leaders? Exploring how teachers experience the "dark side" of administrative leadership. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 49(2), 303–320.
  - https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143219898480
- Sani, A., & Maharani Ekowati, V. (2019). Spirituality at work and organizational commitment as moderating variables in relationship between Islamic spirituality and OCB IP and influence toward employee performance, *Journal of Islamic Marketing*, 11(6), 1777–1799. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-08-2018-0140">https://doi.org/10.1108/JIMA-08-2018-0140</a>
- Saragih, H., Supriati, Y., Nikensari, S. I., & Sutawidjaya, A. H. (2021). The impact of

overqualification perception and job satisfaction on working intentions for employees of the ministry of defense. *International Journal of Developmental Sciences*, *15*(1), 17–24. <a href="http://www.ijds-journal.com/index.php/home/article/view/52">http://www.ijds-journal.com/index.php/home/article/view/52</a>

- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2019). *Research methods for business students*. (8<sup>th</sup> ed.). Essex. Pearson Education Limited.
- Scandura, T. A., & Graen, G. B. (1984). Moderating effects of initial leader–member exchange status on the effects of a leadership intervention. *Journal of applied psychology*, 69(3), 428. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.3.428">https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.3.428</a>
- Schyns, B., & Day, D. (2010). Critique and review of leader-member exchange theory:

  Issues of agreement, consensus, and excellence. Erratum. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 19(3), 1–

  19. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2010.501688
- Šehić–Kršlak, S., Šašić, D., & Džigal, H. (2021). The impact of leadership on organizational performance in small and medium companies in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Journal of Ekonomi, 3*(2), 101–105. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/ekonomi/issue/59529/850328
- Selvarajan, T. T., Singh, B., & Solansky, S. (2018). Performance appraisal fairness, LMX, and motivation to improve performance: A study of US and Mexican employees. *Journal of Business Research*, 85, 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.043
- Shaikh, G. M., Thebo, J. A., Jamali, M., Sangi, F., Angi, S. A., & Sheikh, G. (2019). The

- impact of quality leader member exchange on job satisfaction mediating effect of organizational commitment. *Sociology International Journal*, *3*(5), 411–419. http://doi.org/10.15406/sij.2019.03.00206
- Shanker, R., Bhanugopan, R., Van der Heijden, B. I., & Farrell, M. (2017).

  Organizational climate for innovation and organizational performance: The mediating effect of innovative work behavior. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 100, 67–77. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.02.004">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.02.004</a>
- Shapira-Lishchinsky, O., & Levy-Gazenfrantz, T. (2015). Authentic leadership strategies in support of mentoring processes. *School Leadership & Management*, *35*(2), 183–201. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2014.992777">http://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2014.992777</a>
- Shaw, D., & Satalkar, P. (2018). Researchers' interpretations of research integrity: A qualitative study. *Accountability in research*, 25(2), 79–93. http://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2017.1413940
- Shen, Y. (2019). "Cognitive leader–member exchange differences between supervisors and subordinates", *International Journal of Productivity and Performance*Management, 68(4), 817–837. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-03-2018-0104
- Shin, D. H. (2017). Conceptualizing and measuring quality of experience of the internet of things: Exploring how quality is perceived by users. *Information & Management*, *54*(8), 998–1011. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2017.02.006
- Siddique, C. M., Siddique, H. F., & Siddique, S. U. (2020). Linking authoritarian leadership to employee organizational embeddedness, LMX and performance in a high-power distance culture: a mediation-moderated analysis. *Journal of Strategy*

- and Management, 13(3), 393-411. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JSMA-10-2019-0185">https://doi.org/10.1108/JSMA-10-2019-0185</a>
- Silverman, D. (2015). *Interpreting qualitative data* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage Publications.
- Silvius, A. J. G., Kampinga, M., Paniagua, S., & Mooi, H. (2017). Considering sustainability in project management decision making: An investigation using Q-methodology. *International Journal of Project Management*, *35*(6) 1133–1150. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.01.011">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.01.011</a>
- Singh, A. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organizations. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 17(1), 77–84. http://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Soares, M. D. C., & Perin, M. G. (2020). Entrepreneurial orientation and firm performance: an updated meta-analysis. *RAUSP Management Journal*, *55*(2), 143–159. https://doi.org/10.1108/rausp-01-2019-0014
- Stambaugh, J., & Mitchell, R. (2018). The fight is the coach: Creating expertise during the fight to avoid entrepreneurial failure. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 24(5), 994–1015. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/ijebr-09-2016-0287">https://doi.org/10.1108/ijebr-09-2016-0287</a>
- Stewart, H., Gapp, R., & Harwood, I. (2017). Exploring the alchemy of qualitative management research: Seeking trustworthiness, credibility and rigor through crystallization. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(1), 1–19. <a href="https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2604">https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2604</a>
- Stewart, J. L., & Wiener, K. K. (2021). Does supervisor gender moderate the mediation of job embeddedness between LMX and job satisfaction?. *Gender in*

- *Management: An International Journal*, 36(4), 536–552. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-07-2019-0137
- Sturm, R. E., Vera, D., & Crossan, M. (2016). The entanglement of leader character and leader competence and its impact on performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.11.007">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2016.11.007</a>
- Suda, L. (2013). In praise of followers. Paper presented at PMI® Global Congress 2013—North America, New Orleans, LA. Newtown Square, PA: *Project Management Institute*. <a href="https://pmworldlibrary.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/pmwj19-feb2014-suda-in-praise-of-followers-SecondEdition.pdf">https://pmworldlibrary.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/pmwj19-feb2014-suda-in-praise-of-followers-SecondEdition.pdf</a>
- Sugandini, D., Mustafa El Qadri, Z., Kustyadji, G., & Muafi, M. (2018). Employee engagement in entrepreneurship management: SMEs cases. *Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal*, 24(2), 1–8. <a href="https://www.jmfebupnvyk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EMPLOYEE-ENGAGEMENT-IN-ENTREPRENEURSHIP-MANAGEMENT-SMEs-CASES-.pdf">https://www.jmfebupnvyk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/EMPLOYEE-ENGAGEMENT-IN-ENTREPRENEURSHIP-MANAGEMENT-SMEs-CASES-.pdf</a>
- Sundler, A. J., Lindberg, E., Nilsson, C., & Palmér, L. (2019). Qualitative thematic analysis based on descriptive phenomenology. *Nursing Open, 6*. 733–739. https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.275
- Supriyanto, A. S., Ekowati, V. M., & Maghfuroh, U. (2020). Do organizational citizenship behavior and work satisfaction mediate the relationship between spiritual leadership and employee performance. *Management Science Letters* 10(5), 1107–1114. <a href="http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.10.031">http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.10.031</a>

- Supriyanto, A. S., Ekowati, V. M., Reza, M. F., & Mitasari, R. (2021). Factor influencing employee performance: The role of leader-member exchange and job satisfaction.

  \*PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt / Egyptology, 18(2), 215–225.

  https://www.archives.palarch.nl/index.php/jae/article/view/6013
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative Research: Data Collection, Analysis, and Management. *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231. http://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Swygart-Hobaugh, M. (2019). Bringing method to the madness: An example of integrating social science qualitative research methods into NVivo data analysis software training. *IASSIST Quarterly*, 43(2), 1–16. <a href="https://doi.org/10.29173/iq956">https://doi.org/10.29173/iq956</a>
- Tajeddini, K., Walle, A. H., & Denisa, M., (2017). Enterprising women, tourism, and development: The case of Bail. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 18(2), 195–218. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2016.1264906
- Tarim, M. (2018). Impact of LMX and emotional labor on performance and commitment. *International Journal of Commerce and Finance*, *4*(1), 76–83. https://hdl.handle.net/11467/1822
- Tensay, A. T., & Singh, M. (2020). The nexus between HRM, employee engagement and organizational performance of federal public service organizations in Ethiopia. *Heliyon*, 6(6), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04094
- Terpstra-Tong, J., Ralston, D., Treviño, L., Naoumova, I., Carranza, M., Furrer, O., Li, Y., & León-Darder, F. (2020). The quality of leader-member exchange (LMX): an analysis of individual-level, organizational-level and societal-level antecedents.

- Journal of International Management, 26(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intman.2020.100760
- Teusner, A. (2016). Insider research, validity issues, and the OHS professional: one person's journey. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 19(1), 85–96. http://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2015
- Thokozani, S. B. M. (2017). Strong vs. weak organizational culture: Assessing the impact on employee motivation. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 7(1), 2–5. <a href="http://doi.org/10.4172/2223-5833.1000287">http://doi.org/10.4172/2223-5833.1000287</a>
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 14*, 23–41. http://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of clinical epidemiology*, 82, 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Trochim, W. M. (2006). *The research methods knowledge base* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Mason, OH: Thomson.
- Truss, C., Shantz, A., Soane, E., Alfes, K., & Delbridge, R. (2013). Employee engagement, organisational performance and individual well-being: exploring the evidence, developing the theory. *The international journal of human resource management*, 24(14), <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.798921">https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.798921</a>
- Ufua, D. E., Salau, O. P., Ikpefan, O., Dirisu, J. I., & Okoh, E. E. (2020). Addressing operational complexities through re-inventing leadership style: A systemic

- leadership intervention. Heliyon, *6*(7). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04270
- Uhl-Bien, M. (2006). Relational leadership theory: Exploring the social processes of leadership and organizing. *The Leadership Quarterly, 17*, 654–676. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.10.007">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2006.10.007</a>
- Uhl-Bien, M., Piccolo, R.F., & Shermerhorn, J. R. (2020). Organisational behaviour, (2nd ed.) Wiley.
- Ullah, I., Mirza, B., & Jamil, A. (2021). The influence of ethical leadership on innovative performance: modeling the mediating role of intellectual capital. *Journal of Management Development*. 40(4), 273–292. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-08-2020-0277">https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-08-2020-0277</a>
- van Dam, K., Verboon, P., & Tekleab, A. (2021). The impact of middle managers on employees' responses to a merger: An LMX and appraisal theory approach. *Journal of Change Management*, 1–19.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2021.1888772">https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2021.1888772</a>
- Van Elst, D., & Meurs, D. (2016). Positive management: The relationship between the psychological contract, employee engagement, and organizational commitment.

  \*Journal of Positive Management, 6(4), 39–52.\*

  http://doi.org/10.12775/jpm.2015.021
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*(1), 40–50.

# http://doi.og/10.1111/medu.13124

- Viera, C. A. (2021). A comparison of mentoring and coaching: What's the difference? *Performance Improvement*, 60(7), 13–20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21993">https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21993</a>
- Vila-Vázquez, G., Castro-Casal, C., & Álvarez-Pérez, D. (2020). From LMX to individual creativity: Interactive effect of engagement and job complexity. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(8), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17082626
- Vito, G. F., Higgins, G. E., & Denney, A. S. (2014). Transactional and transformational leadership. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*. 37(4), 809–822. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-01-2014-0008">https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-01-2014-0008</a>
- Voegtlin, C. (2016). What does it mean to be responsible? Addressing the missing responsibility dimension in ethical leadership research. *Leadership*, 12(5), 581–608. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715015578936">https://doi.org/10.1177/1742715015578936</a>
- Walthall, M. A., & Dent, E. (2016). The leader–follower relationship and follower performance. *The Journal of Applied Management and Entrepreneurship*. *21*(26), 5–30. http://doi.org/10.9774/GLEAF.3709.2016.oc.00003
- Wang, S., Sun, J., & Liden, R. (2016). Leader-Member Exchange. *Oxford Bibliographies*Online in Management. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199846740-0094">http://doi.org/10.1093/obo/9780199846740-0094</a>
- Warren, C., & Shaw, S. (2021). Developing a framework for ethical leadership in virtual environments. In E. Langran & L. Archambault (Eds.), Proceedings of society for information technology & teacher education international conference, 317–322.

  Online, United States: Association for the Advancement of Computing in

- Education (AACE). https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/219149/
- Weijden, I., Belder, R., Arensbergen, P., & Besselaar, P. (2015). How do young tenured professors benefit from a mentor? Effects on management, motivation, and performance. *Higher Education*, 69, 275–287. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-014-9774-5">http://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-014-9774-5</a>
- Wester, K. L. (2011). Publishing ethical research: A step-by-step overview. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 89(3), 301–307. <a href="http://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00093.x">http://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2011.tb00093.x</a>
- Widjaja, B., Sumintapura, I., & Yani, A. (2020). Exploring the triangular relationship among information and communication technology, business innovation and organizational performance. *Management Science Letters*, 10(1), 163–174. <a href="http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.8.006">http://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.8.006</a>
- Widodoa, S., & Wiardib, A. H. (2019). The role of leader-member exchange and job satisfaction on the public sector employee performance. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, 5(6).

https://www.ijicc.net/images/vol5iss6/Part 2/5651 Widodo 2019 E R.pdf

- Winklera, N. (2020). How to Retain the "Job-Hopper" Generation. Workforce Insights

  Online Journal 2(2).
  - https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5e1563147c5a90209a71b7b8/t/5edfe0b1f9a
    3647df7cb4f83/1591730354355/Job-Hopper\_Nicole+Winkler\_FINAL2.pdf
- Woo, H. R. (2017). Exploratory study examining the joint impacts of mentoring and managerial coaching on organizational commitment. *Sustainability*, 9(2), 181.

# http://doi.org/10.3390/su9020181

- Xie, Z., Li, N., Jiang, W., & Kirkman, B. (2019). The paradox of leader-member exchange (LMX) differentiation: How treating followers differently can both enhance and impede employee performance. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 18, 165–176. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793</a>
- Xie, Z., Wu, N., Yue, T., Jie, J., Hou, G., & Fu, A. (2020). How leader-member exchange affects creative performance: An examination from the perspective of self-determination theory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 1–

  10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573793</a>
- Yang, J. (2020). Leveraging leader–leader exchange to enrich the effect of leader–member exchange on team innovation. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 26(4), 555–570. <a href="http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/jmo.2017.54">http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1017/jmo.2017.54</a>
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative Research from Start to Finish* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Guilford Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods.* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yoerger, M., Crowe, J., & Allen, J. A. (2015). Participate or else! The effect of participation in decision-making in meetings on employee engagement. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research*, 67(1), 65. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb0000029">https://doi.org/10.1037/cpb00000029</a>
- Zafarullah, S., & Pertti, V. (2017). Effect of time management on the job satisfaction and motivation of teacher educators: A narrative analysis. *International Journal of*

- Higher Education, 6(2). <a href="http://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v6n2p213">http://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v6n2p213</a>
- Zaim, H., Demir, A., & Budur, T. (2021). Ethical leadership, effectiveness, and team performance: An Islamic perspective. *Middle East Journal of Management*, 8(1), 42–66. https://doi.org/10.1504/MEJM.2021.111991
- Zeb, A., Abdullah, N. H., Othayman, M. B., & Ali, M. (2019). The role of LMX in explaining relationships between organizational justice and job performance.

  \*\*Journal of Competitiveness, 11(2), 144–160.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.7441/joc.2019.02.10
- Zhou, X., Rasool, S. F., Yang, J., & Asghar, M. Z. (2021). Exploring the Relationship between Despotic Leadership and Job Satisfaction: The Role of Self Efficacy and Leader–Member Exchange. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(10), 5307. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105307

# Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Date of Interview	
Interviewee Code Number:	

#### **Interview Protocol**

#### **Specific Business Problem**

The specific business problem is that some organizational mid-level managers lack the strategies to sustain positive leader—follower relationship to improve organizational performance.

#### **Research Question and Research Goal**

What strategies do leaders in oil-servicing organizations use to develop and sustain high-quality leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance? My goal with this project is to establish the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance.

#### **Participant Criteria**

Participants for this study are:

- (a) the business leaders should have worked as managers for five years and above,
- (b) the business leaders whose careers in management and leadership have the potential to yield insight into strategies that strengthened leader—follower relationships
- (c) the business manager should not be less than thirty years of age, and
- (d) the manager should also be a strategic decision-maker such as the procurement manager, drill manger, and the base manager in the organization and meet the criteria for the scope of the study.

What I will do	What I will say
I will welcome the interviewee, introduce myself, and describe the reason for the meeting.	Good morning, sir/Ma. I identified you as a leader with experience and ever willing to share your experience with me. As I explained earlier to you while we scheduled this meeting, I am Onyinyechi Odiaka, the assistant. Director of the electrical department of the Enugu State Ministry of works and I am currently running my doctoral degree with Walden University, I am working on my final research which focuses on establishing the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance. The study does not aim at evaluating your leadership strategies but to learn more about the strategies that are aiming to improve the sustainable relationships between leaders and followers and the strategies that are not.
• Follow up with probing questions.	1. Interview question What strategies do you use to develop and strengthen high-quality leader—follower relationships to improve organizational performance?

- More probes for in-depth answers
- Watch out for body movement, facial expressions, eye contact, and inconsistencies.

# 2. Interview question

What were the major challenges you encountered while implementing the strategies to strengthen a high-quality leader—follower relationship within your organization?

#### 3. Interview question

How did you address the key challenges to implementing the strategies to develop and strengthen high-quality leader—follower relationships in your organization?

#### 4. Interview question

What strategies do you as a leader use to assist your followers to develop and improve follower attitudes to work that will strengthen or lower the quality leader–follower relationships?

#### 5. Interview question

What strategies do you use to communicate good or bad news to your followers?

#### 6. Interview question

What strategies do you use to encourage and enable followers to increase productivity for improved organizational performance??

#### 7. Interview question

What strategies do you use to identify a follower with a personal problem that reduces individual productivity?

#### 8. Interview question

What strategies do you use to improve your direct reports' performance??

#### 9. Interview question

What additional information would you want to share concerning the strategies that you use to develop and strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship for improving organizational performance?

# Wrap up interview appreciate the participant

Great! Thank you. I hope that you enjoyed this interview and I want to assure you that your contribution will help leaders of organizations across the nation to understand the strategies for strengthening leader—follower relationships for improving organizational performance. Your time is very much appreciated.

# Schedule follow-up member checking interview

Would you want to share your contact information with me to reach you after the study is completed? This is because the summary of interview data will be returned to you to check for accuracy and resonance, your answers, and your experiences. I will also be informing you if there will be a need for a second interview to clarify and discuss updates.

## Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to develop and strengthen high-quality leader—follower relationships to improve organizational performance?
- 2. What were the major challenges you encountered while implementing the strategies to strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship within your organization?
- 3. How did you address the key challenges to implementing the strategies to develop and strengthen high-quality leader—follower relationships in your organization?
- 4. What strategies do you as a leader use to assist your followers to develop and improve follower attitudes to work that will strengthen or lower the quality leader–follower relationships?
- 5. What strategies do you use to communicate good or bad news to your followers?
- 6. What strategies do you use to encourage and enable followers to increase productivity for improved organizational performance?
- 7. What strategies do you use to identify a follower with a personal problem that reduces individual productivity?
- 8. What strategies do you use to improve your direct reports' performance?
- 9. What additional information would you want to share concerning the strategies that you use to develop and strengthen a high-quality leader–follower relationship for improving organizational performance?

# Appendix C: Demographic Survey

Please fill in the blanks spaces and place an X to the phrase that best matches your response.

response.	
Participant	Code
Email Add	ress
Date	
Gender	
A. Male	
B. Fem	ale $\square$
C. Prefe	er not to answer $\square$
Age	
A. 35-4	4 🗆
B. 45-5	4 🗆
C. 55-6	4 🗆
D. 65 o	r above $\square$
E. Prefe	er not to answer $\square$
Experience	as a manager
A. 0-5 y	years 🗆
В. 6-10	years
C. 10 y	ears and above $\square$